
National Park Authority  - 26 November 2021 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held via a VIRTUAL 
MEETING ON FRIDAY, 26TH NOVEMBER, 2021 AT 10.00 AM when your 
attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Catherine Mealing-Jones

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 26 November 2021 2

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 20)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them as a 
correct record:
 
a) National Park Authority - 24/09/21
b) Extraordinary General Meeting - 19/10/21
 
 
 
2. To receive the following minutes:
Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 23/07/21

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

7 APPROVAL OF 2020/21 AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
(Pages 21 - 146)

8 IRPW DRAFT REPORT FOR 2022-23 (Pages 147 - 150)



National Park Authority  - 26 November 2021 3

9 CHANGES TO COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP (Pages 151 - 158)

10 BRECON TOWN PLAN APPROVAL (Pages 159 - 212)

Final approval of the Brecon Town Plan as Supplementary Planning Guidance

11 VOLUNTEER POLICY (Pages 213 - 232)

Volunteer Policy put together by our Volunteer Development Officer - 
Amanda Brake

12 MEMBER REPORTS (Pages 233 - 236)

To receive any reports from members.

13 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

14 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624437



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 24 September 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 24TH SEPTEMBER, 2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr McNicholas and Cllr McIntosh

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Liz Davis (Deputy Chair), Canon Aled Edwards, Sue 
Holden and Mr Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesCatherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive
Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager
Mrs Helen Lucocq, Strategy and Policy Manager

Apologies

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 24 September 2021

Cllr E Roderick, Cllr Williams, Cllr A James and Cllr Amos

129/21 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and noted apologies.

130/21 Declarations of Interest 

Cllr J Hill declared a personal interest in item 16 as he served on a committee with one of 
the candidates.

131/21 Minutes 

A member asked about the Accommodation Working Group and the CEO advised that 
she would be bringing a paper about future working groups to the Authority meeting in 
November.
 
Officers confirmed the need for the Affordable Housing Working Group to meet and 
would arrange this.
 

RESOLVED: To approve the following minutes and 
authorise the Chair to sign them as a correct record: 
 
a)        National Park Authority (AGM) – 30 July 2021  
b)        National Park Authority – 9 August 2021 

 

132/21 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.

133/21 Chair's Announcements 

The Chair thanks officers for managing a very challenging summer season with increased 
number of visitors.  He reported that he had chaired the appointment panel for the 
recruitment of independent members of Standards Committee, and thanked the panel for 
their work on this.
 
In response to a request he would circulate the notes of a meeting he had attended with 
Sir David Henshaw.

134/21 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive briefed members on a range of internal and external initiatives, 
including the appointment of the Senior Leadership Team, the emerging Corporate Plan, 
the risk framework, and work with partners.
 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 24 September 2021

She paid tribute to the staff for their work over the summer months and dealing with 
issues in communities;  this included the contribution from the temporary Meet and 
Greet staff, funded by the Welsh Government, for which the Authority was very grateful.
 
An update was given on staff leavers and starters, and the CEO reiterated the need to 
work hard to keep morale up and retain existing staff.
 
Cllrs A Webb and S McNicholas joined the meeting.
 
The CEO responded to a number of questions from members.

135/21 Revised Code of Corporate Governance 

Members considered the updated Code of Corporate Governance for the Authority.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the revised Code of Corporate 
Governance for publication.

136/21 Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 

Members considered the draft Annual Governance Statement and noted the advice from 
the officer that the document needed some additional work following helpful feedback 
from Audit Wales.
 
Members felt that this was a comprehensive document but some asked for reference to 
be made to the amount of resource that goes into the corporate governance of the 
organisation, with a suggestion that a target to reduce this be included in the Corporate 
Plan.  A comment was also made that the timetable for developing a phosphate plan by 
May 2022 was not realistic; officers agreed to review this.
 
In response to a question the officer advised that she needed to check with Audit Wales 
on the time period of the report as while retrospective, Audit Wales had made reference 
to work in this financial year.
 

RECOMMENDATION:  That members note the feedback 
from Audit Wales and send any comments on the Annual 
Governance Statement to the Democratic Services 
Manager pending her further work on the document, to be 
brought back to the Authority for final approval on 26 
November. 

137/21 Chair of Policy Forum 

The Chief Executive advised that in order to streamline governance  she would be 
bringing a paper to the Authority in November defining committees and groups. 
 Recognising comments made earlier about the resource needed to support governance 
she would be including this in her report, with reference to the Audit Wales 
recommendations.
 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 24 September 2021

The current Deputy Chair formally resigned from his role with Policy Forum and 
members noted the fact that he was the only candidate for the role of Chair and was 
therefore appointed.
 
There was some debate on whether a self-nomination process be carried out for a 
Deputy Chair, with a view expressed that it might be better to wait until the CEO’s paper 
had been received.  It was also noted that the suggestion that the CEO might co-chair 
Policy Forum would be covered in her paper to the Authority.  On balance members felt 
that a Deputy Chair should be recruited in line with Standing Orders.
 
 

RESOLVED:
 
a) To note the appointment of Cllr Graham Thomas as 

Chair of Policy Forum until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Authority;  

 
b) To carry out a nomination process for the post of 

Deputy Chair, in line with Standing Orders. 
 

138/21 Committee Timetable 2022 

The Democratic Services Manager advised that due to a number of significant clashes with 
the Powys County Council timetable more work would need to be done on this.  In 
response to a question she said that the programme of meetings for Policy Forum would 
need to be reviewed to ensure that progress was maintained with key plans.
 

RESOLVED:  That the Democratic Services Manager be 
delegated to make the necessary changes to the 
committee timetable for 2022 and circulate a final version.

 

139/21 Consultation draft National Park Management Plan (NPMP21) 

The CEO introduced the ambitious draft National Park Management Plan for consultation 
and thanked stakeholders and those who contributed through the Citizen Assembly for 
their comments which were genuinely taken into account.  She also thanked the staff who 
had worked on this draft with skill and pace. There were still a number of changes that 
the Policy Team wished to consider in order to make policies more active.
 
The Strategy and Policy Manager gave a presentation outlining the process over a timeline 
and highlighting the opportunities for engagement by members and the public. She 
emphasised the ‘big shifts’ in policy since the last iteration of the plan, and the actions 
needed to achieve these, as well as setting out how the consultation phase would be 
delivered.
 
Members were unanimous in their appreciation of the draft plan in terms of quality and 
ambition, and its dynamic approach. They also applauded the collegiate approach to policy 
development and congratulated the Policy Team on their work. A member raised some 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 24 September 2021

specific points in relation to achieving Carbon Zero by 2037 and the sources of 
greenhouse gas emissions, and these were noted by officers.
 
The need for clear messaging was highlighted, both via the Authority’s website and 
through social media, as well as the need to reach diverse communities outside the Park 
boundary. These points would be considered by officers.  
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the publication of the 
Consultation Draft Management Plan Future Beacons for 
a 16 week period of consultation.

140/21 Farming Transition Position Statement 

Members considered the draft position statement which would sit alongside the National 
Park Management Plan.
 
A number of members commented that the document needed to be aimed at all farm 
businesses, both large landowners and small family businesses, and that perhaps it should 
be a ’sustainable land management position statement’.  Officers responded that it was 
aimed at farmers who don’t have the agency to effect change. A suggestion was made to 
map the park in terms of land ownership and use which could be used in more informed 
discussions.  The officer agreed and said that this might be worth raising with research 
partners.
 
A point was made that consumer choice would drive the future of farming and officers 
advised of local food initiatives they were discussing.
 
A member highlighted the need for substantive change in land management in order to 
effect improvements to habitats.  He pointed out that large estates included small 
tenanted farms. Sophisticated and bespoke solutions were needed to achieve outcomes 
for the environment.  The officers advised that this position statement would have a role 
in influencing the Welsh Government agenda.
 

RESOLVED:  To endorse the Farming Transition Position 
Statement for use in policy and project development.

141/21 Member Reports 

No reports were made.

142/21 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.

143/21 Access to Information 

RESOLVED: To exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 16 in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 24 September 2021

disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 
12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972.

144/21 Appointment of independent members of Standards Committee 

Members considered recommendations from the Appointments Committee on the 
recruitment of two independent members of Standards Committee.

 
RESOLVED:
 
a) To appoint Claire Moore as independent member to the 

Standards Committee to commence 1 October 2021 
for a period of four years, until 30 September 2025.  

 
b) To appoint Martin Veale as independent member to the 

Standards Committee to commence 1 October 2021 
for a period of four years, until 30 September 2025

 

145/21 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 19 October 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING HELD AT VIRTUAL 

MEETING ON TUESDAY, 19TH OCTOBER, 2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Canon Aled Edwards and Sue Holden

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesCatherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive
Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies
Cllr McIntosh, Cllr A James, Davis and Stedman

Page 11



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 19 October 2021

146/21 Correspondence 

The Chair thanked members for attending this additional meeting.
 
Apologies were noted.

147/21 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

148/21 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.

149/21 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair reported that he and the Chief Executive had attended the 70th anniversary of 
Snowdonia National Park (Y Eryri).

150/21 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive referred to the celebration of Snowdonia National Park and said that 
this had been a good opportunity to meet colleagues face to face for the first time.

151/21 Annual Governance Statement 2020 

The Democratic Services Manager presented the final draft of the Annual Governance 
Statement and confirmed that she had applied the changes recommended by Audit Wales.
 
A couple of minor amendments were agreed in relation to the impact of the phosphates 
issue and to clarify the fact that the criticism of the Change Programme was in relation to 
its implementation rather than the principle.
 
A member reiterated the point that the size of the organisation did not justify the effort in 
producing the Annual Governance Statement.  She also posed some questions for 
members about their contribution to the organisation, and it was noted that these should 
be revisited when the Personal Development Reviews were carried out in the New Year.
 

RESOLVED:  That the Annual Governance Statement for 
2020-21 be approved for publication with the Annual 
Statement of Accounts.

152/21 Any Other Business 

In line with the Authority’s Standing Orders for an Extraordinary General Meeting, no 
further business was considered.

Page 12



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 19 October 2021

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 1 23 July 2021

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AUDIT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD AT VIRTUAL MEETING ON FRIDAY, 23RD JULY, 

2021

PRESENT:

Powys

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb (Deputy Chair)

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James (Chair)

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr James Marsden, Mr Christopher Coppock and Canon Aled Edwards

In Attendance

Catherine Mealing-Jones, Chief Executive
Stephanie Evans, Transition Director
Marc Ronan, Solicitor & Monitoring Officer
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Page 15



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 2 23 July 2021

28/21 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed the new Chief Executive, Catherine Mealing-Jones to the meeting, 
and also the new Monitoring Officer, Marc Ronan.  He thanked the Transition Director 
for her work in the interim.
 
He also welcomed Nick Selwyn, Philippa Dixon and Meleri Bethall from Audit Wales and 
Steen Gourlay from the Authority’s internal auditors, TIAA.
 

29/21 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

30/21 Minutes 

Some minor amendments and typographical errors were highlighted.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the  minutes of the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 7 May 2021, as amended and 
authorise the Chair to sign them as a correct record: 

 

31/21 Public Speaking Scheme 

There were no requests to speak.
 

32/21 Audit Wales Action Plan Update 

Members considered a progress report on the Audit Wales Report Action Plan.  
Questions were put to the Transition Director and CEO, including on the importance of 
setting a process for corporate performance and then linking in staff appraisals. The CEO 
advised that she was keen to continue a culture of performance review.
 
Mr Selwyn welcomed the approach to monitoring progress and advised that Audit Wales 
would sign off on actions when they could see the evidence.  He set out the process for 
what would happen if Audit Wales were not satisfied that sufficient progress was being 
made, or that improvements were not being implemented.  A further report under the 
Local Government Measure could allow intervention from Audit Wales.
 
Asked about a pulse survey of staff the Transition Director confirmed that in additional to 
the wellbeing and working practice survey just completed she had asked officers to 
prepare a survey timed to coincide with the CEO’s commencement, which would focus 
on staff morale.  She also confirmed that communication with staff had not been limited to 

Page 16



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 3 23 July 2021

newsletters but extended to team meetings, consultation on the leadership team 
proposals, and celebrating success through press releases.
 
The Chair thanked officers for their sterling work in difficult times.
 

RESOLVED:  To note progress against the Change 
Programme Action Plan.

 

33/21 Internal Audit update 

The Finance Manager updated members on the internal audit plan for this year.
 
A member made the point that internal audit should cross reference to the Authority’s 
risk register, and that no action plan had been put in place to mitigate the risks identified 
by Cooke and Arkwright.
 
Due to technical issues Mr Gourlay could not be heard by all present but the Finance 
Manager advised that auditors would normally review the risk register and any relevant 
reports as part of the planning process for individual audits, but the remit could be 
widened if necessary.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the contents of the report.
 

34/21 Draft Statement of Accounts 2020/21 

The Finance Manager presented the draft Statement of Accounts for 2020-21.  In 
response to a comment about over 30% of the budget allocated to corporate services she 
advised that this included the support costs to those involved in delivery, as well as the 
CEO and corporate management, and that every effort was made to keep costs down.
 
Questions were asked about the sustainability of the Black Mountains Land Use 
Partnership and also about the use of the Sustainable Development Fund for funding 
Authority projects.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the contents of the report and the 
Draft Statement of Accounts.

 

35/21 Budget Performance and Project Financial Management Q1 

Members reviewed budget performance for the first quarter.  The Finance Manager 
advised that there would be more expenditure to report by September against the 
Sustainable Landscapes Sustainable Places money received from Welsh Government.  The 
CEO confirmed that she would be working with officers on a spend profile and to 
demonstrate a good track record on spend in order to attract further funding.  Members 
welcomed this approach and suggested that a long term capital programme over multiple 
years was needed.
 

Page 17



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 4 23 July 2021

The Finance Manager clarified a number of points for members.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 

36/21 Corporate Plan Performance 

The Transition Director presented a report of progress against the Corporate Plan 
objectives.  She advised that the consultant working with her would be considering 
options for performance reporting.  She highlighted some areas of work, including the 
A470 congestion, and advised that work was progressing on the Waterfalls project, with 
member involvement being sought at the appropriate stage.  
 
Members welcomed the alignment of the reporting to the Corporate Plan and hoped that 
this would also be aligned to the National Park Management Plan in future to provide a 
‘golden thread’ from this, to the Corporate Plan, and to individual performance. A 
number of points were raised on the descriptions of risk, phosphates in particular, which 
would impact on performance across the organisation.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the performance against the Corporate Plan actions for 
Q1 of 2021-22.
 

37/21 Risk Register 

Members reviewed the Risk Register and thanked the Transition Director and Monitoring 
Officer for their work on this.  They welcomed the format and made some suggestions 
about future reports:  it would be helpful to know if the RAG status had changed from 
lower to higher risk or vice versa.  The need to include risks of biodiversity loss and 
climate change was also highlighted.
 
Concerns were raised about future accommodation and the transition period until the 
leadership team was appointed.  The CEO confirmed her intention to address the issue of 
risk appetite but given capacity she would bring in additional resource if necessary in the 
interim period.
 
It was suggested that there needed to be a shared understanding of current risks between 
the Authority, Welsh Government, internal and external audit and stakeholders.
 
The Transition Director advised about preparatory work that officers were doing to 
prepare options for accommodation.
 
There was discussion about the level of reserves and how they should be used.  It was 
acknowledged that this was a difficult balance between retaining resources to deal with 
unforeseen circumstances, but not restricting delivery by tying up resources.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 

38/21 Complaints and FOI's 

Page 18



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 5 23 July 2021

Members reviewed the Q1 report.
 

39/21 Action Tracking 

Outstanding actions were reviewed.
 

40/21 Quarterly update report on delivery by Landscape and Nature Recovery Team 

The Transition Director presented a report of progress against the Nature Recovery 
actions in the Corporate Plan, on behalf of the Senior Ecologist for Climate Adaptation.
 
Members welcomed the report and recognised the amount of work being carried out; 
they hoped to receive reports from other Corporate Plan priorities.  It was noted that 
there was considerable dependence on third parties to help deliver objectives.  The 
Transition Director would ask the officer to respond to members on this point.
 
Views were expressed that there needed to be more on outputs  rather than a list of 
work carried out, and the Transition Director responded that there was a debate to be 
had about the level of detail.  A member advised that the State of the Park Report 
provided a strong baseline against a set of indicators, which could then be set against the 
Corporate Plan and National Park Management Plan.
 
RESOLVED:  To note the progress reported.
 

41/21 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:
 
a)              To exclude the press and public from the meeting during consideration 

of item 15 (legal Risk Register) in accordance with section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

b)             To exclude the press and public from the meeting during consideration 
of item 17 on the agenda (Cyber attack) in accordance with section 100A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 14 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 

42/21 Legal Risk Register 

Page 19



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 6 23 July 2021

The Transition Director presented the legal risk register and addressed a number of 
queries from members.
 

43/21 Cyber Attack Update 

The Transition Director updated members on the impact of the cyber-security attack in 
September 2020.
 

44/21 Other Business 

There was  no further business.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Page 20



Approval of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts 2020/21 
 

1.0  Introduction 

The 2020/21 draft Statement of Accounts, produced in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as interpreted by the UK Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations, was presented to the 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 23 July.  In a normal year, the statutory deadline for accounts 
approval and certification by the Auditor General would have been 31 July, but in recognition of 

Report to: National Park Authority

Date of meeting: 26 November 2021
Report Author: Elaine Standen

Finance Manager
Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk
Mark Jones (enclosure 2)
Audit Manager (Audit Wales)
Mark.jones@audit.wales

Purpose of Report: To present the audited Statement of Accounts for 2020/21 for 
approval, together with the report of the Auditor General for 
Wales on the financial audit.

Enclosures (a) 1) Audited Statement of Accounts 2020/21 including the approved 
Annual Governance Statement for 2020/21.

(b) 2) Report of the Auditor General for Wales

(c) 3) Letter of Representation from S151 Officer and Chair of the 
Authority

(d) 4) The Authority’s response to the Auditor General’s letter to 
those charged with governance.

Background Papers None 

Recommendation a) That the Authority’s Statement of Accounts for the financial 
year 2020/21 is approved and signed by the Chair and S151 
Officer

b) That the Auditor General’s Report is received.

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.jones@audit.wales


the impact of Covid19, this has been deferred until the 30 November, to allow authorities and 
Wales Audit additional time to complete the accounts and audit 
process. 

As a result of the Audit, a number of changes and corrections have been made to the 
statement.  These are set out in Appendix 3 to Enclosure 2.  An unqualified opinion has been 
issued by the Auditor General.   A number of recommendations have been made by Audit 
Wales in Appendix 4 of Enclosure 2.  The findings of the report will be presented by a 
representative of Audit Wales at the meeting.

CIPFA Accounting Standards - impact on the presentation of the Authority’s draft 
income and expenditure and balance sheet.

The Accounting Standards are applied across all private and public sector bodies with the aim 
of increasing the comparability and consistency of accounts internationally and between sectors.  
The body which sets the standards for local authority accounting in the UK, CIPFA, effectively 
prescribes the format in which authorities must produce the accounts and, although National 
Park Authorities are much smaller bodies, they are required to follow the same format and 
timetable for production and audit.    

Statement of Accounts Approval Process
The timeline for the production, audit, public inspection and approval by Members of the 
Accounting Statement is below 

30/06/21 The draft Statement of Accounts was signed off by the Chief Financial Officer 
(Section 151 Officer).  A copy was submitted to Wales Audit (WA).  Draft 
Statement sent for translation before a copy can be placed on the Authority’s 
website.

23/7/21 Draft Statement presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee for review and 
discussion.

26/7/21 Members of the public are entitled to examine the accounts and supporting 
information on request.  (A copy of the draft Statement is published on the website) 
Individuals can make an appointment to discuss any aspect of the Statement with 
the Auditor.  

Throughout this period, Wales Audit review content and presentation of the 
Accounts and identify any changes which need to be made to the draft statement.   
They review all supporting information and test transactions and balances.  This 
work was carried out remotely in 2021 due to the requirements of social distancing.

23/8/21 Date on which the Auditor General will meet members of the public, if required, to 
discuss any aspect of the Statement of Accounts.  No requests for a meeting were 
received.

Page 22



Oct 21 Audit team meet the Finance Manager to discuss the outcome of the audit and any 
accounting adjustments required.  The Finance Manager/S151 Officer makes any 
changes needed and these are reviewed by the Audit Team.  

26/11/21 the Authority receives and approves the final Statement, which has been re-signed 
by the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer).  A representative of the 
Auditor General for Wales will attend the meeting and present the audit report.  A 
copy of the letter of representation from the S151 Officer and the Chair of the 
Authority to the Auditor General will also be provided.  A signed copy of the 
approved Statement and the letter of representation is then passed to the Auditor 
General for his certificate.

TBC: The Statement of Accounts is published, with the Audit Certificate on the 
Authority’s website as soon as possible after approval and translation.

1.2 Main Feature of the Statement

The Statement of Accounts comprises: 

The Narrative Report – an introduction to the Statement and comparison of actual and 
budgeted performance during the year.  The Report is not audited but must be included to 
provide the reader with some background information and analysis of financial performance in 
the year.

The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts – which sets out the 
role of Management and Members in the production of the Statement.
The Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement - the income and expenditure 
during the financial year, accompanied by notes which explain the figures in greater detail as 
required by the CIPFA code of practice.  This is supplemented by the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis which explains the adjustments between the management and financial 
accounts on a departmental basis.  
The Balance Sheet - the assets and liabilities, cash held and amounts set aside in reserves at 
the financial year-end. Notes are provided to give further details of specific balances where 
required by the CIPFA code of practice.  
The Statement of Movements in Reserves – shows the total gains and losses to the 
Authority during the year, including the effect of actuarial gains and losses on the pension fund 
and valuation gains and losses on fixed assets.  It distinguishes between usable reserves which 
represent cash funds held by the Authority and unusable reserves, which are created for 
accounting purposes only (an example being the negative Pensions Reserve, which balances to 
the Pensions Liability)
The Cash Flow Statement - expenditure and income for the financial year, excluding all 
amounts owed or receivable. Further explanation is provided in the notes to the statement.
Notes to the Statements – further details explaining, for example the purposes of reserves, 
changes in asset values and the basis used to calculate the Authority’s pension fund liability as 
well as providing further information on other material elements of the Statement.  The 

Page 23



principles behind the methodologies used to produce the Statements are described in the 
Accounting Policies which constitute Note 1.  
The approved Annual Governance Statement is appended to the Statement of Accounts 
and these are published together.

The Statements are produced in round £000’s.  This leads to some rounding differences in 
casting across the statements arising from the complexity of the presentation required and the 
interrelationships between the various statements and notes.

1.3 Accounting differences between the Statement of Accounts and Management 
Reports
The format and content of the financial outturn presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee 
differs substantially from the Statement.  The accounting adjustments which are made to the 
management outturn information in order to produce the main accounting statements are 
summarised below:-

 The treatment of the year’s pension costs; actual pension costs paid in the year 
are replaced by accounting entries based on an actuarial review of the Authority’s share of 
future earnings and liabilities of the Powys Pension Fund.   The pension cost figures for 
accounting purposes are also subject to very large fluctuations between years.  Impacting both 
the Authority’s accounting surplus and net assets/(liabilities).

 The treatment of the Authority’s net share of Powys Pension Fund assets 
and future obligations; on the Balance Sheet, the largest single item is the net liability relating 
to the Pension Fund – this is a recurring item which is calculated by the funds actuary and 
balanced in the accounts by a notional negative reserve of the same amount.  The substantial 
increase in the liability (the net difference between the long term asset values and long term 
liabilities of the pension fund is due to an increase in the present value of the Authority’s 
obligations under the Pension Scheme.

 Capital charges associated with the Authority’s Property, Plant and 
Equipment of some appear in the Statement but not in management accounts, as they are not 
chargeable to the taxpayer.

 Expenditure and income.  Internal recharges from one department to another, eg 
for room hire or stock supplied are excluded from total income figures and instead reduce the 
expenditure of the department providing the service.

 Unusable Reserves are notional amounts built up on the Balance Sheet to balance 
revaluations of property plant and equipment, pension fund liabilities, etc. they do not represent 
actual funds and can be negative.

1.4 Conclusion
The Statement of Accounts is one of the ways in which the Authority demonstrates good 
financial management and provides accountability for the way in which it has used the public 
funds entrusted to it.  The audit process is designed to ensure that the public can have 
confidence in the quality of the Statement of Accounts and to minimize the risk that the 
financial position of the Authority has been materially miss-stated.  

RECOMMENDATION:  

Page 24



a) That the Authority’s Statement of Accounts for the financial year 2020/21 is approved 
and signed by the Chair and S151 Officer.

b) That the Auditor General’s Report is received.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

1 
 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 
 

 
 
 

 
Statement of Accounts 

 
for the year ended 

 
31st March 2021 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 27



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

2 
 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21 

 
 

 
  
  

  

 
 
 

 
 
 

  

 Page 
Narrative Report 3 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 10 
Audit Report  11 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 15 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 16 
Balance Sheet 18 
Movement in Reserves  19 
Cash Flow Statement 21 
Notes to the Accounts 22 
Glossary 
 

61 

Annual Governance Statement 62 

Page 28



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

3 
 

NARRATIVE REPORT    
  
1. INTRODUCTION 

The Authority is required by law to produce an annual Statement of Accounts in accordance with 
proper accounting practices as laid down by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) in its 2020/21 ‘Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice’ and approved by the Accounting Standards Board.   
It is also required to comply with the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 (as amended) 
and 2018.   
 
This foreword provides a brief explanation of the more significant matters reported in the accounts. 
Accounting statements are set out on later pages and consist of:- 
 
A Statement of Accounting Policies - the basis upon which amounts have been included in the 
accounts using accepted accounting principles. 
 
The Core Financial Statements 
o The Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement - the income and expenditure 

during the financial year, accompanied by notes which explain the figures in greater detail as 
required by the CIPFA code of practice.  The CIPFA Code requires that the Statement structure 
is in line with the objective breakdown of income and expenditure reported to management.  
For Brecon Beacons National Park Authority this entails an analysis of expenditure and income 
by Directorate.  The CIES is supplemented by the Expenditure and Funding Analysis – an 
explanation of the differences between the net surplus or deficit as calculated in accordance 
with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the net surplus or deficit calculated in accordance with 
statute and required to be funded from revenue reserves. 

o The Balance Sheet - the assets and liabilities, cash held and amounts set aside in reserves at 
the financial year-end. Notes are provided to give further details of specific balances where 
required by the CIPFA code of practice. 

o The Statement of Movements in Reserves – shows the total gains and losses to the 
Authority during the year, including the effect of actuarial gains and losses on the pension fund 
and valuation gains and losses on fixed assets.  

o The Cash Flow Statement - expenditure and income for the financial year, excluding all 
amounts owed or receivable. Further explanation is provided in the notes to the statement. 

 
The responsible finance officer signed the draft statement of accounts on 30 June 2021.  Significant 
events after the Balance Sheet date and up to the date of approval have been taken into account in 
preparing the Statement. The Statement has been audited by the Auditor General for Wales and a 
copy of his report is published with the Statement when this becomes available on completion of the 
audit.  The Authority is also required to publish a Governance Statement. For further information 
and explanation of items in this document, please contact the Authority’s Finance Manager 
elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk 
 

2.  ABOUT BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 
The Authority covers 520 square miles and is one of three National Parks in Wales. The Authority 
became an independent Special Purpose Local Authority with effect from 1st April 1996 and has two 
statutory purposes and one duty: 
 
Purposes: 

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park. 
 

 To promote opportunities for public enjoyment and understanding of the special qualities of the 
National Park. 

Page 29



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

4 
 

Duty: 
 To foster the economic and social well-being of communities living within the National Park. 

 
The Authority is the statutory Local Planning Authority for the area and is responsible for preparation 
of the Local Development Plan and determining planning applications.  
 
Each year the Authority is required to publish a Corporate Plan setting out how it intends to employ 
its resources for the coming year to fulfil the purposes and duty in line with its current National Park 
Management Plan 2010-2020.  A review of the Authority’s performance against the Corporate Plan 
is carried out annually.  These documents are published on the Authority’s website www.beacons-
npa.gov.uk 

 
3. INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

The gross cost to the Authority of providing its services, as reported to Members during the year for 
management purposes was £5,372,000. The table below summarises expenditure and sources of 
funding and shows that £82,000 was transferred to General Reserves at the year-end. In addition 
£143,000 net was transferred to Earmarked Reserves to fund future commitments.   
 
The Welsh Government sets the Authority’s approved level of net revenue expenditure for the year, 
and pays 75% of this in National Park Grant.  The remaining 25% can then be raised by the Authority 
by issuing a levy on the constituent Unitary Authorities.   These are: Powys County Council, 
Carmarthenshire County Council, Monmouthshire County Council, Rhondda Cynon Taff County 
Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council, 
and Torfaen County Borough Council.  In addition the Welsh Government provides specific revenue 
and capital funding for priority project delivery.  Where this cannot be fully applied in the year in 
which it is received, it is held in an earmarked reserve and applied in future years. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COMPARISON OF ACTUAL INCOME AND EXPENDITURE: CURRENT AND PREVIOUS 
FINANCIAL YEARS  

 2019/20 

£000 

2019/20 

% 

2020/21 

£000 

2020/21 

% 

National Park Grant  2,827 48 2,827 50 
National Park Levy 940 16 941 17 
National Park Project Grant  444 7 414 7 
Government Grants and Contributions 595 10 652 12 
Fees, Charges and other Service income 1,146 19 758 14 
Interest Receivable 29 0 7 0 
Gross Revenue Funding 5,895 100 5,599 100 
     

Employee Expenses 3,775 68 3,566 66 
Other Service Expenses 1,791 32 1,808 34 
Total Expenditure 5,566 100 5,374 100 
Net Receipts from Asset Sales 0 0  0 
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 354  143  
Total Expenditure after net transfers 
to/from Reserves 

5,833  5,517  

Net (cost)/income of Services 
(Contribn to/from General Fund) 61  82  

Page 30



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

5 
 

Locally generated income and specific grants are allocated to individual services and are offset against 
the expenditure on those headings to arrive at the total net budgets and costs as reported to those 
responsible for management of the Authority.  The table below shows how the net cost of services 
is derived from gross income and expenditure (see also the Expenditure and Funding Analysis for a 
reconciliation of amounts reported to management on a departmental basis to the totals reported on 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The net costs for each service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement include 
depreciation (the cost of wear and tear on buildings, equipment, etc.). 

Adjustments are also made for pension costs in accordance with the International Accounting Standard 
19: Retirement Benefits (IAS19). These technical adjustments are intended to bring the Authority’s 
accounts into line with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Policies.  They indicate the full cost to the 
Authority in the relevant financial year of meeting all future commitments to its current and former 
employees under the Local Government Pension Scheme.   

These adjustments do not affect the net revenue spend of the Authority, paid for by the Welsh 
Assembly Government and local taxpayers, supplemented by income generated by providing services.  
For a full explanation of the basis for the charges under IAS 19, see Note 31.  The adjustments are 
not included in the budgeted figures as they have no impact on the cost of the Authority’s operations 
for management purposes. 

The IAS19 adjustments have a substantial impact on the assets of the Authority as recorded in the 
Balance Sheet, reducing the Authority’s overall net assets to a negative balance of £3.8m.  Excluding 
the Pension Fund liability, the Authority’s net assets would be £11.7m.  In the Expenditure and Income 
Statement, the actuarial assessment of the Authority’s assets and liabilities in the Fund has produced 
a net actuarial loss of £4.24m which has generated an accounting deficit of £4.75m for the year.  Last 
year an actuarial loss of £0.68m was advised; a negative variation between financial years of £3.56m.   

Significant developments affecting the financial position of the Authority  

In 2020/21 the Authority’s core funding from the Welsh Government remained at a cash standstill 
level.  It sought to deploy this to meet its statutory purposes and Governmental priorities, 
supplemented by locally-generated income and a range of grant funding.  Substantial additional funding 
has been received from Welsh Government during the year both to mitigate the impact of the Covid 
pandemic and support preparation for post-pandemic recovery initiatives. 

The Authority is carrying a number of vacancies including a number of second tier management roles, 
as the structure remains under review.  Acting-up and other temporary arrangements are in place, 
termination costs have been balanced by reduced expenditure on salaries. 

The severe impact of Covid19 on the restructure process, income streams and service delivery plans 
of the Authority, which began to be felt in March 2020, has continued throughout 2020/21.  
Community development projects, the National Park Management Plan revision, Local Development 
Plan completion and visitor engagement priorities have all been delayed in consequence of the 
restrictions in place during the year.  Towards the end of the financial year, expenditure on 
preparation for post-covid recovery and re-engagement began, largely funded by specific grants from 
Welsh Government.  A number of staff in public-facing roles were furloughed and the Authority was 
able to claim grant to compensate for lost income and additional covid-related costs during the year. 

An increasing proportion of total Welsh Government funding for the Authority takes the form of 
grants for specific revenue and capital projects.  A significant amount of funding; £445,000, was 
received in October 2020 for a range of capital and revenue projects to be delivered, largely in 
2021/22.  These included peatland restoration for biodiversity and carbon sequestration, 
improvements to visitor facilities and trails, invasive species control initiatives and investment in 
volunteer engagement 

Earmarked reserves allow the Authority to set aside contingency funds to meet future commitments, 
such as the costs of the Local Development Plan Enquiry and Sustainable Development Fund grant 

Page 31



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

6 
 

commitments.  They are used where the timing of funding receipts does not match the financial year 
of the related expenditure.   

The Authority’s total usable reserves decreased slightly between 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021; 
from £4.18 to £4.05m.  The majority of these are ring-fenced for specific project work and other 
commitments.  Application of some reserves has been partly caused by delays to project delivery, the 
adverse impact of covid restrictions, and senior vacancies arising from the postponement of the planned 
re-organisation.  However, overall some £425,000 of earmarked reserves were applied to fund service 
delivery in the year, offset by the transfer of £331,000, principally Welsh Government grant receipts  
and unspent project funds into reserves for planned application in 2021/22. 
 
A simplified comparison between the budgeted and actual income and expenditure account by service 
for 2020/21 is produced below and shows that the Authority planned to transfer some £69,000 from 
its General Reserve at the year-end whereas in fact £82,000 was transferred to the Reserve; an net 
under-spend of £151,000.     

The table below is in line with CIPFA’s current Code of Practice, which requires authorities to 
account for expenditure and income in the same objective structure as is used for reporting to 
management.    

To enable comparisons between the revised budget and the outturn, year-end recharges for capital 
charges (depreciation) and actuarially assessed pension scheme costs (in accordance with 
international accounting standards) have been applied to the budget figures to give an adjusted total.   

  

Page 32



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

7 
 

Summary of principal variances between 2020/21 budget as adjusted and the Statement of 
Accounts. 

 
 
 

 

Significant Variances Reported to Management 
 
Planning, Policy and Development Management 
The Local Development Plan, a major work programme involving a range of staff but principally the 
Planning Policy team, has been funded both from in-year core grant and earmarked reserves, built up 
over the interval between adoptions of the Plan.  Like many other projects, it has been impacted by 
Covid 19 and further changes to the consultation and inspection phase are likely to be needed in 
response to the effect of the restrictions.  Some elements of the LDP’s production have been re-
phased into 2021/22. 
 
Core planning work saw a reduction in planning fee and other income and additional costs relating to 
Development Management consultancy support, which contributed to a small over-spend for the 
service.  A S106 affordable housing receipt of £24,000 (reserved for future funding under the scheme) 
contributed to an under-spend for the department as a whole. 
 
Landscape, Nature Recovery, People and Communities 
The multi-year Black Mountains Land Use Partnership Project came to a successful conclusion and a 
range of projects included in the Nature Recovery Action Plan were implemented despite vacancies in 
the Ecology team, which led to an underspend of £37,000.   In the People and Communities team, the 
principal overspend related to the termination costs of a post, while the effect of the pandemic on 
community groups in general reduced applications for Sustainable Development Fund grant and limited 
the delivery of projects already approved; the underspend of some £106,000 in this area, but the 

Net Service Costs  2020/21 
Adjusted 
Budget* 

2020/21 
Out-
turn* 

 2020/21 
Variance 
against 

adjusted 
Budget 

 £000 £000 £000 

Planning, Policy and Development Management 975 959 (16) 
Landscape, Nature Recovery, People and Communities 2,239 2,146 (93) 
Chief Executive’s Department 1,471 1,518 47 
Other Operating Expenditure 439 260 (179) 
Adjusted net cost  5,124 4,883 (241) 
    
    
Interest received (5) (7) (2) 
National Park Grant (Welsh Assembly Government) (2,827) (2,827) 0 
National Park Levy (Constituent Authorities) (942) (941) 1 
National Park Capital Grant (Welsh Assembly Government) (598) (601) (3) 
Transfer to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (188) 28 216 
Transfer to Capital Grants Unapplied Account 237 115 (122) 
    
 (4,323) (4,233) 90 
    
Accounting Adjustments reversed (732) (732) 0 
    
Net Deficit /(Surplus) 69 (82) (151) 
    
*including notional depreciation, accounting standards adjustments for pension costs and other elements required by 

CIPFA for accounts preparation. 
    

Page 33



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

8 
 

committed funds have been set aside in a reserve and it is intended to apply these in 2021/22.  
Community and partner engagement work has been hampered by the impact of Covid19 restrictions 
on external organisations and some project expenditure has been re-profiled into 2021/22.    
 
The Warden Service has been heavily involved in managing visitors safely as more people have 
accessed the Brecon Beacons.  This has included working with external providers to greet and advise 
those arriving at popular sites under the changing levels of covid restrictions.  This has increased staff 
and other costs against the budget, partly offset by additional support from the Welsh Government.  
 
Upland and waterway access improvement projects have continued throughout the year; income 
received under a partnership with the Canal and Rivers Trust has generated a budget surplus in the 
Access revenue budget, which will be applied to support further partnership work in 2021/22. 
 
Visitor Services and Education Services have been significantly affected by the pandemic, with cost 
increases arising from covid safety measures and much-reduced receipts from sales, fees and charges.  
Government funding from the furlough scheme and support for loss of operating income, as well as 
specific grants to improve facilities and manage visitors safely has helped the Authority to operate 
during this difficult period.  Much of the impact was reflected in budget revisions in-year but the 
Education service recorded an overspend of close to £45,000 caused by the cessation of school and 
college visits.  Substantial demand for outdoor educational activities is expected in 2021/22 as part of 
the post-covid recovery. 
 
Chief Executives Department. 
Overall, support and corporate management costs were very close to the estimate.  Within this 
service area, senior termination payments and a budget deficit on pool vehicles arising from low usage  
and hence lower cost recovery from service departments during the covid pandemic, were offset by 
lower than anticipated expenditure on recruitment costs (re-profiled to 2021/22), training and 
Authority Members’ travel, as committee meetings continued to be held online.  The role of Public 
Affairs Manager was vacant during the year, also reducing expenditure despite an acting –up 
arrangement. 
 
Capital Investment 
A summary of expenditure qualifying as capital for accounting purposes is provided below. 

  

Page 34



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

9 
 

4)  CAPITAL EXPENDITURE  
      

2020/21 
Actual 

2020/21 
Actual  

£000 £000 

Visitor Facilities Improvements – Llanthony toilets refurbishment  27  

Peatland Restoration; Craig y Fan Ddu, Waun Rhydd, Ffawddog and 
Waun Fach 

273  

Green Growth Fund – de-carbonisation of estate management equipment 
and visitor centres 

72  

Upland Access Improvement Projects; Carn Pica and Red Barn 68  

Wales Way tourism project infrastructure - enhancing the visitor 
experience  

35  

Investment in IT infrastructure 51  

National Park Visitor Centre Visitor Welcome improvements  25 
 

 

Total expenditure classified as capital under accounting definition and 
policies* 

  551 

Less: Grants & Contributions (187) 
 

 Transfers from earmarked reserves (324) 
 

Use of Capital Receipts Reserve (36) 
 

Revenue Financing (4) 
 

Net Expenditure 
 

(551) 

*Expenditure which meets the accounting definition of capital has been classified as capital and funded by grants, use of capital receipts, a legacy 
receipt and an appropriation from the Revenue Account.  Expenditure meets the relevant accounting de minimis criteria (as outlined in the 

Authority’s accounting policies).   When projects are completed, the resulting asset is included in the Authority’s Balance Sheet.   

Page 35



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

10 
 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
THE AUTHORITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Authority is required to:- 
o Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 

officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Authority that officer is 
the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer). 

o Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 
assets. 

o Approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Chief Financial Officer/S151 Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.   
 
In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has:- 

 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 
 Complied with the Code of Practice. 

 
The Chief Financial Officer has also: 

 Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 
 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 
The Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority at the 
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2021. To comply with the 
Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014, the responsible financial officer is required to re-certify the 
Statement immediately before their adoption by the Authority and after the completion of the audit, while the 
Chairman certifies approval of the audited Statement by the Authority. 
 
 
 
 
 
E Standen ACMA              Date: 26 November 2021   
Section 151 Officer 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chairman 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority   Date: 26 November 2021 
 

Page 36



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

11 
 

The independent auditor’s report of the Auditor General for Wales to the members of Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority  
 
Opinion on financial statements 
I have audited the financial statements of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the year ended 31 
March 2021 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.  
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow 
Statement, and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and international 
accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2020-21. 
In my opinion the financial statements:  

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority as at 31 
March 2021 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and international accounting 
standards as interpreted and adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2020-21. 
 

Basis of opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the UK 
(ISAs (UK)) and Practice Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Entities in the United 
Kingdom’. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of my report. I am independent of Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements 
in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and I have fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, I have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work I have performed, I have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

My responsibilities and the responsibilities of the responsible financial officer with respect to going concern 
are described in the relevant sections of this report. 
 
Other Information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial 
statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The Responsible Financial Officer is responsible for the other 
information contained within the annual report. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in my report, I do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. My responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or knowledge 
obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If I identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a 
material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work I have performed, I 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. 

Page 37



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

12 
 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Report on other requirements 
 
Opinion on other matters 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of my audit: 
 the information contained in the Narrative Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 

are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the Narrative Report has been prepared in 
accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020-21;  

 The information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the Governance Statement has 
been prepared in accordance with guidance.  
 

Matters on which I report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the Narrative 
Report or the Governance Statement. 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, which I report to you, if, in my opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for my audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by my team; 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit. 
 

Responsibilities 
 
Responsibilities of the responsible financial officer for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts set out on page 10, 
the responsible financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the statement of accounts, which give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the responsible financial officer determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of statements of accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
In preparing the statement of accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for assessing Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. I design procedures in 
line with my responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, 
including fraud.  

My procedures included the following: 

Page 38



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

13 
 

 Enquiring of management and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting 
documentation relating to Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s policies and procedures concerned 
with:  
 identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any 

instances of non-compliance; 
 detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, 

suspected or alleged fraud; and 
 the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and 

regulations. 
 Considering as an audit team how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any 

potential indicators of fraud.  

 Obtaining an understanding of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s framework of authority as well 
as other legal and regulatory frameworks that Brecon Beacons National Park Authority operates in, 
focusing on those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the financial statements or that had a 
fundamental effect on the operations of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. 

In addition to the above, my procedures to respond to identified risks included the following: 

 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations discussed above; 

 enquiring of management, the Governance and Audit Committee, and legal advisors about actual and 
potential litigation and claims; 

 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the National Park; 

 in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of 
journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting 
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant 
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business; and 

I also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all audit team and 
remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit. 

The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is affected by the 
inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s 
controls, and the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed.  

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
my auditor’s report. 
 
Certificate of completion of audit 
I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority in 
accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and the Auditor General for Wales’s 
Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
       
Adrian Crompton      24 Cathedral Road 
Auditor General for Wales     Cardiff 
30 November 2021       CF11 9LJ 
  

Page 39



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

14 
 

THE PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS 
 
Explanatory note on the information included in the principal statements:- 

 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  The Authority’s 
expenditure is funded from taxation, in accordance with regulations, via the National Park Grant and Levy on 
Constituent Authorities.  This may differ from the accounting calculation of operating expenditure.  Further 
information on the adjustments made to the management accounts to comply with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice are provided in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis on the following pages. The adjustments to the 
accounting calculation to arrive at the taxation-funded position are further detailed in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.   
 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis  
The analysis below details the adjustments that have been made to the Authority’s management accounts to 
present them in the CIES in accordance with the requirements of the current CIPFA Code which requires 
them to include the cost of holding assets and the actuarial assessment of the full cost of the pension scheme 
for the current year.  It reconciles the Income and Expenditure Statement’s net deficit/surplus with the net 
transfer to revenue reserves.  Note 19 provides a further subjective analysis of expenditure and income. 
 
Balance Sheet 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the 
Authority.  The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the 
Authority.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first category of reserves are usable reserves, ie 
those that the Authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of 
reserves and any statutory limitations on their use.  The second category includes those that the Authority is 
not able to use to provide services.  This includes reserves holding unrealised gains and losses, such as the 
Revaluation Reserve, where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets were sold, 
and also record timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
Movements In Reserves Statement 
This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Authority, analysed into 
‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other 
reserves.  The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost of 
providing the Authority’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the 
General Fund Balance.  The Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken 
by the Authority.  Further details of these transfers are shown in Note 7. 
 
Cash Flow Statement 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority during the 
reporting period.  The statement show how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing or financing activities.  The amount of net cash flows arising from 
operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Authority are funded by 
way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.    
 
 
 

Page 40



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

15 
 

  

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

 2019/20     2020/21  

Expend-
iture 

Income Net 
 

 N
O

T
E

S
 

Expend-
iture 

Income Net 
 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 
 

 £000 
 

£000 
 

£000 
 

1,139 (285) 854 
Planning, Policy and Development Management  

1,196 (237) 959 

3,549 (1,394) 2,155 
Landscape, Nature Recovery, People and 

Communities 
 

3,304 (1,158) 2,146 

1,407 (62) 1,345 
Chief Executive’s Department  

1,533 (15) 1,518 

260 0 260 Other – Past Service Cost 29 0 0 0 

6,355 (1,741) 4,614 COST OF SERVICES  
 

6,033 (1,410) 4,623 

  30 Other Operating Expenditure  
8 

  30 

  189 Loss on Revaluation of Fixed assets 11   0 

  181 Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 

 
9 

  223 

  (4,550) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income  
10 

  (4,369) 

  464 DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) ON PROVISION 
OF    SERVICES 

   507 

     685 Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on Pension Assets and 
Liabilities  

 

 
29 

  4,240 

  1,149 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
AND EXPENDITURE 

 
 

  4,747 

Page 41



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

16 
 

 

 
  

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 2020/21  
Net 

Expend-
iture 

Chargeable 
to General 

Fund 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
capital 
charges 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
pensions 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - other 

TOTAL 
ADJUST-
MENTS 

Net 
expend-
iture in 
CIES 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Planning, Policy and Development 
Control 

818 37 104 0 141 959 

Landscape, Nature Recovery, 
People and Communities 

1,731 228 187 0 415 2,146 

Chief Executive’s Department  1,404 31 83 0 114 1,518 
Other       
Net Cost of Services 3,953 296 374 0 670 4,623        

Pension Fund Administration Costs 0 0 30 0 30 30 
 Bank interest received (7) 0 0 0 0 (7) 
National Park Grant  see NOTE 10 (2,827) 0 0 0 0 (2,827) 
Specific Grants Received - Welsh 
Government  SEE NOTE 10 

(414) 0 0 
 

0 0 (414) 

Capital Grant applied  0 0 0 (187) (187) (187) 
Levies on Constituent Local 
Authorities  SEE NOTE 10 

(941) 0 0 0 0 (941) 

Interest on Defined Benefit Liability 0 0 230 0 230 230 
Revenue funding of Capital 
expenditure  

11 0 0 (11) (11) 0 

Other Income and 
Expenditure 

(4,178) 0 260 (198) 62 (4,116) 

Loss on Revaluation of Assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on 
Pension Assets/ Liabilities 

0 0 4,240 0 4,240 4,240 

Deficit/(Surplus) before 
transfers to /from Revenue 
Reserves 

(225)     4,747 

Appropns to Capital Reserves       
Transfers to Capital Receipts 
unapplied 

0      

Transfer to Capital Grants 
Unapplied (net) 

115      

 (110)      

Movements on Revenue 
Reserves 

      

Opening Balance 2,635      
Revenue Surplus/(deficit) 110      
Closing Balance on Revenue 
Reserve 

2,745      

       

Page 42



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

17 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 2019/20  
Net 

Expend-
iture 

Chargeable 
to General 

Fund 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
capital 
charges 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
pensions 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - other 

TOTAL 
ADJUST-
MENTS 

Net 
expend-
iture in 
CIES 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Planning, Policy and Development 
Control 

755 0 99 0 99 854 

Landscape, Nature Recovery, 
People and Communities 

1,785 163 207 0 370 2,155 

Chief Executive’s Department  1,253 3 89 0 92 1,345 
Other 0 0 260 0 260 260 
Net Cost of Services 3,793 166 655 0 821 4,614        

Pension Fund Administration Costs 0 0 30 0 30 30 
 Bank interest received (29) 0 0 0 0 (29) 
National Park Grant  see NOTE 10 (2,827) 0 0 0 0 (2,827) 
Specific Grants Received - Welsh 
Government  SEE NOTE 10 

(444) 0 0 0 0 (444) 

Capital Grant applied  0 0 0 (338) (338) (338) 
Levies on Constituent Local 
Authorities  SEE NOTE 10 

(941) 0 0 0 0 (941) 

Interest on Defined Benefit Liability 0 0 210 0 210 210 
       
Revenue funding of Capital 
expenditure  

32 0 0 (32) (32) 0 

Other Income and 
Expenditure 

(4,209) 0 240 (370) (130) (4,339) 

Loss on Revaluation of Assets 0 189 0 0 189 189 
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on 
Pension Assets/ Liabilities 

0 0 685 0 685 685 

Deficit/(Surplus) before 
transfers to /from Revenue 
Reserves 

(416)     1,149 

Appropns to Capital Reserves       
Transfers to Capital Receipts 
unapplied 

0      

Transfer to Capital Grants 
Unapplied (net) 

431      

 15      

Movements on Revenue 
Reserves 

      

Opening Balance 2,650      
Revenue Surplus/(deficit) (15)      
Closing Balance on Revenue 
Reserve 

2,635      

       

Page 43



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

18 
 

 
Balance Sheet  

2019/20 
(£000) 

 N
O

T
E

S
 

2020/21 
(£000) 

    
7,452 Property, Plant And Equipment 11 7,718 

45 Intangible Assets 12 34 

7,497 TOTAL LONG-TERM ASSETS  7,752 
    

38 Inventories  27 
745 Short-term Debtors  13 854 

4,112 Cash and Cash Equivalents 14 3,892 

4,895 CURRENT ASSETS  4773 
    

788 Short-Term Creditors  15 619 

788 CURRENT LIABILITIES  619 

    
    

10,662 Liability Related to Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 29 15,536 
0 Other Long-Term Creditors  175 

10,662 LONG TERM LIABILITIES  15,711 

942 NET ASSETS  (3,805) 
    

1,385 Capital Grants Unapplied Account  1,175 
2,800 Other Usable Reserves  2,875 
4,185 Total Usable Reserves  4,050 

    
(3,243) Unusable Reserves 16 (7,855) 

942 TOTAL RESERVES  (3,805) 

Page 44



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

19 
 

Movement in Reserves 2020/21(£000) 
 

    
  

 
G

en
er

al
 R

es
er

ve
 

A
ffo

rd
ab

le
 H

ou
si

ng
/S

10
6 

Ba
la

nc
es

 
he

ld
  

W
el

sh
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
R

ev
en

ue
 G

ra
nt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 b

ut
 u

na
pp

lie
d 

Ea
rm

ak
ed

 r
es

ve
s 

- 
O

th
er

 

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
S

 

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

G
R

A
N

T
S 

U
N

A
PP

LI
ED

 
A

C
O

O
U

N
T

 

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

R
EC

EI
PT

S 
R

ES
ER

V
E 

T
O

T
A

L
 U

S
A

B
L

E
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

T
O

T
A

L
 U

N
U

S
A

B
L

E
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

 

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

   
   

 
       

 
  

Balance at 31 
March 2020 
Carried Forward 

1,108 297 598 632 2,635 1,385 165 4,185 (3,243)  942 
 

           
Total 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

(507) 0 0 0 (507) 0 0 (507) (4,240)  (4,747) 

Surplus or deficit 
on revaluation of 
property plant and 
equipment assets 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 

Adjustments 
between accounting 
basis and funding 
basis under 
regulations (NOTE 
6) 

589 25 32 (28) 618 114 0 732 (732)  0 

Transfers between 
the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Acct and 
the Capital 
Adjustment Acct 

0 0 0 0 0 (324) 0 (324) 324  0 

Transfers between 
the Capital 
Receipts Reserve 
and the Capital 
Adjustment 
Account 

0 0 0 0 0 0 (36) (36) 36  0 

Increase/(Decrease) 
in 2020/21 

82 25 32 (28) 111 (210) (36) (135) (4,612)  (4,747) 

Balance at 31 
March 2021 
Carried Forward 

1,190 322 630 604 2,746 1,175 129 (4,050) (7,855)  (3,805) 

Page 45



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

20 
 

 

 
 
 
 
    
  

 
G

en
er

al
 R

es
er

ve
 

A
ffo

rd
ab

le
 H

ou
si

ng
/S

10
6 

Ba
la

nc
es

 
he

ld
  

W
el

sh
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
R

ev
en

ue
 G

ra
nt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 b

ut
 u

na
pp

lie
d 

 Ea
rm

ak
ed

 r
es

ve
s 

- 
O

th
er

 

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
S

 

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

G
R

A
N

T
S 

U
N

A
PP

LI
ED

 
A

C
O

O
U

N
T

 

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

R
EC

EI
PT

S 
R

ES
ER

V
E 

T
O

T
A

L
 U

S
A

B
L

E
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

T
O

T
A

L
 U

N
U

S
A

B
L

E
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

 

T
O

T
A

L
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

S
 

   
   

 
       

 
  

Balance at 31 
March 2019 
Carried Forward 

1,046 210 751 643 2,650 1,205 169 4,024 (1,896)  2,128 
 

           
Total 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

(464) 0 0 0 (464) 0 0 (464) (685)  (1,149) 

Surplus or deficit on 
revaluation of 
property plant and 
equipment assets 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (36)  (36) 

Adjustments 
between accounting 
basis and funding 
basis under 
regulations (NOTE 
6) 

526 87 (153) (11) 449 431 0 880 (881)  (1) 

Transfers between 
the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Acct and 
the Capital 
Adjustment Acct 

0 0 0 0 0 (251) 0 (251) 251  0 

Transfers between 
the Capital Receipts 
Reserve and the 
Capital Adjustment 
Account 

0 0 0 0 0 0 (4) (4) 4  0 

Increase/(Decrease) 
in 2019/20 

62 87 (153) (11) (15) 180 (4) 161 (1347)  (1,186) 

Balance at 31 
March 2020 
Carried Forward 

1,108 297 598 632 2,635 1,385 165 4,185 (3,243)  942 

Page 46



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

21 
 

Cash Flow Statement 
  

2019/20 
£000 

 

N
O

T
E

 

2020/21 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

     

464 (Surplus)/Deficit on the provision of services   507 

(163) Depreciation and impairment   (275)  
(3) Amortisation of intangible assets   (20)  

(189) Loss on revaluation of Land and Buildings   (0)  

      

4 Increase/(Decrease)  in Stocks  (11)   

(129) Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors  48   

(2) (Increase)/Decrease  in Creditors  0 
 

  

0 (Increase )/Decrease in Creditor re Accrued 
Employee Benefits 

 (29)   

(127)    8  
      

(1,460) Reversal of Current Service Cost, Pension Interest 
Cost and Expected Return on Pension Assets 

 (1,140)   

564 Cash payment to Pension Fund in year  506   

(896)    (634)  

338 Capital Grants taken to Revenue Account   187  
(1,040) Total Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services for non-cash movements 
   (734) 

(576)     (227) 

444 
Adjustments for items included in the net surplus 

or deficit on the provision of services that are 
Investing and Financing activities 

   237 

(132) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 17   10 
      

(118) Investing Activities 18   210 
0 Financing Activities    0 

(250) Net (increase)/ or decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents 

   220 

(3,862) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period 

   (4,112) 

(4,112) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the 
reporting period 14 

  (3,892) 

Page 47



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

22 
 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 
 
NOTE 1:  Accounting Policies:   
 
1.1  GENERAL PRINCIPLES 

The purpose of the Statement of Accounting Policies is to explain the calculation bases of the figures 
in the accounts. 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with: 

 The current year’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the 
Code) and the Service Reporting Code of Practice as it applies to National Parks. 

 The guidance notes issued by CIPFA on the application of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS’s); International Accounting Standards (IAS’s); Statements of Recommended Practice (SORP) 

 The Local Government Finance Act 1982 

 The Accounting principles of relevance, reliability, comparability and comprehensibility. 

 The basic accounting concepts of materiality, going concern, matching, consistency, primacy of 
legislative requirements, prudence and substance over form.  The concept of the primacy of 
legislative requirements is given precedence over other concepts where there is a conflict. 

 1.2  ACCRUALS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

Activity is accounted for in the year in which it occurs, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received.  In particular: 

 Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority. 

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can measure reliably 
the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority. 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between 
the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the 
Balance Sheet. 

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.  Where 
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is reduced and a charge is made to the 
expenditure and income account for the income that might not be collected. 

Transactions with a value of less than £1,000 will not be accrued unless there are specific 
operational reasons for doing so, such as grant claim administration. 

1.3  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on 
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature within 3 months or less 
from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management. 
 

Page 48



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

23 
 

1.4  PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 
ESTIMATES AND ERRORS 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material 
error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future 
years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.   
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and 
conditions on the Authority’s financial position or financial performance. 
 
Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 

 
1.5   CHARGES TO REVENUE FOR NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Services, and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding 
fixed assets during the year: 
 

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the revaluation reserve against which the losses can be written off 
 Amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service 

 
The Authority is not required to fund depreciation, revaluations and impairment losses or amortisations 
from the revenue grant or levies.  As the Authority is debt-free it is not required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue to reduce its overall borrowing requirement as would otherwise be the case. 

 
1.6   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end.  They 
include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave for current employees 
and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the 
Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, eg time off in 
lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into 
the next financial year. The accrual is made on an estimated basis at the rates of pay applicable in the 
following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is 
charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement 
in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the 
holiday absence occurs. 
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those 
benefits or when the authority recognises the costs of a restructuring. 
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the 
Income and Expenditure Account to be charged with the amount payable to the pension fund or 
pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the 
Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to 
remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them 

Page 49



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

24 
 

with debits for cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid 
at the year end. 
 
Post-employment benefits are earned by employees during their working life in return for services 
to their employer.  Employees of the Authority are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, 
administered by Powys County Council.  The scheme provides defined benefits to members (retirement 
lump sums and pensions) earned as employees work for the Authority and is accounted for as a defined 
benefits scheme.   
 
The liabilities of the Powys Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet 
on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – ie an assessment of the future payments that will 
be made in relation to retirements benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about 
mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of earnings for current employees. 
Liabilities used for accounting purposes are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to 
corporate bond yields.  The assets of the Powys pension fund attributable to the Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet at their fair value.  
 

 quoted securities – current bid price 
 unquoted securities – professional estimate 
 unitised securities – current bid price 
 property – market value 

 
The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 

 
 Service cost comprising: 
 current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – 

allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which 
the employees worked  

 past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment 
whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as part of Non Distributed Costs  

 net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), ie net interest expense for the authority 
– the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the 
passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount 
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period – taking into account any changes 
in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution and 
benefit payments.   
 

 Re-measurements comprising: 
  the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined 

benefit liability (asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 

 actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have 
not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries 
have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure  
 

 Contributions paid to the Powys Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the 
pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense. 

Page 50



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

25 
 

 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged 
with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not 
the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the 
notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the 
pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative 
balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General 
Reserve of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as 
benefits are earned by employees. 
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the 
event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of 
staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same 
policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 

 
1.7   EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for 
issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events 

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material 
effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect. 

 
Due to the impact of Covid19 on public authorities and increased economic uncertainty, and the 
national delays in publication, audit and approval of the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts, there is an 
increased risk that adjusting events occur between the publication of the draft Statement and the 
approval of the Audited Statement. 
 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 

 
1.8  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 

Where the Authority has entered into a transaction denominated in a foreign currency, the transaction 
is converted into sterling at the exchange rate applicable on the date the transaction was effective. 
Where amounts in foreign currency are outstanding at the year-end, they are reconverted at the spot 
exchange rate at 31 March. Resulting material gains or losses are recognised in the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 

1.9   GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions 
and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that the 
Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and the grants or contributions will 
be received. 
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until there is reasonable certainty that conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic 
benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required 
to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be 
returned to the transferor. 

Page 51



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

26 
 

 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in 
the Balance Sheet as Receipts in Advance. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is 
credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and 
Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.   Where the grant 
has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to Capital Grants Received in Advance. 
Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 

1.10   INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the 
Authority as a result of past events (eg software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future 
economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Authority. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost and carried at amortised cost.  The depreciable amount of 
an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on 
the General Reserve. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale 
proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 

1.11   INVENTORIES  
These have been included in the accounts at cost. This is a departure from the requirements of the 
CIFPA Code of Practice, which require stocks to be shown at the lower of actual cost or net realisable 
value, whichever is the lower. The difference is not considered to be material. 

 
1.12   LEASES 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee and 
the value of the item of property, plant or equipment leased exceeds the de minimis threshold of 
£10,000 – see item 1.14 below.   All other leases are classed as operating leases.   
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. 
Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the 
pattern of payments (eg there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 
 
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Credits are made on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (eg there is a premium 
paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the 

Page 52



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

27 
 

lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income. 
CIPFA LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board has agreed to defer the implementation of 
IFRS16 Leases in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom until the 
2022/23 financial year.  
 

1.13   OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES 
In accordance with the current CIPFA Code of Practice, the cost of support services is accounted for in 
the same format as presented to Authority Members in the management accounts.  Support services 
and departmental management costs are shown in the department under which they are managed.  

 
1.14   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during 
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Recognition 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future 
economic benefits or service potential (ie repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it 
is incurred.  The Authority has set a minimum level of £10,000 for capitalising expenditure, with the 
exception of land and buildings which are always capitalised. Expenditure below the minimum level is 
treated as revenue.  

 
Measurement 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs attributable to 
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.   
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 

 Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction: depreciated historical cost. 
 All other assets: fair value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its 

existing use (existing use value). 
 
Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 
depreciated replacement cost is used as an estimate of fair value.  Where non-property assets that have 
short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for fair 
value.  Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that 
their carrying amount is not materially different from their fair value at the year-end, but as a minimum 
every five years.  Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 
unrealised gains.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  
 

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains) 

 

Page 53



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

28 
 

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its 
formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
Impairment 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains) 

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original 
loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 

 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of 
their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (ie freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are not 
yet available for use (ie assets under construction).  Deprecation is calculated on the following bases: 
 

 dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as 
estimated by the valuer 

 vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset as 
advised by a suitably qualified officer 

 infrastructure (rights of way, trails and associated structures – straight-line allocation over the 
useful life of the asset as advised by a suitably qualified officer 

 
In the absence of specific advice, the estimated asset lives used are as follows: 

Vehicles and other equipment 5 years 
IT equipment 3 years 
Community and Infrastructure 
assets 

20 years 

Intangible Assets 3 years 

 
Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant 
in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 
 

Page 54



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

29 
 

Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The 
asset is re-valued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss 
is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previously losses recognised 
in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to 
non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held 
for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had 
they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to 
sell. 
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.  When an 
asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether 
Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal.  Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie netted off against the carrying 
value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the 
Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts.   Receipts are 
appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
As the Authority is debt free, 100% of any such receipts can be used to finance new capital expenditure 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against taxation, as the cost of fixed assets is fully 
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital 
Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Surplus Assets 
Where an asset is no longer being used for operational purposes but is not being actively marketed, 
abandoned or scrapped, it is classified as a surplus asset.  Surplus assets are valued at fair value (ie the 
price which would be received in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 
 

1.15   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND PROVISIONS 
 

Contingent Liabilities 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible obligation 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where they are material. 
 
Contingent Assets 

Page 55



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

30 
 

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible asset whose 
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the authority. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where 
it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential and they are material. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are made where both of the following conditions apply:- 
a) an event has taken place that imposes on the Authority a legal or constructive obligation that 

probably requires settlement or a transfer of economic benefits or service potential 
b) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation 

 
An example would be a court case involving the Authority which could eventually result in the making of 
a settlement or payment of compensation.   
 
Provisions are charged as an expense in the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement when a quantifiable potential obligation is identified.  The value of the potential 
cost is estimated as at the balance sheet date and carried in the Balance Sheet as a liability. 
When a payment is eventually made, it is charged directly to the provision.    
 
Estimated settlements and their probability are reviewed at the end of each financial year and if it 
becomes unlikely that the expense will be incurred or the amount is expected to be reduced, the 
reduction or removal of the provision will be credited back to the service originally charged. 
Where some, or all, of the expense associated with a provision is expected to be recoverable from a 
third party, such as an insurer, this related income will not be recognised unless it is virtually certain to 
be received on discharge of the obligation. 

 

1.16 RESERVES 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is 
charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated 
back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net 
charge against taxation for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are maintained to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, retirement 
and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Authority – these reserves are 
explained in the relevant policies and are described as ‘unusable reserves’ 
 

1.17 VALUE ADDED TAX 
The accounts have been prepared on a VAT exclusive basis.  Where VAT on an item of expenditure 
cannot be reclaimed, it is charged to the related service or capital project.  The net amount of VAT 
due from, or to, the UK Treasury at the 31 March is included in the Balance Sheet. 

 
NOTE 2:  Accounting Standards Issued and Not Adopted 
Accounting Standards issued and not adopted are: 
 

 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
 

NOTE 3:  Critical Judgements In Applying Accounting Policies 
Page 56



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

31 
 

In applying the Authority’s Accounting Policies, certain judgements have been made involving uncertainty 
about future events.  The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
 
 There is uncertainty about future levels of funding for National Park Authorities in Wales beyond the 

2021/22 financial year.  However, the assumption has been made that the Authority’s principal functions 
will continue and that the Authority will continue to exist as a ‘going concern’.  The most significant 
implication of this is that the Authority’s future liabilities to the Powys Pension Fund will not crystallise in 
the short term and are being met over the longer term by the contribution levels set by the Fund’s 
actuary. 

  
NOTE 4:  Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty 

 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures which are based on assumptions made by the Authority 
about the future or are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, 
current trends and other relevant factors.  However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, 
actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.  The valuation of the 
Authority’s land and buildings took place before the Covid19 pandemic, which may impact on both property 
values and income generation potential at visitor centres.  It is possible that material changes may need to be 
made to the values of both land and operational buildings in the aftermath of the pandemic as property 
valuations continue to be volatile.  
 
  

Page 57



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

32 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
NOTE 5:  Events after the Balance Sheet date 
The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by Chief Financial Officer on 26 November 2021.  
Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 
2021, the figures in the Statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the 
impact of this information. 
 

Item Uncertainties Effect If Actual Results Differ 
From Assumptions 

Pensions liability/Asset Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to 
corporate bond yields, the discount 
rate used, projected rates of salary 
increase, changes to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme itself, 
future retirement ages, mortality 
rates and expected returns on 
pension fund assets.  AON Hewitt 
provides the Authority with actuarial 
advice on the assumptions to be 
applied and their effect – see Note 
29. 

Changes in assumptions may 
interact in a number of ways but 
may have a large impact on the 
Financial Statement.  The 
accounting standard governing the 
accounting basis for Pension 
Scheme costs is known to cause 
volatility in estimates of assets and 
liabilities between years and hence 
large swings in both the CIES total 
and net assets.  The Powys Pension 
Fund holds a significant proportion 
of growth asset which while 
expected to outperform corporate 
bonds in the long term creates 
volatility and risk in the short term 
in relation to the accounting figures. 
The actual cost of pension benefits 
accrued by current Authority 
employees will not be known for 
many years. 

Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

Assets are depreciated over useful 
lives that are dependent on 
assumptions about the level of 
repairs and maintenance that will be 
carried out on individual assets.  The 
current economic climate makes it 
uncertain that the Authority will be 
able to sustain its current spending 
on repairs and maintenance, bringing 
into doubt the useful lives assigned 
to assets.  Valuations ascribed to 
Property by the Authority’s valuers 
are affected by market values which 
are substantially dependent on 
economic factors outside the 
Authority’s control. 

A reduction in useful life or 
identification of impairment 
increases the charge on the Cost of 
Services and reduces the value of 
assets in the Balance Sheet.  See 
Note 11 for details of depreciation 
and impairment in the year. 
 
Changes in the market value of 
assets may result in the Authority’s 
land and buildings being under- or 
over-valued.  As a result of both the 
economic impact of Covid19 and 
the departure of the UK from the 
European Union, there is 
significantly more uncertainty in 
2019/20 and 2020/21in relation to 
property values, including 
agricultural land.  These impacts are 
potentially material but not yet 
quantifiable. 

Page 58



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

33 
 

NOTE 6:  Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under  
Regulations 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources 
that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future capital and 
revenue expenditure.  Below is a description of the General Reserve, against which the adjustments are 
made. 

 
General Reserve 
The General Reserve is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are required to be 
paid and out of which all liabilities are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide 
otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact 
on the General Reserve, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice.  The 
General Reserve therefore summarises the resources that the Authority is statutorily empowered to 
spend on its services or on capital investment.  Details of the adjustments are provided below. 

  

Page 59



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

34 
 

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under Regulations in the year 
 

 

 2019/20     2020/21  
General 
Reserve 

 
£000 

Move- 
ments in 

Unusable 
Reserves 

£000 

Move-
ments in 

Capital 
Reserves 

£000  

  General 
Reserve 

 
£000 

Move- 
ments in 

Unusable 
Reserves 

£000 

Move-
ments in 

Capital 
Reserves 

£000  

    Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Adjustment Account 

   

(166) 166 0  Charges for depreciation and impairment 
of non-current assets 

(296) 296 0 

0 0 0  Amounts of non-current assets written off 
on disposal as part of gain/loss on disposal 
shown in CIES 
 

0 0 0 

(189) 189 0  Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

0 0 0 

        
338 (338) 0  Capital grants and contributions applied 187 (187) 0 

     
Insertion of items not debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement 

   

32 (32) 0  Capital expenditure charged against the 
General Fund 

11 (11) 0 

    Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Receipts Reserve 

   

0 0 0  Transfer of cash sale net proceeds credited 
as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the 
CIES and financing of disposal costs and 
financing cost of disposal from Cap Receipt 

0 0 0 

    Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Grants Unappd account 

   

431 0 (431)  Grants received but unapplied in year 
transferred to Capital Grants Unapplied 
Account 

237 0 (237) 

    Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital 
Grants Unapplied (non-qualifying items not 
capitalised) 

(123) 0 123 
 

    Adjustments primarily involving the 
Pensions Reserve 

   

(1,460) 1,460 0  Reversal of items relating to retirement 
benefits debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (see NOTE 29)  

(1,140) 1,140 0 

564 (564) 0  Employers’ pension contributions and 
direct payments to pensioners payable in 
the year 

506 (506) 0 

  
  Adjustments Primarily involving the 

Accumulated Absences Account   
 

0 0 0  Amount by which officer remuneration 
charged to the Comprehensive income and 
Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis 
is different from that chargeable in the year 
in accordance with statutory requirements 

0 0 0 

(450) 881 (431)  
 
TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS 
 

(618) 732 (114) 

Page 60



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

35 
 

 
NOTE 7: TRANSFERS BETWEEN EARMARKED RESERVES AND THE GENERAL FUND 

 
These reserves are amounts set aside by the Authority out of its revenue resources to meet future costs 
whose timing and extent are uncertain.  They are held until required or until the Authority decides that 
the anticipated costs will not arise, when they can be transferred, via the appropriations account, into the 
General Reserve.  The purposes of all earmarked reserves with a value of more than £30,000 and their 
year-end balances to the nearest £1000 are described below. 
 

S106 Affordable Housing Reserve (£322,000)  
This reserve has been established to retain S106 sums payable to the Authority in relation 
to property development pending their allocation to applicants for the provision of 
affordable housing.  Affordable Housing receipts which have conditions attached and are 
potentially repayable to the developer have been treated as Receipts in Advance. 
 
Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2017 (£107,000) 
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects, 
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2016/17.  This will facilitate 
reporting on the use of the funding. 
 
Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2019 (318,000) 
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects, 
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2018/19.   
 
Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2020 (177,000) 
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects, 
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2020/21.   
 
Conservation Fund Reserve (£88,000) 
Fees received by the Authority from organisations using Authority land for filming, net of 
any related costs, are set aside for use on environmental improvement projects and other 
expenditure to benefit the National Park. 
 
Local Development Plan Enquiry Reserve (£110,000) 
The Authority is legally required to publish a Local Development Plan periodically.  This 
involves extensive consultation and data collection, a public enquiry held by an external 
Planning Inspector, and publication costs at intervals of 3-5 years.  Funds were set aside 
each year to help fund these recurring costs.  The current Plan was adopted in 2014 and 
is currently being reviewed. 
 
Legacy receipts Reserve (£134,000) 
This new reserve was set up to earmark funding received in the form of bequests until it 
can be appropriately used to benefit the National Park. 
 
Canal and Rivers Trust joint projects reserve (£52,000) 
This new reserve was established for a net budget surplus generated by work carried out 
by the Authority in partnership with the Canal and Rivers Trust.  The reserve will be 
applied to continue canal-side improvement projects. 
 
Sustainable Development Fund Earmarked Sums (£58,000) 
This reserve represents funding commitments agreed by the Grant Allocation Panel but not claimed 
by the grantee at the financial year end. 
 

Page 61



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

36 
 

Reserve provision for termination costs of temporary project officer posts (£50,000) 
Established in recognition of the increasing proportion of employees who are temporarily employed 
for specific projects, to cover potential unfunded expenses incurred at termination of contracts. 
 

A summary of transfers to and from earmarked reserves for the last two financial years 
are provided below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

B
alance at 

31 M
arch

 
2019 

 
T

ran
sfers 

o
u

t 
  

T
ran

sfers in
 

  

B
alance at 

31 M
arch

 
2020 

R
o

u
n

din
g 

co
rrectio

n
 

 
T

ran
sfers 

o
u

t 
  

T
ran

sfers in
 

  

B
alance at 

31 M
arch

 
2021 

 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Welsh Government Specific 
revenue grants committed to 

projects 
 

751 (153) 0 598 
 
 (146) 178 630 

S106/Affordable Housing sums 
received by the Authority but 

not yet applied 
 

210 0 87 297 
 

1 0 24 322 

Other Earmarked Reserves 643 (157) 146 632  (158) 129 603 
Total 

 
1,604 (310) 233 1,527 1 (304) 331 1,555 

 
 
 
 
NOTE 8:  Other Operating Expenditure 
 

2019/20 
£000 

 
 

2020/21 
£000 

0 (Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets 0 

30 Pension Fund Administration Costs 30 

30 Total 30 

 
 
NOTE 9:  Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

 
2019/20 

£000 
 
 

2020/21 
£000 

210 Interest on Pension Scheme net defined benefit liability 230 

(29) Interest receivable and similar income (7) 

181 Total 223 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 62



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

37 
 

NOTE 10:  Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (see also Note 23 - Total Grant Income) 
 

2019/20 
£000 

2019/20 
£000 

 
 

2020/21 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

  Levies on Constituent Local Authorities   

554  Powys County Council 554  

138  Carmarthenshire County Council 
 138  

105  Monmouthshire County Council 105  

48  Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 47  

38  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 38  

29  Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 29  

29  Torfaen County Borough Council 
 29  

 941   941 

 2,827 Non-Specific Grant Income – National Park Grant  2,827 

 0 
Revenue Grant Income – Welsh Government received and not 
applied  177 

 338 Capital Grants and Contributions applied in year  187 

 444 
Capital Grants and Contributions received and not applied at 
year end  237 

 4,550 Total  4,369 
 

  

Page 63



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

38 
 

NOTE 11:  Property, plant and equipment 
 
 

 
‘* An asset under construction as at 31 March 2020 with a value of £14,247 was included in the intangible asset total.  It has 
subsequently been reclassified from an intangible item to equipment.  It was excluded from this note in the 2019/20 statement of 
accounts but included in the total of physical assets in the balance sheet.   In 2020/21 this has been corrected on the asset transfers 
line in the above note. 
 
 
 

  Land and Buildings 

V
ehicles, Plant, 

Furniture and 
Equipm

ent 

Infrastructure 
A

ssets 

C
om

m
unity A

ssets 

Surplus A
ssets 

A
ssets  under 

C
onstruction 

T
otal Property, 

Plant and 
Equipm

ent 

Movements in 2020/21 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation:        
At 1 April 2020 5,474 439 1,193 727 0 127 7,961 
Additions 52 134 68 273 0 0 527 

Valuation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation  

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reserve        

Valuation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the surplus/deficit 
on the provision of services* 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

De-recognition (disposals and 
write-offs) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Transfers (assets re-classified) 0 104 17 20 0 (127) 14 
At 31 March 2021 5,526 677 1,279 1,020 0 0 8,502 

Accumulated depreciation 
and Impairment 

       

At 1 April 2020 32 46 405 26 0 0 509 
Rounding correction       1 
Less accumulated depreciation 
written out on 
revaluation/disposals 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Depreciation written out to the 
revaluation reserve 

10 0 0 0 0 0 10 

Depreciation written out to the 
surplus/deficit on the provision 
of services 

22 61 101 25 0 0 209 

Other movements in 
depreciation and impairment 

56 0 0 0 0 0 56 

Total depreciation charge 
for the year 

88 61 101 25 0 0 276 

At 31 March 2021 120 107 506 51 0 0 786 
Net Book Value        
At 31 March 2020    5,442 393 788 701 0 128* 7,452 
At 31 March 2021    5,406 570 773 969 0 0 7,718 

Page 64



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

39 
 

 
 
See also Note 4 in relation to uncertainty affecting asset values.  

Asset Valuations as at 31 March 2021 
Brecon Beacons National park Authority’s freehold and long leasehold properties were last valued 
on 1st April 2019 by External Valuers, Chris Hyde MSc MRICS FAAV and Elizabeth Hill BSc MRICS of 
Cooke & Arkwright Chartered Surveyors.  The valuations were in accordance with the requirement 
of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2017 (The Red Book) and the International Valuation 
Standards 2017 (IVS) and the RICS Valuation, Globel Standards 2017 – UK national supplement.  
The valuation of each property was on the bases and assumptions: 
 

1.  For Owner Occupied non specialist property plant and equipment: Valued to Existing Use Value 
assuming that the property would continue in existing use. 

2. for Owner Occupied specialist property, plant and equipment: Valued to Existing Use Value using 
Depreciated Replacement Cost assuming that the properties would continue in existing use or 

3. For investment Properties: Valued to Fair Value assuming that the properties would be sold subject to 
any existing leases. 

 

Gross 
Value as at 
last 
valuation 

Land 
and 

Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Furniture, 
Plant and 

Equipment 
Infrastructure 

Assets 
Community 

Assets 
Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
under 

Construction TOTAL 

        

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Carried at 
historic cost 56  677  1,279  1,020 0  0  3,032  
Valued at 
fair value as 
at 1 April 
2019 5,470 0  0  0  0  0  5,470  

TOTAL   5,526  677  1,279  1,020  0  0 8,502  
 

Page 65



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

40 
 

 
  
  

Land and 
Buildings  

Vehicles, 
Plant, 
Furniture 
and 
Equipment  

Infrastructure 
Assets  

Community 
Assets  

Surplus 
Assets  

Assets  under 
Construction  

Total 
Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment  

Movements in 2019/20 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or Valuation: 

 

At 1 April 2019 5,749 132 1,225 271 0 610     7,987 

Rounding Adjustment 2 0 0 (2) 0 0           0 

Additions 4 281 149 86 0 92 612 

Valuation 
increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the 
Revaluation  

(36) 0 0 0 0 0 (36) 

Reserve 
 

Valuation 
increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the 
surplus/deficit on the 
provision of services* 

(245) 0 0 0 0 0 (245) 

De-recognition (disposals 
and write-offs) 

0 (33) (181) (143) 0 0 (357) 

Transfers (assets re-
classified) 

0 59 0 515 0 (574) 0 

At 31 March 2020 5,474 439 1,193 727 0 128 7,961 

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
Impairment 

 

At 1 April 2019 56 56 490 157 0 0 759 

Less accumulated 
depreciation written out 
on revaluation/disposals 

(56) (33) (181) (143) 0 0 (413) 

Depreciation written out 
to the revaluation reserve 

10 0 0 0 0 0 10 

Depreciation written out 
to the surplus/deficit on 
the provision of services 

22 23 96 12 0 0 153 

Total depreciation 
charge for the year 

32 23 96 12 0 0 163 

At 31 March 2020 32 46 405 26 0 0 509 
Net Book Value 

  

At 31 March 2019   5,693 76 736 113 0 610 7,228 
At 31 March 2020    5,442 393 788 701 0 128 7,452 
 
 

  

 ‘** The entries under ‘de-recognition- other’ relate to historic accumulated depreciation for assets which had reached the end of 
their useful lives and has therefore been written out of both the gross asset value and the accumulated depreciation total.  There is 
no impact on the net value of Property, Plant and Equipment shown in the balance sheet. 

 
 
Depreciation:  All assets except land are depreciated, in line with the Authority’s Statement of 
Accounting Policies. 

Page 66



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

41 
 

 
 
Capital Commitments:  As at 31 March 2021 the Authority had the following capital commitments.   
 

 Land and 
Buildings 

 
    £000 

Vehicles, 
Furniture, 
Plant and 

Equipment 
     £000 

Infra-
structure 

Assets 
 

     £000 

Community 
Assets 

 
 

     £000 

Intangible 
Assets 

 
 

£000 

TOTAL 
 
 
 

    £000 

Capital commitments at 
31/3/21 

0 66 0 0 7 73 

Capital commitments at 
31/3/20 

0 4 261 0 0 265 

 
 
NOTE 12:  Intangible Assets  

 
 

2019/20                             
(re-stated) 

2020/21                                      2020/21             
Under Construction 

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
        
Balance at start of year       
Gross Carrying amounts 93  53  0  
Less carrying amount of de-
recognised asset 

(40)  (13)  0  

Balance at start of year  53  40  0 
Accumulated amortisation 59  23  0  
Less Accumulated amort- isation 
on de-recognised asset 

(40)  (13)  0  

Net Amortisation at start of 
year 

 19  10  0 

Net carrying amount at start 
of year 

 34  30  0 

       
Additions – Purchases  0  0  0 
Intangible Assets under 
construction transferred to 
Intangible Assets 
 

 0  0  24 

Amortisation for the period  (3)  (20)  0 

Net carrying amount at end of 
year 

 31  10  24 

 
 
 
NOTE 13:  Short-Term Debtors 

 31 March 2020 
£000 

31 March 2021 
£000 

Debtors falling due in less than one year   
Central Government Bodies 466 546 
Other Local Authorities 139 18 

Other 140 290 

Total Short-Term Debtors 745 854 

Page 67



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

42 
 

   

NOTE 14:  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
  

 31March 2020 
£000 

31March 2021 
£000 

Cash held by the Authority 2 2 

Bank Current Accounts 4,110 3,890 

Total 4,112 3,892 

 
Note 15:  Creditors 

 31March 2020 
(restated)* 

Sundry 
Creditors 

31March 2021 
Sundry 

Creditors 

 £000 £000 

Central Government Bodies 87 115 
Local Authorities 125 83 

Other Entities and Individuals* 401 421 

Total  613 619 

   

   

 
 
 
 
Long-Term Creditors (S106 receipts) 

31March 2020 
(restated)* 

£000 
 

               175 

31March 2021 
 

£000 
 

               175 
 
 

  

‘* A balance of £175,000 relating to a S106 Affordable Housing receipt, not disbursed in 2020/21 has been re-classified as a long 
term creditor as at 31 March 2021 as it is not expected to be allocated until after the end of the 2021/22 financial year.  This re-
classification has also been applied retrospectively to 2019/20.  
 
 
 
 
NOTE 16:  Unusable Reserves 

  31 March 2020 
(£000) 

31 March 2021 
(£000) 

Revaluation Reserve  3,470 3,460 
Capital Adjustment Account  4,012 4,284 

Accumulated Absences Account*  (63) (63) 

Pensions Reserve*  (10,662) (15,536) 

Total   (3,243)            (7,855) 

  
 ‘* negative reserves are established for accounting purposes to balance liabilities set up to comply with 

the CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice requirements relating to pensions and staff benefits. 
 
 

Page 68



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

43 
 

16.1 Revaluation Reserve 
 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value of its 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets.  The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated 
gains are: 
 

 revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 used in the provision of service and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or  

disposed of and the gains are realised. 
 

The Reserve contains only net revaluation gains accumulated since it was established on 1 April 2007. 
Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment 
Account.   
 
 

2019/20 
£000 

 
 

2020/21 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

    

3,516 Balance at 1 April  3,470 
    

603 Upward revaluation of assets 0  
(639) Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not 

charged to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 
0  

(36) Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not 
posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 

  

(10) Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost 
depreciation 

(10)  

0 Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 0  
(10) Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account  (10) 

   3,460 
3,470 Balance at 31 March   

 
 
 
  

Page 69



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

44 
 

16.2  Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or 
enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  The Account is debited with the cost of acquisition, 
construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve 
to convert fair value figures to an historical cost basis).  The Account is credited with the amounts set aside 
by the Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 
 
The Account contains accumulated gains on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that 
the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. 
Note 6 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those involving 
the Revaluation Reserve. 
 

2019/20 
£000 

 
 

2020/21 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

3,732 Balance at 1 April  4,012 
    
 Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

  

(163)  Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets (276)  

(189)  Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment 0  

(3)  Amortisation of intangible assets (20)  

0  Revenue Expenditure funded from capital under  statute 0  

0 
 Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale 

as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement 

0 
 

(355)   (296) 

10 Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve  10 

(345) Net amount written out of the cost of non-current assets consumed in 

the year. 

 (286) 

 Capital financing applied in the year   

4  Capital Receipts applied to finance capital expenditure 36  

251  Use of the Capital Grants Unapplied Account to finance Capital 

Expenditure 

324  

338  Capital grants and contributions credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement that have 

been applied to capital financing 

187  

32  Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 11  

625   558 

4,012 Balance at 31 March  4,284 

 
 
 
 

Page 70



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

45 
 

 
 
16.3 Pensions Reserve 
 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting 
for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority 
accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 
benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect 
inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes employer’s 
contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  The debit 
balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and 
current employees and in the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them.  The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.   
 

2019/20  
 

2020/21 

(9,081) Balance at 1 April (10,662) 
(1,060) Actuarial gains/( losses) on funded pensions assets and liabilities (4,290) 

375 Actuarial Gain reversing MclCloud judgement adjustment made 2018/19 0 
 Adjustmet for historic unfunded liability no longer applicable 50 

(1,460) Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

(1,140) 

564 Employer’s pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable 
in the year 

506 

(10,662) Balance at 31 March (15,536) 
 
 

16.4 The Accumulated Absences Account 
 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund 
Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, eg annual leave entitlement 
due but untaken at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is 
neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.   
 
 

2019/20 
£000 

 
 

2020/21 
£000 

(63) Balance at 1 April (63) 
0 Net change in Accrual; amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is 
different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements 

0 

(63) Balance at 31 March (63) 
 
  

Page 71



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

46 
 

NOTE 17:  Cash Flow Statement: Operating Activities 
 

2019/20  
£000 

 
 

2020/21 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

 Cash Inflows from Operating Activities   
3,539 Government grants 3,649  

941 Levies on Constituent Authorities 941  
720 Cash received for goods and services 387  
29 Interest received 7  

523 Other operating cash receipts 335  
5,752   5,319 

 Cash Outflows on Operating Activities   
(3,786) Cash paid to and on behalf of employees (3,535)  
(1,834) Other operating cash payments (1,794)  
(5,620)   (5,329) 

132 Net Cash flow on Operating Activities 
 
 

 (10) 

 
 
 
 
NOTE 18:  Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities 
 

2019/20 
£000 

 
 

2020/21 
£000 

(603) Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (528) 
0 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets 
0 

721 Other receipts from investing activities (Capital Grants) 318 
118 Net cash flows from investing activities (210) 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 72



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

47 
 

  

Note 19 SUBJECTIVE ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE AND INCOME 
 
This note provides further detail of the subjective breakdown of income and expenditure within the 
Authority’s principal departments as recorded in the management accounts.    
      

Departmental Income and Expenditure 2020/21 
      
 Planning, Policy 

and Development 
Control 

Landscape, 
Nature Recovery, 

People and 
Communities 

Chief 
Executive’s 

Department 

Other* Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Fees, charges and 
other service 
income 

(215) (528) (15) 0 (758) 

Interest and 
Investment income 

0 0 0 (7) (7) 

Grants and 
Contributions 

(22) (630) 0 0 (652) 

      
Income from Non-
Specific Grants and 
Levies 
 

0 0 0 (3,768) (3,768) 

Welsh Government 
Specific Grants 
 

0 0 0 (414) (414) 

Total Income (237) (1,158) (15) (4,189) (5,599) 
Employee expenses 898 1,688 980 0 3,566 
Other service 
expenses 

157 1,201 439 11 1,808 

Transfers to/(from) 
reserves 

0 0 0 143 143 

Net proceeds from 
asset sales 

0 0 0 0 0 

      
Total 
Expenditure 

1,055 2,889 1,419 154 5,517 

      
Net Expenditure 818 1,731 1,404 (4,035) (82) 
      

Page 73



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

48 
 

  
NOTE 20:  Members’ Allowances  
The Authority paid the following amounts to members of the Authority during the year.   
 

 
 

2019/20   
£000 

2020/21   
£000 

 Allowances 106 88 
Expenses 14 1 
Total 120 89 

 
  

      
Departmental Income and Expenditure 2019/20 

 
 Planning, Policy 

and Development 
Control 

Landscape, 
Nature Recovery, 

People and 
Communities 

Chief 
Executive’s 

Department 

Other* Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Fees, charges and 
other service 
income 

(285) (817) (44) 0 (1,146) 

Interest and 
Investment income 

0 0 0 (29) (29) 

Grants and 
Contributions 

0 (577) (18) 0 (595) 

      
Income from Non-
Specific Grants and 
Levies 
 

0 0 0 (3,768) (3,768) 

Welsh Specific 
Grants 
 

0 0 0 (444) (444) 

Total Income (285) (1,394) (62) (4,241) (5,982) 
Employee expenses 898 1,938 939 0 3,775 
Other service 
expenses 

142 1,241 376 32 1,791 

Transfers to/(from) 
reserves 

0 0 0 354 354 

Net proceeds from 
asset sales 

0 0 0 0 0 

Total 
Expenditure 

1,040 3,179 1,315 386 5,920 

      
Net Expenditure 755 1,785 1,253 (3,855) 62 
      
* Other includes National Park Grant and Levies, Transfers to and from Earmarked reserves, and Interest 

 
 

Page 74



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

49 
 

 
NOTE 21:  Officers’ Remuneration and termination benefits 
The remuneration paid to the Authority’s senior employees who received remuneration (in total or pro-rata) 
of more than £60,000 per for the year is as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 

Salary 
 

Expenses 
 

Employer’s 
Pension 

Contribution 

Termin-
ation  

Benefit 

Total 
 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

2020/21       

Chief Executive  84 0 17 85 186 

       

       

2019/20       
Chief Executive  77 0 17 0 94 

Delivery Director   (to 
31/12/19) 

 48 0 11 0 59 
 

       

There were no other senior employees receiving remuneration of more than £60,000 per annum (none in 
2018/19).  The Chief Executive left the Authority on 31 March 2021. 
 
The annual salary of the Chief Executive as a multiple of the median salary of an Authority employee (£27,041) 
is 3.1.   (2.9 in 2019/20 of the median salary of £26,317).  
 
 
Termination Benefits 
The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other 
redundancies are set out in the table below.   Bands have been combined where required to ensure 
confidentiality, except where disclosure is a statutory requirement. 
 

Exit package cost 
band (including 
special payments) 

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of 
exit packages by 
cost band 

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 
band  

£ 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
0-20,000 1 2 0 1 1 3 14 49 

20,001-40,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
40,001-60,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
60,001-80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
80,001-100000 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 93 

TOTAL 1 2 0 2 1 4 14 142 
 
 
NOTE 22:  External Audit Costs 
The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, 
certification of grant claims and statutory inspections provided by the Authority’s external auditors. 
 
 

 
Fees payable to external auditors: 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Audit Wales 44 43 
 

Page 75



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

50 
 

 
NOTE 23:  Grant Income 
The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year. 
 

 
 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income   
National Park Grant 2,827 2,827 

   National Park Capital Grant included in the Income and Expenditure 
     Account 

338 187 

   National Park Specific Projects Grant 444 414 
   Levies – Powys County Council 554 554 

Carmarthenshire County Council 138 138 
Monmouthshire County Council 105 106 

               Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 48 47 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 38 38 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 29 29 
Torfaen County Borough Council 29 29 

   Total 4,550 4,369 
   Credited to Services   

EU–funded Grants 339 291 
Other Government Grants 256 538 
Other Local Authority Grants and Contributions 204 82 
Heritage Lottery Fund Grant 27 (7) 
Other Grants 129 70 
Donations and Legacies 11 2 
Total credited to services 966 976 
Total Grants, Contributions and Donations 5,516 5,345 

 
 
NOTE 24: Related Parties 
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that 
have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the Authority.  
Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Authority might have been 
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s 
ability to bargain freely with the Authority. 
 
24.1 Central Government 
The Welsh Assembly Government has effective control over the general operations of the Authority 
providing the majority of its funding in the form of grants and by determining the total Levy which the 
Authority may make on its Constituent Local Authorities.  It also sets objectives for the Authority by means 
of the Memorandum of Understanding and the annual Strategic Grant Letter.  The Authority’s operations and 
management are also controlled by a statutory framework encompassing a range of legislation which includes 
a definition of its statutory purposes and duty.  Government grant receipts in the years to 31 March 2020 and 
2021 are included in Note 25. 
 
24.2 Members 
The 18 Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority’s financial and operating policies.  
The total of members’ allowances paid in 2019/20 and in 2020/21 is shown in Note 21.  Where members are 
personally affected by decisions made by the Authority they are required to declare an interest and refrain 
from taking part in those decisions and discussions relating to them.  Details of members’ interests are 

Page 76



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

51 
 

recorded in the Register of Members’ Interests, available on the Authority’s website, together with further 
details of expenses paid to Members for the year.   No material transactions between the Authority and 
parties where Members were in a position of joint control or influence, other than those referred to 
elsewhere in this note, were identified. 
 
24.3 Other Public Bodies 
The Constituent Local Authorities, within whose boundaries the Authority’s own boundary runs, contribute 
to the finances of the Authority by means of a statutory levy, determined by the Welsh Assembly 
Government.  Each of these authorities provides a number of Councillors to serve as members of the 
National Park Authority, broadly in proportion to the size of the levy they contribute and their area within 
the National Park.  The authority represented by each member is shown in Appendix 1 of the Statement of 
Accounts.  Grants for specific purposes are also received from or via local authorities and the total of these is 
shown in Note 25. 
 
24.4 Senior Management 
The Chief Executive and senior management of the Authority are in a position to influence the Authority’s 
policies and allocation of its resources.  Payments to senior officers with a remuneration of greater than 
£60,000 per annum are identified in Note 23.  All staff are required to declare gifts and hospitality received.  
 
24.5 Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority 
The Authority gives grants for specific purposes to organisations under the Sustainable Development Fund 
Grant Scheme but it is not considered that the Authority has control, joint control or significant influence 
over the entities assisted.  The Authority has historically given an annual subscription to the Welsh 
Association of National Park Authorities, which exists to promote the interests of the 3 Welsh National 
Parks.  This was £nil in 2020/21 and 2019/20 as contributions were waived. 
 
The Authority made a payment of £10,000, towards the National Parks Partnership in 2019/20.  A further 
payment of £10,000 was made in 2020/21.  This is a Limited Liability Partnership formed by all 15 UK National 
Park Authorities to generate commercial sponsorship and other funding for the benefit of all the Authorities.  
The Chief Executive is one of 10 Board members of the Partnership. 
 
The Authority made payments in 2020/21 totalling £20,579 to the Biodiversity Information Service (BIS) for 
services relating to the provision of local records of species data for the National Park area.  A Member of the 
Authority sits on the Board of BIS as one of the 13 Directors and, for a period of three months during the 
year, the Manager of BIS was related to a member of the Authority’s Corporate Governance Team.   BIS is a 
‘private company limited by guarantee without share capital’ and is funded by service level agreements with its 
7 partners, which include the Authority.   
 
The Authority made payments in 2020/21 totalling £972.50 to Usk Valley Training.  The owner of this 
business is related to a member of the Corporate Governance Team,  
 
The Authority received grants of £71,373 from and made payments of £902.88 to Natural Resources Wales.  
Of the grants total, £61,588 is included in debtor balances and £1000 in receipts in advance at 31/3/21.  The 
individual acting, via a secondment arrangement as Transition Director and member of the Corporate 
Governance Team from 15 March 2021 was related to the Head of Operations South West Wales of Natural 
Resources Wales. 
 
The Authority made payments totalling £4,540 for legal services provided by Wokingham Council in relation 
to registration of titles to the Authority’s land.  The Authority’s part-time Monitoring Officer also held a 
senior role within Wokingham Council.  This amount is included in creditor balances as at 31/3/21. 
 
NOTE 25: Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

Page 77



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

52 
 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with the 
resources that have been used to finance it.  If capital expenditure were to be financed in future years by 
charges to revenue as assets were used by the Authority, the expenditure would require a calculation of the 
Capital Financing Requirement.  As the Authority is currently debt-free, this calculation is not required.  
 

 
 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Opening capital financing requirement 0 0 
Capital investment   

Property, Plant and Equipment 611 527 
Intangible Assets 14 24 

 625 551 
Less: Sources of finance     

Capital Grants Account Applied  (251) (324) 
 Government grants and other contributions (338) (187) 
Capital Receipts Applied (4) (36) 
Direct revenue contributions (32) (4) 

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 0 0 

 
NOTE 26: Leases 
 
26.1 The Authority as Lessee 
Finance Leases:  the Authority currently has no material leases which are classified as finance leases under the 
terms of the CIPFA Code of Practice.   
 
Operating Leases:  The Authority’s headquarters, some office equipment and some items in the vehicle fleet 
have been acquired under operating leases.  The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable 
leases in future years are: 
 

Total Commitments Under Operating 
Leases 

 

31 March                 
2020 
£000 

31 March                 
2021 
£000 

Payments within 1 year     
Buildings 22  22  
Vehicles 56  61  
Total  78  83 
Payments 2-5 years     
Buildings 16  89  
Vehicles 122  86  
Total  138  175 
     
Payments after 5 years  0  0 
Total Commitments  216  258 

 
 
26.2 The Authority as Lessor 
Finance Leases:  the Authority does not lease out property under terms which would be classified as finance 
leases under the terms of the current CIPFA Code of Practice. (Nor in 2019/20) 
 
Operating Leases:  the Authority leases out parts of its premises at the Craig y nos Country Park and the 
National Park Visitor Centre to catering providers, and small businesses.   Due to the impact of Covid19, 
including closure of the Centres for significant parts of the year and the operation of Covid regulations, Page 78



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

53 
 

income receivable has been reduced by agreement with tenants.  The minimum amount receivable is 
estimated to be £1,718 within 1 year.   Lease terms for the catering businesses at the Country Park and the 
Visitor Centre expire on 31 October 2021 and 31 March 2022 respectively,  The single current small business 
lease is operating on a rolling monthly basis. 
  
NOTE 27: Impairment Losses 
The CIPFA Code of Practice requires the Authority to disclose any impairment losses or reversals charged to 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of services and to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  
These disclosures are consolidated in Notes 11 and 12, reconciling the movement in the year in the Property, 
Plant and Equipment and Intangible Asset balances. 
 
There were no impairments identified during 2020/21 (none in 2019/20).   Land and Buildings were revalued 
as at 1 April 2019 and their asset lives reassessed.  Any changes to asset lives have been taken into account 
when calculating depreciation.  See separate note on sources of uncertainty as relating to asset values as a 
result of the Covid pandemic.  
 
NOTE 28: Termination Benefits 
The Authority compulsorily terminated the contract of two employees in 2020/21, incurring liabilities of 
£33,708.   Two further departures were agreed, incurring liabilities of £108,079.  In 2019/20, four contracts 
were terminated, incurring liabilities of £14,344.  See also note 23.   
 
NOTE 29:  Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes contributions towards 
the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although these benefits will not be payable until employees retire, the 
Authority has a commitment to make the payments that must be disclosed at the time when employees earn 
their future entitlement.  In accordance with International Accounting Standards, disclosure of certain 
information concerning assets, liabilities, income and expenditure relating to pension schemes is required.   
 
FUNDED SCHEMES 
The disclosures below relate to the funded liabilities within the Powys County Council Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”) which is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (the “LGPS”).  The LGPS is a funded defined 
benefit plan with benefits earned up to 31 March 2014 being linked to final salary.  Benefits after 31 March 2014 
are based on a career average revalued earnings scheme.  Details of the benefits to be paid for the period 
covered by this disclosure are set out in the ‘LGPS Regulations 2013’ and the ‘LGPS (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014’. 
 
The funded nature of the LGPS requires Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and its employees to pay 
contributions into the Fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment 
assets.  Information on the framework for calculating contributions to be paid is set out in ‘LGPS Regulations 
2013’ and the Fund’s ‘Funding Strategy Statement’.  In order to calculate the level of contributions required to 
meet its share of the Fund’s liabilities and to obtain the disclosures and calculations required to complete the 
annual Statement of Accounts, the Authority uses the services of a qualified actuary: AON Hewitt Limited.   
 
The last actuarial valuation was at 31 March 2019 and the contributions to be paid until 31 March 2023 resulting 
from that valuation are set out in the Fund’s Rates and Adjustment Certificate.  The Fund Administering 
Authority, Powys County Council is responsible for the management of the Fund. 
 
The Authority recognises gains and losses immediately in full through entries in ‘Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure. International Accounting Standards require disclosure of certain information concerning 
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure relating to pension schemes.  There have been significant changes in 
assets and liabilities as a result of the 2019 actuarial valuation. 
 

Page 79



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

54 
 

Contributions for the period ending 31 March 2022:  The Authority’s regular contributions to the Fund for the 
accounting period to 31st March 2022 are estimated to be £0.53m. Additional contributions may also become 
due in respect of any employer discretions to enhance members’ benefits in the Fund over the next accounting 
period.  The duration of funded liabilities is 21.8 years. 
 
UNFUNDED PENSION ARRANGEMENTS 
Unfunded arrangements arise from termination benefits paid on a discretionary basis upon early retirement in 
respect of member of the LGPS.  Brecon Beacons National Park Authority recognises gains and losses in full, 
immediately through Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  The date of the last full actuarial valuation 
of the employer’s LGPS unfunded benefits was 31st March 2019.  In accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, disclosure of certain information concerning assets, liabilities, income and expenditure 
relating to pension schemes is required.  There is no further liability in relation to unfunded benefits as of 
2020/21 and no disclosure is made in relation to unfunded benefits in the year of account. 
 
PENSION FUND ASSETS 
The assets allocated to the Employer in the fund are notional and are assumed to be invested in line with the 
investments of the Fund for the purposes of calculating the return to be applied to those notional assets over 
the accounting period.  The Fund is large and holds a significant proportion of its assets in liquid investments.  
As a consequence there will be no significant restriction on realising assets if a large payment is required to be 
paid from the fund in relation to an employer’s liabilities.  The assets are invested in a diversified spread of 
investments and the approximate split of assets for the Fund as a whole (based on data supplied by the 
Administering Authority) is shown in the disclosures split by quoted and unquoted investments.   
 
The Administering Authority may invest in a small proportion of the Fund’s investments in the assets of some 
of the employers participating in the fund if it forms part of their balanced investment strategy. 
 
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE FUND IN RELATION TO ACCOUNTING 
Asset volatility 
The liabilities used for accounting purposes are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate 
bond yields.  If assets underperform, this yield will create a deficit in the accounts.  The Fund holds a significant 
proportion of growth assets which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long term creates 
volatility and risk in the short term in relation to the accounting figures. 
 
Changes in bond yield 
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the liabilities for accounting purposes 
although this will be marginally offset by the increase in the assets as a result. 
 
Inflation risk 
The majority of the pension liabilities are linked to either pay or price inflation.  Higher inflation expectations 
will lead to a higher liability value.  The assets are either unaffected or loosely correlated with inflation meaning 
that an increase in inflation will increase the deficit. 
 
Life Expectancy 
The majority of the Fund’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member following retirement, 
so increase in life expectancy will result in an increase in the liabilities. 
 
Exiting employers 
An employer who leaves the Fund (or their guarantor) may have to make an exit payment to meet any shortfall 
in assets against their pension liabilities.  If the employer (or guarantor) is not able to meet this exit payment, 
the liability may in certain circumstances fall on the other employers in the Fund.  Further, the assets at exit in 
respect of ‘orphan’ liabilities’ may in retrospect not be sufficient to meet the liabilities.  This risk may also fall 
on other employers in the Fund.  ‘Orphan liabilities’ are currently a small proportion of the overall liabilities in 
the Fund. 

Page 80



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

55 
 

 
Key Financial assumptions for funded and unfunded arrangements (% per annum) 
 

 
 

31 March 
2019 

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2021 

   

       
Discount rate  2.4 2.3 2.1    
CPI Inflation  2.2 1.9 2.7    
Pension Increases 2.2 1.9 2.7    
Pension Accounts 
revaluation rate 

2.2 1.9 2.7    

Salary increases 3.7 3.4 4.2    
 
Mortality  assumptions for funded and unfunded arrangements 
 
The mortality assumptions are based on actual mortality experience of members within the Fund based on 
analysis carried out as part of the 2019 valuation and allow for expected future mortality improvements.  Sample 
life expectancies at age 65 resulting from these mortality assumptions are shown below. 
 

Post-retirement mortality 
(retirement in normal health) 

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2021 

 years years 
Males   
Member aged 65 at accounting date 21.8 21.9 

Member aged 45 at accounting date 23.2 23.3 

Females   

Member aged 65 at accounting date 25.0 25.1 

Member aged 45 at accounting date 26.4 
 

26.5 
 

 
Asset allocation for funded and unfunded arrangements 
 
 

 
 

Value at 
31/3/2020 

Value at 31/3/2021 
% 

 Total Quoted Unquoted Total 

Equities 43.7 48.8 5.4 54.2 

Property 9.5 8.4 0.0 8.4 

Government Bonds 16.3 11.9 0.0 11.9 

Corporate Bonds 
 

6.5 18.4 0.0 18.4 

Cash 3.2 3.4 0.0 3.4 

Other 20.8 5.5 -1.8 3.7 

Total 100.0 96.4 3.6 100.0 

Reconciliation of funded status to Balance Sheet 

 
Page 81



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

56 
 

 Value as at 31 
March 2020 

Value as at 31 
March 2021 

 

    
Fair value of assets 21.94 25.90 
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation 32.55 41.43 
Pension asset/(liability) recognised on the Balance Sheet as per Actuary (10.61) (15.53) 
Accrued payment into the Fund for pension fund strain not included in 
actuary calculation of fair value of assets for the year. 

0.00 0.00 

Pension asset/(liability) recognised on the Balance Sheet 
(funded liability)* 

(10.61) (15.53) 

   
 

 
The split of the defined benefit obligation at the last valuation date between the various categories of 
members was as follows: 

Active Members  45% 
Deferred Pensioners  27% 
Pensioners   28% 

 
Amounts recognised in profit and loss and other comprehensive income 
 

 Period ending 31 
March 2020 

Period ending 31 
March 2021 

 £m £m 
Operating Cost   
Current service cost(1) 0.99 0.91 
Past service costs  0.26 0.00 
Adjustment relating to McCloud judgement to Past 
Service Cost  

0.00 0.00 

Settlement cost 0.00 0.00 
Financing Cost   
Interest on net defined benefit liability(3) 0.21 0.23 
   
Pension expense recognised in profit and loss 1.46 1.14 
   
Re-measurement in  Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 

  

Return on plan assets (in excess of)/below that 
recognised in net interest. 

1.78 (3.42) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in financial 
assumptions (Funded Schemes). 

(1.32) 8.03 

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in financial 
assumptions. (Unfunded Schemes) 

(0.24) 0.00 

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in demographic 
assumptions. 

0.84 0.00 

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in liability 
experience 

0.00 (0.32) 

Total Amount Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure(2) 

1.06 4.29 

   
Total Amount Recognised 
 
‘(1) The current service cost includes an allowance for the administration 
expenses of £0.03m in 2020 and £0.03m in 2021. 
‘(2) The total amount recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account 
is net of a gain of £50,000 arising from the cessation ofa financial liability 
in relation to historic unfunded benefits.  This is also identified in Note 
16.3 

2.52 5.43 

Page 82



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

57 
 

(3) the prior year figure for interest on net defined benefit liability has 
been corrected from 0.22 to 0.21. 
 

Page 83



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

58 
 

Changes to the present value of defined benefit obligation during the accounting period 
 

 Period ending 31 
March 2020 

Period ending 31 
March 2021 

 £m £m 
Opening defined benefit obligation 31.69 32.55 
Current service cost 0.99 0.91 
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 0.76 0.74 
Contributions by participants 0.17 0.16 
Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities – financial 
assumptions.  Net of adjustment relating to Mc Cloud 
judgement. 

(1.32) 8.03 

Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities – demographic 
assumptions 

(0.24) 0.00 

Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities – experience 0.84 (0.32) 
Net benefits paid out (0.60) (0.64) 
Past service costs including curtailments 0.26 0.00 
Net increase in liabilities from disposals/acquisitions 0.00 0.00 
Settlements 0.00 0.00 
Closing defined benefit obligation 
 

32.55 41.43 

Changes to the fair value of assets 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Actual return on assets 
 Period ending 

31 March 
2020 
£m 

Period ending 
31 March 

2021 
£m 

Interest Income on assets 0.55 0.51 
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on assets (1.78) 3.42 
Actual return on assets (1.23) 3.93 

 
 
   

Estimated pension expense in future periods 
 

 Period ending 31 

March 2022 
Current service cost 1.32 
Interest on net defined benefit liability/(asset) 0.32 
Total estimated pension expense 1.64 

 
 
 
 

Period ending 
31 March 2020 

£m 

Period ending 
31 March 2021 

£m 

Opening fair value of assets 23.03 21.94 
Interest Income on assets 0.55 0.51 
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on assets (1.78) 3.42 
Contributions by the employer 0.57 0.51 
Contributions by participants 0.17 0.16 
Net benefits paid out  (0.60) (0.64) 
Net increase in liabilities from disposals/acquisitions 0.00 0.00 
Settlements 0.00 0.00 
Closing fair value of assets 21.94 25.90 

Page 84



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

59 
 

 
Allowance for administration expenses included in Current Service Cost: £0.03m 
Estimated pensionable payroll over the period: £2.52m 
 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The approximate impact of changing the key assumptions on the present value of the funded defined benefit 
obligation at 31 March 2021 and the projected service cost for the period ending 31 March 2022 is set out 
below.  In each case only the assumption mentioned is altered; all other assumptions remain the same and are 
summarised in Section 1.    
 

 +0.1% p.a. 
 

Base Figure  -0.1% p.a. 
 

Discount Rate Assumption 
Adjustment to discount rate 
 

   

Present value of total obligation (£m) 40.52 41.43 42.34 
% change in present value of total obligation -2.2  2.2 
Projected service cost (£m) 1.28 1.32 1.36 
Approximate % change in projected service cost -3.3  3.4 

Rate of general Increases in salaries 
Adjustment to salary increase rate 
 

+0.1% p.a. 
 

Base Figure  -0.1% p.a. 
 

Present value of total obligation (£m) 41.55 41.43 41.31 

% change in present value of total obligation 0.3  -0.3 

Projected service cost (£m) 1.32 1.32 1.32 

Approximate % change in projected service cost 0.0  0.0 

Rate of increase to pensions in payment, 
deferred pensions assumption and rate of 
revaluation of pension accounts assumption         
Adjustment to pension increase rate 
 

-1 year 
 

Base Figure  + 1 year 
 

Present value of total obligation (£m) 42.22 41.43 40.64 

% change in present value of total obligation 1.9  -1.9 

Projected service cost (£m) 1.36 1.32 1.28 

Approximate % change in projected service cost 3.4  -3.3 

Post retirement mortality assumption   
Adjustment to mortality age rating 
assumption* 
 

-1 year 
 

Base Figure  + 1 year 
 

Present value of total obligation (£m) 42.92 41.43 39.94 

% change in present value of total obligation 3.6  -3.6 

Projected service cost (£m) 1.37 1.32 1.27 

  4.1  -4.0 

‘* a rating of + 1 year means that members are assumed to follow the mortality 
pattern of the base table for an individual that is 1 year older than they are. 

   

 
 

Page 85



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

60 
 

NOTE 30: NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL  
INSTRUMENTS 
The Authority has no financial instruments of its own but its activities expose it to three principal financial risks: 

 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Authority 
 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments 

to make payments 
 Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority as a result of changes in 

such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 
 

The Authority, being debt-free and placing its surplus funds, in accordance with its Treasury Management 
Strategy, in instantly accessible accounts or on short-term deposit, with a bank which has a very high credit 
rating has minimised its exposure to the risk of failure by another party to repay funds deposited.   
 
The risk of losses from the failure of customers to pay the Authority is minimised through the Authority’s debt 
management procedures.  The majority by value of the Authority’s debtors are other public bodies which are 
considered to have good credit ratings.  (See  Note 13: Short-Term Debtors). 
 
As the Authority has funds in a mixture of immediately accessible bank accounts, short-term deposits and fixed 
notice accounts it has some limited exposure to liquidity risk.  Interest rates and cash balances are regularly 
reviewed and consideration given to placing further funds on deposit should interest rates become more 
favourable. 
 
The Authority is not exposed to market risk except in relation to its share of the Powys Pension Fund.  See 
Note 29 for further details.   
 
 
NOTE 31: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
None were identified in 2020/21, nor in 2019/20. 
  

Page 86



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

61 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS  

ACCRUALS: The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as money is 
received or paid.  

CAPITAL CHARGE: A charge to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of fixed assets used in the provision of 
service.  

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE: Expenditure on the acquisition of a fixed asset or expenditure which adds to and not merely 
maintains the value of an existing fixed asset.  

CAPITAL RECEIPTS: Proceeds of not less £10,000 from the sale of fixed assets. They may be used to finance new 
capital expenditure or repay debt. They cannot be used to finance normal day to day revenue spending.  

COMMUNITY ASSETS: Assets that the authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life, 
and that may have restrictions on their disposal.  

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/ASSETS: These arise from a past event which is dependent upon future uncertain events 
and timing prior to being recognised in the accounts.  

REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE: Expenditure classified as capital for funding 
purposes but which does not result in the expenditure being carried on the balance sheet as a fixed asset. These items 
are generally grants and expenditure on property not owned by the Authority.  

DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME: A pension scheme where the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the 
contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of the scheme.  

FINANCE LEASE: A lease that transfers all of the risk and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset to the lessee.  

OPERATING LEASE: A lease other than a finance lease.  

FIXED ASSETS: Tangible assets that yield benefits to the authority and the services it provides for a period of more than 
one year.  

USEFUL LIFE: The period over which the authority will derive benefits from the use of a fixed asset.  

ABBREVIATIONS: 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy  

LASAAC Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee  

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard IAS International Accounting Standard 

  

Page 87



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

62 
 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT 2020-21 

Executive Summary  
A) Responsibility for Governance 
The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) aspires to high standards of governance, behaviour 
and compliance through a partnership of members, officers, stakeholder organisations and individuals. 
 
Responsibility for a sound system of governance sits with BBNPA which comprises 18 members appointed 
from the seven constituent authorities and the Welsh Government.  In doing this, it commits to the seven 
principles of good governance defined by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
in its Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It also commits to the wellbeing goals set out in the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:   

 
 Page 88



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

63 
 

B) Commitment to address governance issues and keep arrangements under review 
BBNPA is committed to maintaining and improving governance and has set a framework in place to ensure 
regular review of its arrangements and actions to improve.  This review is through its Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee which works closely with internal and external audit on legal compliance and good practice, and 
to demonstrate assurance on this. 
BBNPA faced an unprecedented level of challenge in 2020-21, agreeing a Change Programme comprising 
cultural and structural changes, which was then paused due to the Covid-19 pandemic, when attention 
focused on enabling staff to work remotely and governance systems to be adapted.  The programme was 
restarted in September 2020 but a major cyber-attack on BBNPA’s systems and files meant that resources 
had to be allocated to restoring these and enabling decision-making to continue.  During this period the Chief 
Executive announced his resignation and left BBNPA on 31 March 2021, necessitating a full recruitment 
campaign. Senior members stepped in to address a shortfall in leadership and manage risks, and appointed a 
Transition Director from the beginning of April until a new Chief Executive could be appointed.  They also led 
the recruitment campaign and a new Chief Executive was appointed and started on 19 July 2021. Several 
redundancies proposed as part of the Change Programme, and some resignations, took effect in December 
and January which exacerbated the leadership gap.  This led to significant capacity issues, although staff and 
members have stepped up to take additional responsibilities and risk has been mitigated as far as practicable. 
 
During 2020-21 Audit Wales carried out a review of the management of the Change Programme and 
published a report in March with three detailed statutory recommendations to drive forward the Change 
Programme, strengthen governance and strengthen decision making. Their key findings were as follows: 
 
 The rationale for the Change Programme was clear, to create a National Park with an improved 

environmental condition with communities able to adapt to climate change and transition to a low carbon 
economy; 

 Translating the Change Programme into practice was undermined by poor communication and indecisive 
leadership; 

 The Change Programme was paused due to the pandemic but its relaunch in September 2020 was not 
handled well and created further problems; 

 The Change Programme has exposed some weaknesses in governance systems and behaviours; 
 The Authority has to address some critical risks and rebuild confidence, systems and governance to move 

forward. 
 
Overall, Audit Wales concluded that weaknesses in leadership and governance were highlighted by poor 
management and delivery of the major change programme initiated by the Authority in October 2019. The 
Authority accepted the findings of the report and agreed an action plan (item 7 on the agenda) which will 
continue to be implemented and monitored  by the Audit and Scrutiny Committee in 2021-22. 
C) Summary of significant issues identified 
The following items have been identified through the review of effectiveness as significant issues for BBNPA to 
address in 2021-22: 
1. Increase staff capacity 
2. Implementation of Audit Wales Action Plan 
3. Improved performance and risk management 
4. Impact of Phosphate issue on the Local Development Plan and on the wider business of the Authority. 

The cyber-security attack also had a major impact on systems and day to day operations in late 2020.  
Business continuity plans were activated and BBNPA moved swiftly to recover data and systems, utilising 
external specialist support as needed and key operations were restored very quickly.  Significant work has 
been undertaken and there is work ongoing on data management and strengthening the resilience of systems 
in line with changes in technology and lessons learned however, this is not considered to be a significant 
governance issue for 2021-22.  
An action plan is set out at Section 4  below. 
D) Overall opinion on the level of assurance and if fit for purpose 

Page 89



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

64 
 

At the meeting on 7 May 2021 Internal Auditors TIAA presented their annual report for 2020-21 and 
reported: “TIAA is satisfied that, for the areas reviewed during the year, Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority has reasonable and effective risk management, control and governance processes in place” 
Audit Wales Report 
BBNPA has accepted the statutory recommendations on leadership and aspects of governance in the Audit 
Wales Report and takes the findings seriously.  It has approved a detailed action plan which is being 
implemented and progress reported to each Audit and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis. Audit Wales 
has written to BBNPA to set out their expectations and made clear that if progress is not made then they will 
need to consider further action. 
The Authority’s Opinion 
The Authority saw some  significant challenges in 20-21 – the Covid 19 pandemic, a serious cyber-attack, the 
departure of the Chief Executive on 31 March 21, the loss of an experienced cadre of staff through 
redundancy and resignations which has left the existing structure stretched and lacking in resilience, and the 
identification by Audit Wales of three statutory recommendations concerning governance, decision making 
and behaviours which the Authority is in the process of addressing as a priority.  Overall BBNPA are satisfied 
that progress is being made and that  governance arrangements are fit for purpose.  The Authority recognises 
that the priority for 2021 -22 is to continue to build on that progress in order to restore mutual trust and 
confidence between officers and members and to move beyond the period of restoring internal stability and 
into a phase where the Authority is well placed to fulfil its role in leading delivery of an ambitious new 
Management Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park.  
Overall, governance arrangements, to a large extent, stood up to the challenges we faced, with Authority and 
committee meetings held online, delivery adapted in ways to ensure continuity (in particular the planning 
process) and working with partners to manage access to the countryside. 
 

The review of effectiveness confirms the governance arrangements in place and where these are being 
strengthened.  It considers that these are fit for purpose but accepts the need for some further changes to be 
applied. 

 
Signatures 

 
 
 
Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe (Chair)                                     
Catherine Mealing-Jones (Chief Executive) 

Date: 26 November 2021                                                    Date: 26 November 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.0 Identification of key governance arrangements 
BBNPA has organised a structure to ensure that good governance supports its delivery of National Park 
purposes and duty. Page 90



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

65 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
1.1 How BBNPA has responded to Covid-19 and adapted governance 
BBNPA moved swiftly to enable its staff to work remotely as far as roles allowed. With the closure of centres 
some staff were furloughed through the UK Government Scheme, but no jobs were lost as a result of the 
pandemic.  All staff were supplied with laptops and mobile phones if they did not already have them, and 
Microsoft Teams was installed on all devices to maximise internal communication and to encourage regular 
team meetings to support staff. 
Despite the constraints of lockdown most services were able to continue, or processes adapted to virtual 
models.  Significant effort was made by Human Resources and managers to support staff and provide 
opportunities for counselling and information on mental health support.  Staff deserve recognition and credit 
for the positive way they responded to the challenges of home working, as well as managers for assuming 
responsibility for virtual teams as well as working as a Covid Management Team to liaise with Welsh 
Government and partners. 
All officer groups were able to meet via Teams and with National Parks UK procured a meeting platform 
(Lifesize) to enable virtual meetings of BBNPA and its committees to continue. Decision making by BBNPA 
has not been adversely affected by the pandemic, although there have been some technical challenges in 
sourcing the most reliable meeting platforms, particularly in relation to hybrid meetings which will be key 
when we return to the office. 
BBNPA worked closely with the Welsh Government, police authorities and partner organisations to apply 
Covid-19 restrictions to rights of way and ensure that accurate messaging was delivered to the public.  Once 
restrictions eased, it then dealt with unprecedented numbers of visitors, and, in line with other National 
Parks, a high level of irresponsible use of the countryside.  BBNPA contributed to targeted media campaigns 
to educate visitors and worked with local landowners to try and mitigate the impact.  The increased level of 
partnership working has been a positive outcome of the pandemic and there has been recognition of the part 
that Authority staff on the ground played during lockdown and as restriction eased. 
Continuity of critical financial processes and controls enabled document storage, payments, income, financial 
and treasury management to be moved fully online.  Both internal and external audits have been carried out 

National 
Park 

Authority

Audit & 
Scrutiny 

Committee

Standards 
Committee

Appointments 
Committee

Governance 
and Member 
Development 

Working Group

Sustainable 
Development 

Fund 
Committee

Policy Forum / 
Policy 

Management 
Group

Planning, 
Access & Rights 

of Way 
Committee

Page 91



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

66 
 

online during the year, with full access to supporting information.  This was enabled by the rapid 
implementation of Office 365 and provision of appropriate IT and communications hardware to staff, 
supported by the IT team.   
 
2.0 Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Governance 
Principle 1: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law  

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

  
A maintained suite of Regulatory 
Documents and Protocols which 
gives members  and officers 
guidance on the ethical framework 
and the behaviours expected. 

There have been no complaints in relation to the Code of Conduct.  An 
Audit Wales report issued in February 2021made statutory 
recommendations in respect of clarifying members’ roles and responsibilities 
and work is under way to address these through an action plan. 
 
The same report made statutory recommendations in relation to clarifying 
the Scheme of Delegation in relation to Policy Forum, which have been 
completed and agreed by BBNPA. 
 
Scheme of Delegation has been updated during the year to meet governance 
needs and a full review of delegation will take place in 2021-22 to align with 
the new leadership team and streamline governance. 
 
Frequently Asked Questions produced to aid clarity and understanding of all 
regulatory documents. 

Complaints Process Complaints are reported quarterly to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee. In 
2020-21 35 complaints were received, of which 2 were upheld, 4 partially 
upheld and the rest not upheld. 

Register of Interests All members’ registers of interest published online. Officers’ register held by 
HR.  Annual reminders sent to members and officers. 

Financial Regulations, Whistle-
blowing and Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption policies  

All published online.  The planned reviews of these documents, placed on 
hold pending a decision on BBNPA’s senior management structure and the 
adoption of an improved and updated Scheme of Delegation, will be 
completed in 2021-22. 

Financial Management Code This new code is designed to ensure that all local authorities operate in 
accordance with the principles of good financial management, including 
longer-term financial planning and resilience to meet both operational and 
financial shocks.  Each authority must assess and demonstrate its compliance 
with the code.  2020-21 was a shadow year for the implementation of the 
code and a preliminary assessment has been carried out to review 
compliance, apply a RAG rating to each element of the Code and identify 
areas for improvement.    
A key component is compliance by BBNPA with the CIPFA Statement on the 
Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government which addresses the 
promotion of high standards of ethical behaviour, professionalism and 
integrity. 

Statutory Roles Head of Paid Service (Transition Director/CEO), Section 151 Officer 
(Finance Manager) and Monitoring Officer all in place.  The Data Protection  
role was fulfilled on an interim basis by the Chief Executive following the 
resignation of the Systems and Performance Manager in November 2020 
who had fulfilled this role, and then by the  Monitoring Officer on a 
temporary basis.  The Transition Director recommended a combined post of 
Monitoring Officer/Solicitor and DPO on 4 April 2021 but this was 
withdrawn by members.  The Authority agreed a temporary 12 month 
combined role of Monitoring Officer/Solicitor/DPO at its meeting on 14 May 
2021 and the role was filled from 1 July 2021. 

Information Governance The impact of the cyber-security attack in September 2020 was significant 
and has re-emphasised the need for mitigating actions that had been delayed 
at the start of the pandemic due to the need to allocate resource to setting 
all staff up to work remotely. Ongoing work has increased resilience and has 
involved staff refresher training on security and good practice. New post of 
Monitoring Officer, Solicitor and Data Protection Officer created and the 

Page 92



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

67 
 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

postholder is reviewing all processes.  Refresher training given to members 
on information governance and data protection and is now being scheduled 
for officers. 

Business Continuity This was invoked in 2020-21 both for Covid-19 and the cyber-security attack 
on BBNPA in September 2020.  These procedures enabled swift action to be 
taken in both cases and services to be maintained. Procedures were tested 
and revised as part of this process. 

Audit Arrangements Processes in place to work with internal audit (TIAA) and external audit 
(Audit Wales) at officer and member level. 

Standards Committee The Standards Committee complies with all Standards regulations and meets 
at least once a year. 

Service Level Agreements Agreements are place for payroll, the financial system and some planning 
legal services.  Established frameworks used to ensure value for money. 

Membership of appropriate 
professional bodies by key staff 

Key staff are members of relevant professional bodies and are able to access 
personal and professional support and CPD to facilitate their work and help 
maintain professional standards.   

 
Principle 2: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement  

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

All agendas and reports published 
online 

Public speaking scheme continued throughout lockdown and there was take-
up of this in Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee. 

Publication scheme on website 
facilitates access to all publicly 
available information 

Privacy Statement for Planning Services was updated and is being reviewed by 
the Solicitor/Monitoring Officer 

Corporate Plan Published for 2020-21 the plan set out its priorities linked to National Park 
Management Plan themes.  It took account of Covid-19 but made 
assumptions for normal work to resume in September 2020 which  was 
compromised by further lockdowns and restrictions. 

Consultation and engagement As part of the review of the Local Development Plan and National Park 
Management Plan BBNPA is establishing Citizen Assemblies and a 
Stakeholder Reference Panel.  An officer has been appointed to focus on 
stakeholder engagement as part of the Policy Team. 
 
Consultation during lockdown was carried out online. The National Park 
Authority’s 12-week consultation on the NPMP21 Issues, Visions and 
Objectives document for the Brecon Beacons National Park Management 
Plan was launched on the 3rd March 2021 and closed on the 26th May 2021.  
The consultation document was sent electronically to a wide range of 
stakeholders and was made available on the National Park Authority’s 
website and at deposit locations across the National Park (if open due to 
Coronavirus restrictions). A notice of the consultation was also published in 
the local newspaper on the 3rd March 2021. Additional consultation 
meetings were held with Welsh Government and Natural Resources Wales 
(NRW) to discuss the document and the alignment with other important 
policy positions/publications. Alongside the consultation, BBNPA has been 
encouraging individuals to register their interest in a Citizen Assembly panel 
and encouraging organisations or groups that work in the National Park to 
join BBNPA’s Stakeholder Reference Panel. The panels will assist in making 
decisions about how the NPMP could address the issues identified within the 
consultation document and also involvement in the implementation of the 
changes agreed. This is currently being formulated and is ongoing. All of the 
feedback and responses relating to this consultation represent a valuable 
source of information and ideas and will be used to inform the National Park 
Authority’s work in preparing its full National Park Management Plan, which 
will be issued for public consultation in Autumn 2021.69 individuals and a 
wide range of organisations / groups responded to the Vision & Objectives 
consultation. 

Communications Despite significant capacity issues with only one officer in post BBNPA 
maintained an effective communications strategy during all lockdowns, 
providing information to the public about access and closures.  Social media Page 93



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

68 
 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

was a key part in this.  BBNPA has recruited a Public Affairs Manager for 
2021-22 who will focus on strategic communication methods and effective 
promotion of the Park. 

BBNPA engages fully on aspects 
of its work. 

 

Planning:  statutory consultee list for all planning applications. Site notice and 
neighbour notifications undertaken. 
 
Management Plan Vision and Objectives – a 12 week public consultation was 
undertaken on the strategic direction of the statutory management plan.  
Numerous consultation events were undertaken (online) to engage 
individuals and organisations directly with the consultation. 
 
Llanspyddid Village Plan - 8 week consultation (extended due to lockdown) 
to provide the public and organisations opportunity to input in plans to 
improve the sustainability and resilience of the village of Llanspyddid. 
 
Brecon Town Plan – the consultation on the action plan was extended and a 
face to face event held on Saturday 10th October 2020. 
 
Amendments to Planning Policy relating to Retail development to assist in 
recovery from COVID Published for 8 week public consultation online. 
 
Full engagement with Natural Resources Wales, the Welsh Government and 
other Local Planning Authorities in responding to the phosphate issue in 
Riverine Special Areas of Conservation, including developing a phosphate 
plan. 
 

Contributing to initial delivery 
of Wellbeing Plans under Well-
being of Future Generations Act 
– for Powys, Monmouthshire 
and Carmarthenshire 

 

BBNPA has officer representatives on Public Service Boards, and member 
representation on the Powys PSB Scrutiny Board. 

Working with Landowners and 
occupiers to develop integrated 
sustainable land management 
solutions. 

Despite the restrictions of Covid-19 BBNPA continued to support Black 
Mountains Land Use Partnership and complete the Sustainable Management 
Scheme, providing project administration, project management, financial 
management, secretariat, PR and direct delivery of project outputs.  Direct 
participation in BMLUP’s transition towards establishing a Charitable 
Incorporated Organisation (CIO).  
Delivered circa £480k worth of peatland restoration work and upland path 
restoration work in the Black Mountains, Central Beacons and Mynydd Du. 
Collaborating with NRW and graziers to develop an integrated land 
management option for Meithrin Mynydd via the new Sustainable Farming 
Scheme. 
Delivered Invasive Non-Native Species control on the Rivers Tawe and Usk 
and have secured cooperation and first-name working relationships with all 
the riparian landowners affected. 
Delivered circa £70k worth of capital footpath improvement projects on 
Public Rights of Way in accordance with the Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan and WG capital grant. 
Assisted NRW to develop its (now successful) application to the EC LIFE 
fund for “4 Rivers for LIFE,” for habitat restoration works on the River Usk 
SAC, due to commence during late 2021. 
Active participant in Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water’s “Brecon Beacons Mega 
Catchment” programme. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

69 
 

Principle 3: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 
benefits 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

National Park Management Plan 
Corporate Plan 

BBNPA has been working towards its new Management Plan which will be 
published in draft in November 2021.  The Corporate Plan will (in part) 
deliver this over multiple years. 
 
Work on the National Park Management Plan continued during the year, 
with members and officers working together to identify an ambitious and 
innovative plan.  This was supported by an external speaker programme at 
Policy Forum which provided opportunity for learning and debate on 
complex issues. 

Position Statements BBNPA has developed a number of position statements to set out its 
aspiration and intent on climate change and land management, sustainable 
rural economy as well as an Evidence Position Statement which creates the 
foundation for all policy development.    https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-
authority/position-statements/ and Sustainable Rural Economy. Evidence 
statement on page 21  

Strategic Equality Plan This set out how we meet our statutory duties in relation to the Equality Act 
2010 and provides a clear starting point to ensure we deliver high standards 
of service fairly across all sectors of our communities, user groups, 
businesses and visitors. We aim to promote diversity, inclusiveness, equality 
of access and eliminate inequalities in everything that we do. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance BBNPA agreed consultation in May 2021 on amendments to retail policy 
requirements in relation to changes of use in the retail centres in our towns 
to help ease the burden on businesses following the pandemic. 

  
Placemaking Charter BBNPA, along with the three other National Parks of Wales have committed 

to becoming signatory to the Placemaking Charter.   This charter sets out 
that the National Parks of Wales agree to support placemaking in all relevant 
areas of our work and promote the six placemaking principles in the 
planning, design and management of new and existing places. 

Historic Environment Action Plan  The Historic Environment Action Plan is being developed through the newly 
formed Historic Environment Partnership.  It will when completed (Summer 
2022) define key objectives in relation to the management of the Historic 
Environment and actions for the partnership to deliver. 

 
Principle 4: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

Budget Strategy Each detailed budget for the coming financial year is accompanied by detailed 
projections for the following two years.  Budgeting  and medium term 
financial planning are key components of the new CIPFA Financial 
Management Code.  BBNPA’s financial landscape is strongly shaped by the 
Senedd’s own financial planning, which for National Park Grant is currently 
limited to a single-year settlement.  
 
The draft budget for 2020-21 was approved by BBNPA on 11 February 2020.   
Subsequent events, particularly the Covid pandemic and its impact on service 
delivery, operational income and BBNPA’s ability to progress its planned 
management restructure, meant that the budget required a full review during 
the year.    Managers are encouraged and supported to proactively manage 
their budgets to ensure they are effective financial management tools. 
 
The final financial outturn for the year, as reported to Members in July 2021 
was some 4% below the revised estimate, indicating that BBNPA had been 
able to maintain budget management processes despite the considerable 
disruption and uncertainty in both its operating environment and internal 
management structure. 

Page 95



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

70 
 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

 
The draft Statement of Accounts for 2020-21 was presented to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee on 23 July 2021. 
 
BBNPA has received a 10% increase in its core budget for 2021-22 enabling 
more staff resource to be provided to service delivery teams.  It has also 
received additional funding from Welsh Government to meet the cost of 
Covid-19 and monies under the Sustainable Landscapes Sustainable Places 
scheme.   
 
There is currently some mismatch between the timing of specific grant 
funding awards  and the development of the corporate plan for the coming 
year.  This can impact on the ability of officers to develop, plan and 
implement larger projects.   While 82% of a £1.1m capital programme was 
delivered during the year, some in-year capital funding opportunities offered 
by the Welsh Government could not be taken up due to staff capacity issues 
in the Nature Recovery and Land Management team.  Development of a 
costed multi-year prioritised programme of potential capital projects will be 
a key focus of the incoming Leadership Team.  This would enable BBNPA to 
respond more effectively to funding opportunities. 

Performance management and 
objective setting 

BBNPA has had significant capacity issues in 2020-21 following the departure 
of a key officer who has not been replaced.  This, coupled with the expiry of 
the Ffynnon system, has led to interim reporting methods by remaining 
officers to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis, and a 
permanent solution will be addressed in 2021-22.  This will align corporate 
performance through from the National Park Management Plan and 
Corporate Plan.  Staff appraisals will also be reviewed to better align with 
this.  The cyber-security attack has impacted on this area of work and it is 
acknowledged that it is an areas that is being strengthened. 

Internal Audit A review of progress on internal audit recommendations for 2020-21 was 
presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee on 7 May 2021 by BBNPA’s 
internal auditors TIAA. This acknowledged the lack of capacity, particularly in 
relation to senior management and performance reporting but recognised 
that BBNPA had complied with its statutory obligations. It identified that 10 
recommendations had been implemented, 6 were in progress and one was 
no longer applicable. 

External Audit Audit Wales carried out a review of resilience during 2020-21, and changed 
the focus of this mid-term to BBNPA’s Change Programme, which led to 
criticism of the process by which it was implemented.  This was presented to 
BBNPA on 17 February 2021 and an action plan subsequently agreed. The 
statutory recommendations in the report will continue to be addressed in 
2021-22 and remain a corporate priority. 

 
Principle 5: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

Member Development  During COVID-19 BBNPA has focused on delivering some core 
development on Welsh language and culture, equality and diversity and 
information governance/data protection.   
Two-thirds of members completed a Personal Development Review and 
some training requests were noted to be delivered in 2021-22. BBNPA is 
committed to achieving full compliance with the PDR process in 2021-22 in 
order to support succession planning and ensure that members maximise 
their contribution to the running of BBNPA. 
 
Two members appointed in April 2020 received online induction and also 
attended a three day National Parks UK Member Induction Course in March 
2021 (delivered to all English and Welsh Parks by the Brecon Beacons NPA 
under a Service Level Agreement). 

Page 96



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

71 
 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

During the year a number of members stepped into a leadership gap which 
while necessary at the time, has caused some blurring of roles and 
responsibilities.  This was picked up by Audit Wales in their report and is 
reflected in the recommendations and action plan. 

Change Programme The Audit Wales review included statutory recommendations on clarification 
of the member role.  The Governance and Member Development Working 
Group led a Board Effectiveness Survey, the conclusions of which have been 
used to inform the Audit Wales Action Plan.  Democratic Services officers 
have supported and progressed this work. 

Member Attendance Average 78% at main meetings (actual figure much higher as this is skewed by 
one member being absent for much of the year due to personal 
circumstances).  Attendance has increased during this period of virtual 
meetings. 

Remote Meetings BBNPA moved swiftly to online meetings and made Changes to Standing 
Orders to accommodate this.  Guidance and training was given to all 
members but there have been challenges not only with meeting platforms but 
with connectivity for those members living in remote areas. A significant 
amount of additional time from Democratic Services was allocated to 
supporting members with remote working, and also to exploring 
technological solutions for future hybrid meetings, working with Welsh 
Government, WLGA and UK National Parks. 

Staff Appraisals and training A system is in place for staff performance reviews, but this is currently 
inconsistent across all sections of BBNPA and needs review in 2021-22 in 
order to develop a system appropriate for all staff and linked to strategic 
plans. One of the key challenges in the last 18 months has been staff capacity 
and morale and this is a major risk to the Authority ensuring it has an 
effective and well supported workforce.  It has been identified as a significant 
governance risk for 2021-22. 
 
Staff have been supported during COVID-19 by HR and managers, with 
ongoing advice on counselling and mental health. Wellbeing has been made 
the main focus, aside from team meetings, a Friday kitchen catch up for all 
staff to drop in online was set up and further weekly online yoga sessions. 
We worked closely with Brecon Mind whom also provided invaluable one to 
one support for staff who required assistance which also complemented our 
confidential counselling service.  Two surveys have been carried out to check 
staff wellbeing and their views on home working, now and in the future.  This 
will inform discussion on options for future office accommodation.  
 
Staff Training – whilst face to face training was on hold during the Covid-19 
lockdown, BBNPA managed to continue staff training as much as possible.  
BBNPA utilise the ELMS Online Training system used by all UK National 
Parks and rolled out training covering Data protection, cyber security, GDPR 
training and a number of health and Safety specific courses. Staff were also 
able to complete courses relevant to their roles contained on the system.  
BBNPA supported a number of managers in project management training, 
presentation skills, etc.  We continue to support staff in learning Welsh using 
the online training on workplace Welsh with a number of staff completed the 
first level of training.   
Our volunteers have also managed to continue development in navigations 
skills, etc.  
With restriction lifting we have started to resume first aid training and have 
planned training specific to our wardens 4 X 4 training, plant training and 
chainsaw refreshers. 

Senior Leadership As a consequence of the delay to a planned management restructure during 
2020-21, there were significant gaps in capacity, filled on an interim basis by 
more junior staff.  Towards the end of the year, the departure of the Chief 
Executive was announced and an interim Transition Director was appointed.  
Senior vacancies and turnover impacted on the resilience and capacity of 
BBNPA as evidenced by the Audit Wales resilience review.  During 2021-22 
BBNPA has reached key milestones in beginning to recover senior capacity, 

Page 97



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

72 
 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

including the appointment of the current Chief Executive and the Monitoring 
Officer and the approval of a revised leadership structure. 

 
Principle 6: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management  

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

Statement of Accounts Draft Statement of Accounts for 2020-21 presented to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee on 23 July 2021 and is published on BBNPA’s website.  Audit of 
these accounts is in progress and provides a high standard of external 
assurance on the Statement. 

Budget Setting 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Budget for 2020-21 approved by BBNPA on 11 February 2020. Quarterly 
financial reports are made to Audit and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
All financial decisions are taken in the public domain (except those deemed 
to be exempt under the Local Government Act  
1972).  
 

Financial Management Code The Code, in its 2020/21 ‘shadow year’ provides a strong framework for self-
assessment and improvement against a suite of principles which cover all 
aspects of good financial management in local authorities.  An initial review of 
compliance has been carried out, using a RAG rating to indicate priority 
areas for further improvement. 
 

Risk Management The expiry of the Ffynnon performance system and the impact of the cyber-
security attack in September 2020 has led to interim arrangements being put 
in place for identifying risks, mitigation and reporting on these to Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee. BBNPA recognises the need to address this in 2021-22 
but the Corporate Management Team has reviewed risk and legal risks 
regularly during the year. 

External Audit Audit Wales presented their 2020 Audit Plan to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee on 24 July 2020 and set out the project brief for the Resilience 
Audit (the focus of this changed mid-term as outlined above). 

Internal Audit TIAA presented their annual audit strategy for 2020-21 to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee on  24 July 2020 and officers reported on progress on a 
quarterly basis.  Key audit areas in the year were a rolling review of financial 
controls, wellbeing strategy and absence management, ICT strategy and 
performance management. 
 
During the year there were changes to the Internal Audit Plan as a result of a 
cyber-attack in September 2020. An additional three days was added to the 
planned ICT Strategy review. The scope of the Governance – Performance 
Management review was changed to provide a high level review of 
performance monitoring arrangements and the number of days reduced to 
reflect the change. Both changes approved by the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
From the reviews carried out in 2020-21 the following recommendations 
were made (20219-20 figures in brackets): 
 
Urgent             Important              Routine 
  0 (0)                  7 (13)                 4 (14) 
 
At the meeting on 7 May 2021 TIAA presented their annual report for 2020-
21 and reported: “TIAA is satisfied that, for the areas reviewed during the year, 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has reasonable and effective risk 
management, control and governance processes in place”. 
 
There were no areas reviewed by internal audit where it was assessed that 
the effectiveness of some of the internal control arrangements provided 
‘limited' or 'no assurance’.  The internal audit contract was extended to 

Page 98



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

73 
 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

provide continuity in the light of the management changes then underway 
and the impact of Covid on the way in which auditors were able to operate. 

Managing data A Data Protection Policy is in place and there is a designated Data Protection 
Officer.   
 
Modern.gov electronic committee system is used to produce agendas and 
minutes which give online access to officers, members and the public, 
including archived agendas. 
 
Internal information management has been challenging following the cyber-
security attack and whilst most data was recovered, there is significant work 
for officers in sorting data transferred to online storage.  This work is 
hampered by lack of staff capacity. 

 
Principle 7: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 

How we are meeting these 
principles 

Reviews, Improvements and Assurances 

Pay Policy Statement During the year, the pay policy statement for the previous year was reported 
to BBNPA and published.  The statement for 2020/21 is in preparation. 

Broadcasting meetings BBNPA livestreams and archives all its Authority, Planning and Audit 
& Scrutiny meetings, with almost all decisions taken in the public 
domain (except those deemed exempt under the Local Government 
Act 1972).  Its public speaking scheme has continued to operate 
during COVID-19. 

Informed decision making Following work done by the Governance and Member Development 
Working Group officers have made their reports for decision more concise, 
evidence based and accessible to all.  Members have acknowledged and 
welcomed this. 

Annual Governance Statement This is prepared annually.  This report for 2020-21 has been delayed by 
capacity issues but will be published with the final Statement of Accounts.  
Members will be consulted through the Governance and Member 
Development Working Group and presented to BBNPA on 24 September 
2021. 

Audit Reports Wherever possible these are presented in the public domain to the Audit 
and Scrutiny Committee, together with progress reports. 

Annual Report The draft Annual Report for 2019-20 was presented to Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee on 23 October 2020. 

 
 
 

Page 99



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

74 
 

 
 
 
3.0  Accountability and Action Plans   
 

Report on actions taken in 2020-21 to address significant issues identified in 
previous year’s Annual Governance Statement 

Issue 

 

Outcome Lead 
Officer 

Update on 
Progress 

1. Reduced 
size of 
Authority 

a) To implement the 
legislation and review 
impact on governance 

b) To make any changes to 
the Scheme of 
Delegation to support 
this 

c) Provide additional 
member development as 
needed 

Effective decision making 
with appropriate 
participation from all 
members and 
appropriate delegation 
to officers 
 
No adverse effect on 
delivery of objectives 

Democratic 
Services 
Manager 

Impact has been 
mitigated in part by 
the move to virtual 
meetings which has 
facilitated 
attendance at 
meetings and 
training events. 
 
Changes to 
nomination 
procedures for key 
roles to encourage 
members to 
maximise their 
contributions has 
had limited impact. 

2. Future 
Funding 

As part of National Parks 
Wales to seek an integrated 
and longer term approach 
to funding opportunities for 
protected landscapes 

More financial certainty 
to achieve objectives 

CEO and 
Management 
Team 

The three Welsh 
NPAs worked with 
Welsh Government 
to secure a 10% 
increase in funding 
for 2021-22, which 
has also resulted in 
additional funding 
under the SLSP 
programme.  The 
increase has eased 
budgetary pressure 
in the short-term 
but will need to be 
maintained to allow 
multi-year projects 
to be effective  

3. Implementa
tion and 
review of 
Change 
Programme 

a) Implement staff changes 
b) Refocus Corporate Plan 
c) Changes to Scheme of 

Delegation 
d) Officer and member 

training 

Delivery of integrated 
outcomes across focus 
areas 

CEO and 
Management 
Team 

COVID-19 and gaps 
in leadership have 
impacted on the 
delivery of the 
Change Programme, 
with a significant 
impact on staff 
capacity and morale. 
Staff posts were 
made redundant or 
vacated through 
resignations on the 
resumption of the 
programme. The 
departure of the 
CEO and the need 
to recruit a 
successor and delay 

Page 100



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

75 
 

 
                        
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the appointment of 
a senior leadership 
team has created 
further capacity 
issues.  The new 
CEO commenced 
July 2021 and there 
are positive 
indications that the 
situation will 
improve but there 
will be delays due to 
recruitment 
timetables.  

4. COVID-19 Review impact of COVID-
19 on  
a) Wellbeing of Staff and 

Members 
b) Resources 
c) Ways of working 
d) Delivery of objectives 
e) Accommodation needs 
f) Lifestyle and culture 

A more resilient 
organisation 

CEO and 
Management 
Team 

Two staff surveys 
have been carried 
out. Staff have 
adapted well to 
remote working and 
many, though not 
all, have expressed a 
preference for a 
hybrid model in 
future, which will 
inform options for 
future 
accommodation. An 
assessment of 
potential 
staffing/team models 
will need to be 
carried out to 
maintain efficient 
delivery in future.  

Page 101



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                         Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2021 
  
 

76 
 

4.0 Action Plan to address significant governance issues in 2021-22   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Conclusion 

The Authority is committed to monitoring its governance framework through its Governance and Member 
Development Working Group and the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  It will actively manage and monitor the 
implementation of improvements following identification of the significant governance issues highlighted above 
and report back on these in the Annual Governance Statement for 2021-22. 
 

Action Plan for 2021-22 to address significant issues identified in the Review of 
Effectiveness 2020-21 

 

Issue 

 

Outcome Lead 
Officer 

To be completed 
by 

1. Build Staff 
Capacity and 
leadership 

a) Appoint Senior 
Leadership Team 

b) Fill additional gaps in 
structure and capacity 

 Provides strategic 
direction 

 More effective 
delivery of objectives 

 Improved staff 
morale  

CEO 31 March 2022 

2. Implement 
Audit Wales 
Action Plan 

a) Continue to deliver 
improvements and 
monitor progress; 

b) Review Scheme of 
Delegation to clarify 
and improve strategic 
and operational 
decision making 

Audit Wales sign off on 
audit plan and confirm 
improvements, 
supported by the use of 
surveys 

CEO 31 March 2022 

3. Performance 
and Risk 
Reporting 

a) Apply effective system 
for monitoring 
performance linked 
from NPMP and 
Corporate Plan 

b) Review staff appraisal 
system to align with this 

c) Apply effective system 
for identifying, mitigating 
and reporting risk 

A cohesive performance 
appraisal system that 
links strategic plans and 
annual corporate plans 
to staff performance. 
 
An effective system in 
place for risk 
management allowing 
mitigating actions to be 
developed and recorded 

CEO / 
Monitoring 
Officer / HR 
Officer 

31 March 2022 

4. Impact of 
Phosphate 
issue on the 
Local 
Developme
nt Plan and 
the wider 
work of 
BBNPA 

a) Continue to work with 
Welsh Government, 
NRW and partners to 
develop a phosphates 
plan; 

 
b) Produce a guidance 

note for planning 
applicants, agents and 
the public to help them 
understand the 
phosphates issue. 

 
 
 
 

A timetable for the 
completion of the LDP 
can be set. 

CEO / Head 
of Planning / 
Strategy & 
Policy 
Manager 

May 2022 (to finalise 
a phosphate plan 
with Welsh 
Government) 

31 December 2021 

 

Page 102



 

Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority 

Audit year: 2020-21 

Date issued: November 2021 

Document reference: 2627A2021-22 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  

is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 

authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 

General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 

disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

infoofficer@audit.wales. 

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 

not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

 

 

 

Page 104

mailto:infoofficer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

We currently intend to issue an unqualified audit report on your 2020-21 Statement of 

Accounts. There are some issues to report to you prior to their approval. 

 

Audit of accounts report 

Introduction   4 

Impact of COVID-19 on this year’s audit   4 

Proposed audit opinion   5 

Significant issues arising from the audit   6 

Recommendations   6 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Letter of representation    7 

Appendix 2 – Proposed audit report  10  

Appendix 3 – Summary of corrections made  15 

Appendix 4 – Recommendations  17 

 

Page 105



Audit of accounts report 

Page 4 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Introduction 

1 This report summarises the main findings from our audit of your 2020-21 

Statement of Accounts (the accounts). We have discussed the findings with the 

relevant officers. 

2 Auditors can never give complete assurance that accounts are correctly stated. 

Instead, we work to a level of materiality. The level of materiality is set to try to 

identify and correct misstatements that might otherwise cause a user of the 

accounts into being misled. We have set the level at £125,700 for this year’s audit.  

3 Further to the above materiality, there are some areas of the accounts that we 

judge to be of more importance to the reader, for which we have set a lower 

materiality level. This year our lower materiality levels are as follows:  

• £1,000 for senior officers’ remuneration, pension and any exit packages; and  

• £5,000 for related party transactions and balances relating to senior officers 

and members, and their close family.  

4 We have substantially completed this year’s audit.  

5 In our professional view we have complied with the ethical standards that apply to 

our work. We remain independent of yourselves, and our objectivity has not been 

compromised in any way. There are no known relationships between us and 

yourselves that we believe could undermine our objectivity and independence. 

Impact of COVID-19 on this year’s audit  

6 The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to have a significant impact on all aspects 

of our society. You have a statutory requirement to prepare annual accounts and it 

is testament to the commitment of your officers that you have succeeded in doing 

so for a second year, in the face of the challenges posed by COVID-19. We are 

grateful for the professionalism of the many officers who enabled us to complete 

the audit. 

7 COVID-19 has continued to affect our audit and we summarise the main impacts in 

Exhibit 1. The exhibit is provided for information purposes only, to help you 

understand COVID-19’s impact on this year’s audit process.  

  

Page 106



 

Page 5 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Exhibit 1 – impact of COVID-19 on this year’s audit 

Timetable • The statutory deadline for the preparation of the draft 2020-21 

accounts (signed by the responsible finance officer) was 31 

May 2021; and the statutory deadline for audit certification by 

the Auditor General was 31 July 2021.  

• The draft accounts were signed and submitted for audit on 30 

June 2021. As statutorily required, the Park Authority 

published a statement on its website to explain the delay 

beyond the statutory deadline, explaining that it had arisen for 

a second year due to COVID-19.  

• The audited accounts are scheduled to be certified by the 

Auditor General on 30 November 2021, being later than the 

statutory certification deadline of 31 July.  

• However, it is important to note that for a second year the 

Welsh Government’s Finance Department wrote to all local 

government bodies advising them that, due to the impact of 

COVID-19, they could submit signed draft accounts by 31 

August and have them audited and certified by 30 November.   

• You have therefore produced your 2020-21 accounts ahead of 

the Welsh Government’s deadline of 31 August; and they are 

scheduled to be certified on 30 November.       

Electronic 

signatures 

Should your audited accounts be approved by the Park Authority 

on 26 November 2021, this year we are again accepting electronic 

signatures and the electronic transfer of the e-signed accounts to 

us. Management has agreed to use this basis again. The Auditor 

General’s certification will also be by electronic signature for a 

second year.  

Audit 

evidence 

For a second year we received all audit evidence in electronic 

format. This access has enabled us to undertake the audit while 

not at your offices. Where we have been unable to use our usual 

audit methodology, such as our physical inspection of your 

property, plant and equipment, we applied alternative audit means 

where necessary to obtain sufficient audit evidence. 

Proposed audit opinion 

8 We intend to issue an unqualified audit opinion on the 2020-21 statement of 

accounts, once you have provided us with a Letter of Representation based on that 

set out in Appendix 1. We issue a ‘qualified’ audit opinion where we have material 

concerns about your accounts; otherwise, we issue an unqualified opinion. 

Page 107



 

Page 6 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

9 The Letter of Representation contains certain confirmations that we need to obtain 

from you under auditing standards. Our proposed audit report is set out in 

Appendix 2.  

Significant issues arising from the audit 

Uncorrected misstatements  

10 We can confirm that there is one uncorrected non-trivial misstatement. 

Management has corrected all other non-trivial misstatements that we found.  

11 The uncorrected misstatement relates to a debtor that in respect of the provision of 

services through to September 2023. Part of the debtor, totalling £11,985, was due 

after more than one year, as at 31 March 2021. The £11,985 is therefore a long-

term debtor as at 31 March 2021, but is incorrectly disclosed as a short-term 

debtor. The misstatement is a classification error within the balance sheet.  

Corrected misstatements 

12 There were misstatements in the draft accounts that management has corrected. 

However, we consider that they should be drawn to your attention and they are 

therefore set out with explanations in Appendix 3.   

Other matters  

13 While our audit has progressed reasonably well, some significant matters have 

arisen and the audit has taken longer than planned. The audit has therefore 

required additional audit resource. Once we have concluded all our 2020-21 

financial audit work, we will discuss the audit fee with the Section 151 Officer and 

report any additional fee to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  

Recommendations  

14 Our audit recommendations are set out in Appendix 4. Management has 

responded to them and we will follow up their actions as part of next year’s audit  

Page 108



Appendix 1 

Page 7 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Letter of representation 

[Required to be on the Park Authority’s letterhead] 

 

Auditor General for Wales 

Audit Wales 

24 Cathedral Road 

Cardiff 

CF11 9LJ 

 

26 November 2021 

Representations regarding the 2020-21 financial statements 

This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Brecon 

Beacons National Park Authority (the Park Authority) for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

It is provided for the purpose of expressing an opinion on their truth and fairness and their 

proper preparation. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 

consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you. 

Management representations 

Responsibilities 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for:  

• the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative 

requirements and Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 

Kingdom; in particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in 

accordance therewith; and 

• the design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent 

and detect fraud and error. 

Information provided 

We have provided you with: 

• Full access to: 

‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of 

the financial statements such as books of account and supporting 

documentation, minutes of meetings and other matters; 

Page 109



 

Page 8 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 

audit; and 

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to 

obtain audit evidence. 

• The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 

materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

• Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects 

the Park Authority and involves: 

‒ management; 

‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 

statements. 

• Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 

financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or 

others. 

• Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected  

non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 

when preparing the financial statements. 

• The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and 

transactions of which we are aware. 

Financial statement representations 

All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records and 

are reflected in the financial statements. 

Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those measured 

at fair value, are reasonable. 

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed. 

All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or 

disclosure have been adjusted for or disclosed. 

All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 

when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 

accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 

framework. 

The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.  The 

effect of the one uncorrected misstatement identified during the audit is immaterial to the 

financial statements taken as a whole. We have chosen not to amend it because, in the 

view of officers, the potential impact of the immaterial misstatement on the understanding 

of the statements is outweighed by the officer and audit time required to amend the 

related main statements and notes. 

Page 110



 

Page 9 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

 

Representations by the Park Authority 

We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been 

discussed with us. 

We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial 

statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial 

statements were approved by the members of the Park Authority on 26 November 2021. 

We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 

ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 

communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 

information of which you are unaware. 

 

 

 

Signed by: Signed by: 

 

 

Elaine Standen 

Section 151 Officer 

 

 

Councillor Gareth Ratcliffe 

Chair of the Park Authority 

Date: 26 November 2021 Date: 26 November 2021 

 

 

 

Page 111



Appendix 2 

Page 10 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Proposed audit report 

The independent auditor’s report of the Auditor 
General for Wales to the members of Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority  

Opinion on financial statements 

I have audited the financial statements of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the 

year ended 31 March 2021 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.  

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s financial statements comprise the Movement 

in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the 

Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies.  

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 

law and international accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by the Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020-21. 

In my opinion the financial statements:  

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority as at 31 March 2021 and of its income and expenditure for the year then 

ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and 

international accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by the Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020-21. 

Basis of opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 

Auditing in the UK (ISAs (UK)) and Practice Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial Statements of 

Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom’. My responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements section of my report. I am independent of Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the 

financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical 

Standard, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

 

Page 112



 

Page 11 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, I have concluded that the use of the going concern 

basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work I have performed, I have not identified any material uncertainties 

relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt 

on Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue. 

My responsibilities and the responsibilities of the responsible financial officer with respect 

to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other Information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than 

the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The Responsible Financial 

Officer is responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. My 

opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to 

the extent otherwise explicitly stated in my report, I do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. My responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements or knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a material 

misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work I have 

performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am 

required to report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Report on other requirements 

Opinion on other matters 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of my audit: 

• the information contained in the Narrative Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the 

Narrative Report has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020-21;  

• The information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which 

the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and 

the Governance Statement has been prepared in accordance with guidance.  

 

Page 113



 

Page 12 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

 

Matters on which I report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified 

material misstatements in the Narrative Report or the Governance Statement. 

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, which I report to you, if, in my 

opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for my audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by my team; 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 

returns; or 

• I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit. 

Responsibilities 

Responsibilities of the responsible financial officer for the financial 

statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of 

Accounts set out on page x, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the 

preparation of the statement of accounts, which give a true and fair view, and for such 

internal control as the responsible financial officer determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of statements of accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the statement of accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for 

assessing Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 

of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these financial statements. 

Page 114



 

Page 13 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. I 

design procedures in line with my responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 

misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.  

My procedures included the following: 

• Enquiring of management and those charged with governance, including obtaining 

and reviewing supporting documentation relating to Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority’s policies and procedures concerned with:  

▪ identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they 

were aware of any instances of non-compliance; 

▪ detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge 

of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and 

▪ the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-

compliance with laws and regulations. 

• Considering as an audit team how and where fraud might occur in the financial 

statements and any potential indicators of fraud.  

• Obtaining an understanding of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s framework 

of authority as well as other legal and regulatory frameworks that Brecon Beacons 

National Park Authority operates in, focusing on those laws and regulations that had 

a direct effect on the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the 

operations of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. 

In addition to the above, my procedures to respond to identified risks included the following: 

• reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation 

to assess compliance with relevant laws and regulations discussed above; 

• enquiring of management, the Governance and Audit Committee, and legal advisors 

about actual and potential litigation and claims; 

• reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the National 

Park; 

• in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the 

appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the 

judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; 

and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual 

or outside the normal course of business; and 

I also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all 

audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and 

regulations throughout the audit. 

The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, 

is affected by the inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of Brecon 

Beacons National Park Authority’s controls, and the nature, timing and extent of the audit 

procedures performed.  

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website 

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

Page 115

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-assurance/auditor-s-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-fi/description-of-the-auditor%e2%80%99s-responsibilities-for


 

Page 14 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Certificate of completion of audit 

I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority in accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and 

the Auditor General for Wales’s Code of Audit Practice. 

 

       

Adrian Crompton      24 Cathedral Road 

Auditor General for Wales      Cardiff 

30 November 2021       CF11 9LJ 

Page 116



Appendix 3 

Page 15 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Summary of corrections made 

We identified the following misstatements that have been corrected by management, but 

which we consider should be drawn to your attention due to their relevance to your 

responsibilities over the financial reporting process.  

Exhibit 2: summary of the main corrections made 

Value of correction Nature of correction Reason for correction 

Various A number of the previous 

year’s audited figures had been 

brought forward incorrectly, 

which had to be corrected. 

To ensure that the 

comparative figures are 

accurate. 

Various There were numerous 

arithmetical and cross-

referencing errors, which had to 

be corrected. 

To ensure that the accounts 

are arithmetically accurate 

and well referenced. 

£4.24 million 

 

Expenditure and Funding 

Analysis (EFA) 

The figures for ‘Loss of 

Revaluation of Assets’ and 

‘Actuarial Loss on Pensions 

Liabilities’ were disclosed the 

wrong way round. 

To ensure that EFA is 

accurate and that the 

disclosures are consistent 

and accurate throughout the 

accounts. 

£175,000 Note 15: Creditors 

Some of the ‘Section 106’ 

creditors were due for payment 

after more than one year, as at 

31 March 2021. They are 

therefore long-term creditors, 

which had been incorrectly 

disclosed in the balance sheet 

as short-term creditors.  

The misstatement was a 

material classification error.  

To ensure the correct 

classification of short and 

long-term creditors. 

Page 117



 

Page 16 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Value of correction Nature of correction Reason for correction 

£12,500 Note 12: Intangible assets 

An intangible asset had been 

derecognised (or disposed) 

despite still being in use. The 

carrying amount and 

cumulative amortisation were 

therefore understated.  

To ensure that the 

intangibles assets are 

correctly disclosed. 

Various audit 

adjustments, as set 

out to the right. Four 

of the adjustments 

are material, being 

over £5,000.  

Note 24: Related parties 

Numerous related-party 

transactions were omitted from 

Note 24 which had to be 

added, being: 

• Biodiversity Information 

Service (expenditure of 

£20,579);  

• Natural Resources; Wales 

(grant income of £71,373 

and expenditure of £902; 

with a year-end debtor of 

£61,588 and income 

received in advance of 

£1,000);  

• Wokingham Borough 

Council (expenditure and 

year-end creditor of 

£4,540);  

• National Parks 

Partnerships (expenditure 

of £10,000); and 

• Usk Valley Training 

(expenditure of £972). 

To ensure that the related 

party transactions and 

balances are fully and 

accurately disclosed. 

£10,000 Note 23: Grant income 

The ‘Other Government Grants’ 

figure in Grant Income note 

was understated by £10,000.  

To ensure that the Note is 

accurate. 

Page 118



Appendix 4 

Page 17 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Recommendations 

Exhibits 3 to 11 set out our recommendations and management’s responses. We will 

review the actions taken by management as part of next year’s audit. 

Exhibit 3: matter arising 1 

Weaknesses in the accounts submitted for audit 

Findings Last year we reported that the draft accounts 

submitted for audit had contained numerous errors 

and that the Park Authority did not have appropriate 

quality review arrangements in place.  

We have similar findings this year, with the draft 

accounts containing numerous basic errors that 

required additional audit work.  

We have also found that the accounts are overly 

complex, making their preparation by officers, and 

their audit, more difficult than it should be.  

We have reminded officers of the guidance in place 

by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA), and its model set of local 

government accounts, which would be straightforward 

to prepare and be an enhanced document for the 

reader.      

Recommendation The Park Authority should simplify its 2021-22 

accounts, using CIPFA’s model accounts as a basis. 

The Park Authority should implement arrangements 

to review the quality of its annual draft accounts, prior 

to their submission for audit.  

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Management response The use of the CIPFA model statement may make a 

small impact on the complexity of the accounts for the 

lay reader and on the process of accounts 

preparation.                                                          

Arrangements for internal review of the annual 

accounts will be considered and resourced as 

Page 119



 

Page 18 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

appropriate.                                                  

Arithmetical errors were (in the main) related to 

rounding differences. 

Implementation date 31/3/22 

Exhibit 4: matter arising 2 

Some related-party declarations had not been sought  

Findings Last year we reported that we had continued to 

experience problems obtaining information to support 

the related party disclosures.  

The examination of related parties is a particularly 

important part of our audit, with a low materiality level 

of £5,000 each year (per paragraph 3 of this report). 

As well as testing the disclosures that have been 

made in the draft accounts, importantly, we also test 

whether any disclosures have been overlooked and 

omitted from the draft accounts.  

We therefore require all the related-party declarations 

in respect of senior officers and members, including 

from those who left during the financial year.  

This year we found that while all members had 

provided their annual declarations, senior officers had 

not been asked for theirs. Finance officers therefore 

had to request them during the audit process, 

including from former officers who had left the 

organisation (such as the former Chief Executive).   

The related-party audit adjustments are set out at 

page 16.  

Recommendation Soon after the financial year-end, the Park Authority 

should request and obtain related-party declarations 

from all its senior officers and members.   

The Park Authority should ensure that, when a senior 

officer or member is due to leave the organisation, it 

obtains the individual’s related-party declaration prior 

to their departure. This requirement should be part of 

the Park Authority’s leaver’s checklist.   

Page 120



 

Page 19 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Management response Agreed 

Implementation date Immediate 

Exhibit 5: matter arising 3 

Two related-party declarations were incomplete  

Findings Our audit of related parties includes online searches 

of Companies House and Charity Commission 

records.  We do these searches to check the 

completeness of members and senior officers’ 

declarations. We established that one member and 

one senior officer had each failed to declare an 

interest. The overlooked interests were subsequently 

evaluated as part of our audit.  

The related-party audit adjustments are set out at 

page 16. 

Recommendation At the start of next year’s related party process, the 

Park Authority should formally remind all members 

and senior officers of the importance of declaring all 

influential positions and interests required per the 

guidance.  

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Management response Agreed 

Implementation date 31/3/22 

 

Page 121



 

Page 20 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Exhibit 6: matter arising 4 

Inappropriate sharing of a person’s ID log-in details 

Findings We established that during 2020-21 a senior officer 

had been permitted to use the then Chief Executive’s 

log-in details to the financial ledger. They had used 

the Chief Executive’s log-in details to authorise 

payments totalling £8,920, during the period 14 

September 2020 to 9 December 2020.  

Management explained to us that the arrangement 

had been necessary because of the Chief Executive’s 

absence at the time, and the high level of senior 

vacancies at the time and lack of cover.  

Recommendation The Park Authority should not let someone know 

another person’s log-in details and permit their use.  

When necessary, the Park Authority should enhance 

the access rights and/or delegated authority of an 

employee’s (or member’s) log-in details.  

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Management response Implemented 

Implementation date Immediate 

Exhibit 7: matter arising 5 

The Scheme of Delegation does not include references to ex-gratia payments 

Findings The Park Authority’s Chief Executive left on 31 March 

2021 and received an ex-gratia payment, as 

disclosed in the audited accounts.  

The payment was approved by the members of the 

Park Authority, under the Scheme of Delegation 

(SoD). We found however that the SoD does not 

Page 122



 

Page 21 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

cover ex-gratia payments. The SoD does have the 

following references for Park Authority decisions on 

employees:   

• ‘To determine and approve the terms and 
conditions, including amendments thereto, of 
employment of all employees.’ 

• ‘To deal with voluntary redundancies.’  

 

We consider that neither of these references are 

relevant to the Chief Executive’s exit.  

Recommendation The Park Authority should update its Scheme of 

Delegation so that it explicitly covers ex-gratia 

payments.  

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Management response The amended Scheme of Delegation will be updated. 

Implementation date 31/12/21 

Exhibit 8: matter arising 6 

Two members’ register of interests are not available to the public 

Findings At the time of our audit, we found that two members 

do not have their register of interests published on the 

Park Authority’s website.  

Recommendation The Park Authority should publish all members’ 

registers of interests and regularly check that they are 

up to date.   

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Page 123



 

Page 22 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Management response The register will be regularly checked 

Implementation date With immediate effect 

Exhibit 9: matter arising 7 

There is a weak process in place to keep track of employees’ leave 

Findings We established that the Park Authority does not have 

a central system, nor standard process, for managing 

and recording employees’ leave. Instead, the process 

applied and the documentation recorded are at the 

discretion of each line manager.  

To account for the year-end leave accrual for 

undertaken leave, the Park Authority therefore relies 

on the circularisation of its line managers. We found 

however that the response rate to have been poor, 

and that outstanding returns had not been pursued 

effectively by finance or HR officers.   

Recommendation For 2021-22, the Park Authority should prepare and 

introduce a mandated return for every line manager to 

complete and sign. The return should be provided by 

a line manager soon after 31 March 2022, for leave 

balances at that date, for all employees that they line 

manage.  

Looking longer term, the Park Authority should 

implement a standard system and/or process for the 

management of employees’ leave.  

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Management response Agreed 

Implementation date 31/3/22 

 

Page 124



 

Page 23 of 24 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Exhibit 10: matter arising 8 

The fixed asset register does not agree to the financial ledger 

Findings We found that there is a discrepancy of £87,253 

between the ledger and the fixed asset register. We 

are satisfied that the balance in the ledger and the 

accounts is correct and that the anomaly is within the 

register. 

Recommendation The Park Authority should investigate and rectify the 

anomaly in the register.  

The Park Authority should undertake and 

documented a periodic reconciliation of the fixed 

asset register to the ledger, doing so at least annually 

at the financial year-end.     

Accepted in full by 

management 

Agreed 

Management response Agreed 

Implementation date 31/3/2022 

 

Page 125



 

 

 

Audit Wales 

24 Cathedral Road 

Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 

Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 

Website: www.audit.wales 

We welcome correspondence and 
telephone calls in Welsh and English. 
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a 

galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. 

Page 126

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/


Auditor General for Wales
Audit Wales 
24 Cathedral Road
Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

26 November 2021

Representations regarding the 2020-21 financial statements

This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the year ended 31 March 2021 for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on their truth and fairness and their proper preparation.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 
consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you.

Management representations
Responsibilities
We have fulfilled our responsibilities for: 
 the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative requirements 

and the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK; in particular 
the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance therewith; and

 the design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent and 
detect fraud and error.

Information provided
We have provided you with:
 Full access to:

‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements such as books of account and supporting documentation, 
minutes of meetings and other matters;

‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 
audit; and

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to obtain 
audit evidence.

 The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

 Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and 
that affects the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and involves:

Page 127



‒ management;
‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

 Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or others.

 Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected 
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements.

 The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware.

Financial statement representations

 All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records 
and are reflected in the financial statements.

 Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those 
measured at fair value, are reasonable.

 Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for 
and disclosed.

 All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or 
disclosure have been adjusted for or disclosed.

 All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework.

 The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.  The 
effect of the one uncorrected misstatement identified during the audit is immaterial 
to the financial statements taken as a whole.  We have chosen not to amend it 
because, in the view of officers, the potential impact of the immaterial misstatement 
on the understanding of the statements is outweighed by the officer and audit time 
required to amend the related main statements and notes. 

Representations by the Park Authority
We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been discussed 
with us.
We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial statements 
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial statements 
were approved by the Authority on 26 November 2021.

Page 128



We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 
communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which you are unaware.

Signed by: Signed by:

Elaine Standen
Section 151 Officer 

Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe
Chair of National Park Authority

Date: 26 November 2021 Date: 26 November 2021

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Mark Jones
Audit Manager
Audit Wales
24 Cathedral Road  
Cardiff  
CF11 9LJ  
 
30 September 2021
 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 2020/21:  audit enquiries to those charged 
with governance and management

Dear Mark
 
Please find enclosed a completed copy of your appended table setting out our response to your 
letter of 21 June 2021on behalf of those charged with governance and management of the 
Authority.

Yours Sincerely, 

 

Catherine Mealing-Jones
Chief Executive  

Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe 
Chair of the National Park Authority 
 
 
 

Date:  30.09.2021 Date:  30.09.2021
 
 

Page 131



Appendix 

Matters in relation to fraud

International Standard for Auditing (UK and Ireland) 240 covers auditors’ responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial 
statements.

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both management and ‘those charged with governance’, which for the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is the National Park Authority, should ensure there is a strong emphasis on fraud prevention 
and deterrence and create a culture of honest and ethical behaviour, reinforced by active oversight by those charged with governance.

As external auditors, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement due to fraud or error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, considering the potential 
for management override of controls.

What are we required to do?

As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to consider the risks of material misstatement due to fraud. This includes 
understanding the arrangements management has put in place in respect of fraud risks. The ISA views fraud as either:

 the intentional misappropriation of assets (cash, property, etc); or

 the intentional manipulation or misstatement of the financial statements.

We also need to understand how the National Park Authority exercises oversight of management’s processes. We are also required to 
make enquiries of both management and the National Park Authority as to their knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 
for identifying and responding to the risks of fraud and the internal controls established to mitigate them.

P
age 132



Enquiries of management - in relation to fraud

Question 2020-21 Response

1. What is management’s 
assessment of the risk that 
the financial statements may 
be materially misstated due to 
fraud and what are the 
principal reasons? 

The risk is estimated to be relatively low but with some additional pressures caused by remote 
working as a result of Covid19.  The authority's normal governance arrangements, including 
financial systems, procedures and internal audit arrangements are well established and have 
been adapted to the requirement for online/virtual processes.  It is acknowledged that fraud 
risks have increased in general for the public sector since March 2020.  There is significant 
reliance on one single qualified individual to prepare the financial statements, with limited 
expertise internally to critically review the statements.  

2. What processes are 
employed to identify and 
respond to the risks of fraud 
more generally and specific 
risks of misstatement in the 
financial statements?

. Reconciliation and tiered authorisation processes are employed for key expenditure items 
such as the payment of suppliers, grants and payroll.  Receipt of income and the establishment 
of debtors is subject to independent checks and authorisation procedures.  The separation of 
duties between processing and accounting roles acts to reduce the risk of fraud and error. 
External auditors undertake a review of key systems and sample transactions annually. 
Weaknesses identified by internal audit are reported and addressed. IT controls and 
safeguards are updated in response to known threats.                                                                
A full review of IT security arrangements was undertaken in 2020 in response to the cyber 
attack experienced in September.  Data management and access controls were reviewed and 
developed to reduce the risk of a future attack.  Financial systems were not impacted by the 
attack.  Internal auditors review key financial control systems on a rolling basis and report to 
both senior management and the Audit and Scrutiny Committee on their findings.

P
age 133



Some impact on systems from Covid19 and the remote operation of the organisation has been 
experienced.  Processes requiring signatures, verification of documents and access to specific 
systems have had to be adapted for remote use.  

3. What arrangements are in 
place to report fraud issues 
and risks to the Audit 
Committee?

 Any identified case of fraud would be reported to Senior Management and the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee as provided for in the Fraud and Corruption Policy.  The Authority has a 
Whistleblowing Policy to provide a mechanism for concerns to be reported by any member of 
the organisation.
High level risks, including any that emerge in relation to fraud, are reviewed by the Corporate 
Governance Team and quarterly by the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.    A subsidiary more 
detailed risk register is in place for finance.  Internal audit are able to report direct to the 
Committee if actual or potential fraud is reported to them or identified in the course of an audit.P
age 134



Enquiries of management - in relation to fraud

4. How has management 
communicated expectations 
of ethical governance and 
standards of conduct and 
behaviour to all relevant 
parties, and when?

The Staff Code of Conduct was approved on 25/6/19.  All staff were required to confirm that 
they had read the Code during the year.

Key documents such as HR Policies and related Management Guides, Standing Orders in 
relation to Contracts and the associated guidance, Financial Regulations, the Fraud and 
Corruption Policy and Whistleblowing Policy set out the standard of conduct required.  
Induction of new staff addresses the Code of Conduct.  

Members’ standards of conduct are established through a separate Code, the work of the 
independent Standards Committee, annual performance reviews, training events, and the 
Governance and Member Development Working Group.  
Staff are required to declare any personal relationship when requesting that new suppliers be 
set up.  
Applicants for roles with the Authority are required to declare relationships with current 
employees or Authority Members. 

5. Are you aware of any 
instances of actual, suspected 
or alleged fraud within the 

The authority was subject to a ransomware attack in September 2020.  While not strictly fraud, 
the method of attack was identified to be malicious software concealed within an email.  No 
ransom was paid, although some data was damaged by encryption.

P
age 135



audited body since 1 April 
2020?

6. Are you aware of any fraud 
within the services 
organisations used since 1 
April 2020? 

No

P
age 136



Enquiries of those charged with governance – in relation to fraud

Question 2020-21 Response

1. How does the National Park 
Authority exercise oversight of 
management's processes for 
identifying and responding to 
the risks of fraud within the 
audited body and the internal 
control that management has 
established to mitigate those 
risks?

All minutes and agendas of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee are available to all members of 
the Authority and minutes are included in the Authority agendas.  The responsibility for this 
area is delegated to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.  The Standards Committee (made up of 
independent members) also has oversight of governance standards in general.

2. Are you aware of any 
instances of actual, suspected 
or alleged fraud with the 
audited body since 1 April 
2020?

The authority was subject to a ransomware attack in September 2020.  While not strictly fraud, 
the method of attack was identified to be malicious software concealed within an email.  No 
ransom was paid, although some data was damaged by encryption.

P
age 137



Matters in relation to laws and regulations

International Standard for Auditing (UK and Ireland) 250 covers auditors’ responsibilities to consider the impact of laws and 
regulations in an audit of financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, the National Park Authority, is responsible for ensuring that the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s operations are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations, including compliance 
with those that determine the reported amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

As external auditors, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement due to fraud or error, taking into account the appropriate legal and regulatory framework. The ISA distinguishes two 
different categories of laws and regulations:

 laws and regulations that have a direct effect on determining material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements;

 other laws and regulations where compliance may be fundamental to the continuance of operations, or to avoid material 
penalties.

What are we required to do?

As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to make inquiries of management and the National Park Authority as to 
whether the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is in compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Where we become aware of 
information of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance we need to gain an understanding of the non-compliance and the 
possible effect on the financial statements.

P
age 138



Enquiries of management – in relation to laws and regulations

Question 2020-21 Response

1. How have you gained 
assurance that all relevant 
laws and regulations have 
been complied with?

The Authority’s staffing structure and recruitment processes ensures that suitably professionally 
qualified staff are appointed to key roles in Planning, Finance, Ecology, Built Heritage, and the 
Monitoring Officer.  Provision has been made through external procurement and service level 
agreements with external expertise to obtain, where required, advice in specialist areas such as 
health and safety, employment, planning, data protection and property law in relation to 
individual matters.  The Authority operates a staged complaints process which ensures that 
issues raised are fully investigated, reported and escalated where appropriate.  

2. Have there been any 
instances of non-compliance 
or suspected non-compliance 
with relevant laws and 
regulations since 1 April 
2020, or earlier with an 
ongoing impact on the 2020-
21 financial statements?

The Authority received a number of Development Management-related complaints concerning 
potential breaches of planning legislation in individual cases and one instance was identified of 
a breach of Data Protection Regulations.  An appeal against a 2018 planning decision was 
awarded against the Authority, with costs, in 2021/22.  The amount awarded would not have a 
material impact on the financial statements. 

One planning matter is ongoing due to the impact of Covid regulations on the substance of the 
complaint.  The impact on the financial statements, if any, is uncertain and cannot be quantified; 
a non-financial remedy may be available.

3. Are there any potential 
litigations or claims that 

No 

P
age 139



would affect the financial 
statements?

P
age 140



Enquiries of management – in relation to laws and regulations

4. Have there been any reports 
from other regulatory bodies, 
such as HM Revenues and 
Customs which indicate non-
compliance?

No

5. Are you aware of any non-
compliance with laws and 
regulations within the service 
organisations used since 1 
April 2020?

No

P
age 141



Enquiries of those charged with governance – in relation to laws and regulations

Question 2020-21 Response

1. How does the National Park 
Authority, in its role as those 
charged with governance, 
obtain assurance that all 
relevant laws and regulations 
have been complied with? 

Arrangements for reporting and oversight are set out in the Scheme of Delegation.  Confidential 
reports on significant issues are made to the Authority or one of its Committees as appropriate.  
Further independent scrutiny and reporting by the Standards Committee, internal and external 
auditors provide assurance and challenge to the Authority.  

2. Are you aware of any 
instances of non-compliance 
with relevant laws and 
regulations?

All complaints and related legal risks are reported to the Authority through the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee.  Other matters would be reported if significant.

P
age 142



Matters in relation to related parties

International Standard for Auditing (UK and Ireland) 550 covers auditors’ responsibilities relating to related party relationships and 
transactions.

The nature of related party relationships and transactions may, in some circumstances, give rise to higher risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements than transactions with unrelated parties. 

Because related parties are not independent of each other, many financial reporting frameworks establish specific accounting and 
disclosure requirements for related party relationships, transactions and balances to enable users of the financial statements to 
understand their nature and actual or potential effects on the financial statements. An understanding of the entity's related party 
relationships and transactions is relevant to the auditor's evaluation of whether one or more fraud risk factors are present as required 
by ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, because fraud may be more easily committed through related parties.

What are we required to do?

As part of our risk assessment procedures, we are required to perform audit procedures to identify, assess and respond to the risks of 
material misstatement arising from the entity's failure to appropriately account for or disclose related party relationships, transactions 
or balances in accordance with the requirements of the framework.

P
age 143



Enquiries of management – in relation to related parties

Question 2020-21 Responses

1. Confirm that you have 
disclosed to the auditor:
 the identity of any related 

parties, including changes 
from the prior period;

 the nature of the 
relationships with these 
related parties; and

 details of any transactions 
with these related parties 
entered into during the 
period, including the type 
and purpose of the 
transactions.

Yes

Yes

Yes

2. What controls are in place to 
identify, authorise, approve, 
account for and disclose 
related party transactions and 
relationships?

Staff in positions of control within the Authority are required to declare annually any 
external interests where a material financial transaction has taken place with the Authority 
during the year.  Members are required to complete a register of interests and to formally 
declare as part of the proceedings of each Authority or Committee meeting any personal 
interest which may impact on a decision made by the Authority

P
age 144



Key documents such as HR Policies, the Code of Conduct, the Fraud and Corruption 
Policy and related Management Guides, set out the standard of conduct and declarations 
required.  Induction of new staff addresses the Code of Conduct.  

Members’ standards of conduct are established through a separate Code, the work of the 
independent Standards Committee, annual performance reviews, training events, and the 
Governance and Member Development Working Group.  

Staff are required to declare any personal relationship when requesting that new suppliers 
be set up.  Applicants for roles with the Authority are required to declare any relationships 
with current employees or Authority Members. 

P
age 145



Enquiries of the those charged with governance – in relation to related parties

Question 2020-21 Responses

1. How does the National Park 
Authority, in its role as those 
charged with governance, 
exercise oversight of 
management's processes to 
identify, authorise, approve, 
account for and disclose 
related party transactions and 
relationships?

Members are required to complete a register of interests and to formally declare as part 
of the proceedings of each Authority or Committee meeting any personal interest which 
may impact on a decision made by the Authority.

All the notes and disclosures in the Statement of Accounts are reviewed in draft by the 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee and, once audited, approved by the Authority.

Governance Matters are audited both externally and internally on an annual basis and the 
outcome of all audits is reported to the Authority either directly or through the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee.

P
age 146



Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales:  Draft Report 2022-23

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 26 November 2021

Report Author
Julia Gruffydd

Job title Democratic Services Manager

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 
07976 812832

Purpose of Report To advise members of the opportunity to comment on the 
draft report and agree any corporate response

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Draft Report of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales for 2022/23

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) To agree any corporate response to the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales on 
their draft report for 2022/23;

b) To note that individual members are able to 
respond direct to the Panel if they wish.

1.1 Introduction or Background

The IPRW is the body set up by the Welsh Government to determine allowances for 
members of public bodies in Wales.  Each year it produces a draft report for 
consultation with relevant authorities, and publishes a final version usually in February.  
The draft report has been published and a link for this is given above.

Page 147

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2022-2023
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2022-2023


Because of the local government elections in 2022 the current allowances for principal 
authorities will remain in place until 8 May 2022; for National Park Authorities the new 
allowances will apply from 1 April 2022.

In drafting their report the Panel recognise that “levels of remuneration need to be set at a 
level sufficient to encourage a diversity of willing and able people to undertake local governance 
through elected, appointed or co-opted roles”. However, it also has regard to the financial 
implications of its decisions, while pointing out that remuneration has not kept pace 
with inflation as a result of pressure on public finances.

1.2 Proposals

A summary of proposals relating to National Park Authorities is as follows:

 Increase in Basic Salary of £685 pa
 Figures rounded up for Senior Salaries*
 No increase for co-opted members (ie independent members of Standards 

Committee)
 Cost of care and personal assistance: under current HMRC rules full 

reimbursement is not possible so this has been retitled to ‘contribution’.  This 
allowance is quite complex and is summarised in Table 8 on page 36 of the IRPW 
Report. It includes a requirement for the Authority to promote a positive 
culture in respect of claiming this allowance.  The Authority approved a specific 
Cost of Care policy in 2019 and this will be reviewed once the final IRPW 
Report is published for 2022/23.

 No changes to reimbursement of subsistence and travel costs
 No changes to sickness absence arrangements for senior salary holders

*On querying the apparent increase of just £1 in the Senior Salaries the Panel advised that they 
had completed a comprehensive review of benchmarking and of the differentials of the basic 
and senior salaries of principal councils. The 2022 Draft Report increases the basic salary and 
re- aligns Band 1 and 2 senior payments (leaders, deputy leaders and executive 
members).Other senior salary holders (Bands 3,4 and 5) receive an increase in their basic 
salary but their senior responsibility element is frozen as these senior salaries were realigned in 
2019. The position on chairs and deputy chairs is outlined in 3.12 and Table 4.
 
Consequentially, all NPA members receive an increase in their basic salary based on 44 days.
 
However, as the salary of an NPA Chair is set at Band 3 to align with the senior salary element 
of a committee chair of a principal council (7.7), and NPA deputy chairs and committee chairs 
are set at Band 5, apart from the £1 rounding as explained above, there is no increase in the 
senior element of NPA salaries.

The Authority is invited to make any corporate response to the draft report, to be 
forwarded to the Panel by the Democratic Services Manager, or to make individual 
representations direct to the Panel.

Page 148

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecSDDisplayClassic.aspx?NAME=SD3938&ID=3938&RPID=3930325&sch=doc&cat=13087&path=13087


1.3 Implications

The financial impact of the increase in Basic and Senior Salaries is as follows:

Allowance Current £ Proposed £ Increase per 
member £

Impact on budget 
£

Basic Salary 4053 4738 685 12330
Chair NPA Senior Salary 8792 8793 1 1
Deputy Chair NPA Senior 
Salary 3739 3740 1 1
Chair PAROW Senior Salary 3739 3740 1 1
Chair ASC Senior Salary 3739 3740 1 1

Total 12334

1.4 Risk

The IRPW was established in order to make decisions on remuneration to members of  
bodies and takes many factors into consideration when making recommendations on an 
appropriate level of remuneration.  They advise that if any member wishes to opt out of 
receiving all or any of the allowances, or the proposed increase, they are required to 
put this in writing to the Proper Officer.  The Authority highlights this requirement to 
new members at the induction stage.

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to note the proposals contained in the report and agree how they 
wish to respond.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To agree any corporate response to the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales on their draft report for 2022/23;

b) To note that individual members are able to respond direct to the Panel 
if they wish.

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Changes to Committee Membership

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 26 November 2021

Report Author
Julia Gruffydd

Job title Democratic Services Manager

Contact Details Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
07976 812832

Purpose of Report To fill vacancies on key committees following a change in 
membership of the Authority

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1:  Current Committee Membership

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendations a) To appoint one local government member to the 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee until the next 
Annual General Meeting.

b) To appoint one member to the Sustainable 
Development Committee until the next Annual 
General Meeting: if no Welsh Government 
member is available then this to be a local 
government member.

c) To consider whether to appoint a Member 
Champion for Sustainable Economic 
Development until the next Annual General 
Meeting.

1.1 Introduction or Background

Following the resignation of three local government members there are some vacancies 
on committees that need to be filled to ensure we are quorate for meetings and that 
the business of the Authority can be carried out effectively with appropriate 
participation from all members.

Page 151

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.2 Proposals

Vacancies are as follows:

1.2.1 Audit and Scrutiny:  Vacancy for one local government member following the 
resignation of Cllr Jon Williams.  New Merthyr Tydfil member, Cllr Jeremy Davies, has 
experience with audit and scrutiny and has expressed interest in sitting on this 
committee.

1.2.2:  Sustainable Development Fund Committee:  Vacancy for one local government 
member following the resignation of Cllr Jon Williams.  The committee is required to 
have a balance of 2:1 local government/Welsh Government appointed members but at 
the AGM this year only one Welsh Government member was appointed to the 
committee and the Authority opted to appoint five local government members rather 
than the usual four.  If a Welsh Government member were to express interest now in 
standing, then there would be no need for a local government member to be appointed.  
Members are asked to consider this.

1.2.3 Member Champion for Sustainable Economic Development:  Vacancy due to 
the resignation of Cllr Iain McIntosh.  Members may wish to appoint to this role or 
delay pending further discussions on the role of the member champion to be carried out 
as part of the wider work on roles and responsibilities.  Cllr Graham Thomas is 
currently the Shadow Champion.

1.3 Implications

It is a matter of good governance to maintain numbers on committees.  The role of 
Audit and Scrutiny in particular is key in addressing budget and performance, and also to 
oversee progress on the Audit Wales Action Plan. 

1.4 Risk

It is advisable to fill the vacancies on the two committees to ensure we have proper 
representation and to facilitate meetings being quorate.  

1.5 Conclusion

Members are asked to consider filling the vacancies set out in the report.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To appoint one local government member to the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee until the next Annual General Meeting.

Page 152



b) To appoint one member to the Sustainable Development Committee until 
the next Annual General Meeting: if no Welsh Government member is 
available then this to be a local government member.

c) To consider whether to appoint a Member Champion for Sustainable 
Economic Development until the next Annual General Meeting.

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



 BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP – 2020-21

NB. Some working groups/external appointments were not considered at the AGM 
following the Authority decision on 5 July 2021 to defer consideration of these matters. 
These are ‘greyed out’ in the committee list below.

THE AUTHORITY AND ITS COMMITTEES

Chair of Authority Cllr G Ratcliffe
Deputy Chair of Authority Liz Davis

Planning, Access & Rights of Way Committee (18 members)

Local Authority Appointed Members Welsh Government Appointed 
Members

Cllr E Roderick (Deputy Chair) Mr J Stedman (Chair)
Cllr M Jones Mr J Marsden
Cllr G Ratcliffe Mr C Coppock
Cllr G Williams Ms S Holden
Cllr S McNicholas Rev A Edwards
Cllr K Lewis Liz Davis
Cllr A Webb
Cllr A James
Cllr J Hill
Cllr S Evans
Cllr J Davies
Cllr G Thomas

Local Authority Appointed Members Welsh Government Appointed 
Members

Audit and Scrutiny Committee (6 LA appointed and 3 WG appointed members)

Cllr A James (Chair) Mr J Marsden
Cllr A Webb Mr A Edwards 
Cllr G Thomas Mr C Coppock
Cllr J Hill
Cllr S Evans (Deputy Chair)

Vacancy

Standards Committee
Cllr A Webb Ms S Holden 
Cllr A James

Independent Members
Pam Hibbert
Claire Moore

Page 155



Martin Veale

Appointments Committee (Chairs of NPA, PAROW and Audit and Scrutiny Committee plus 
up to 3 further members to a maximum of 9)

Cllr G Ratcliffe (Chair) Mr J Stedman
Cllr A James Liz Davis
Cllr J Hill Ms S Holden
Cllr E Roderick Appointments: GR/ER/LD
Cllr S Evans Appeals: AJ/Vacancy/JS
Cllr A Webb

Local Access Forum Selection Panel

Chair and Deputy Chair of Planning, Access and 
Rights of Way Committee, Member Champions 
for Landscape and Biodiversity, and Resilient 
Communities

Mr J Stedman, Cllr E Roderick, Mr J 
Marsden and the Resilient Communities 
Champion (TBA)

Sustainable Development Fund Committee

Cllr M Jones (Chair) Mr A Edwards (Deputy Chair)
Cllr J Hill Vacancy (Not filled at AGM – decision to go 

with 5 Local Government members)
Cllr E Roderick
Cllr A Webb
Vacancy
Advisory Committees

Policy Forum All members of the National Park 
Authority 

Policy Forum Chair Cllr G Thomas
Policy Forum Deputy Chair Not appointed

Meithrin Mynydd Advisory Group (tied to champion role and Carms membership)

Cllr A James Mr J Marsden (Landscape and Biodiversity 
Champion)

Cllr E Roderick

Working Groups

Governance and Member Development Working Group ( 6 members – 4 LA/2WG 
appointed)

Cllr G Ratcliffe Mr Chris Coppock (Chair)
Cllr J Hill Mrs Sue Holden 
Cllr E Roderick Liz Davis

Page 156



Affordable Housing Working Group – 2 Powys, 1 Monmouthshire, 1 
Carmarthenshire, 2 Welsh Government appointed
   Cllr M Jones Mr J Stedman

Cllr S McNicholas Mr C Coppock
Cllr A Webb
Cllr A James

Policy Programme Group (up to 6 members to include the 
Chair and Deputy Chair of the Policy 
Forum)

Cllr G Thomas Mr J Marsden
Cllr A James L Davis

Mr J Stedman

Accommodation Working Group (6 members)
Cllr A Webb Mr J Marsden
Cllr E Roderick Ms S Holden
Cllr J Hill Mr C Coppock

Waterfalls  Task and Finish Group (6 members)
Cllr G Thomas Mr C Coppock
Cllr E Roderick Mr J Marsden
Cllr S McNicholas
Merthyr representative

Member Champions Member Champions (Shadow 
members in brackets)

Equality and Diversity Rev A Edwards (Cllr A James)
Welsh Language Cllr E Roderick (Cllr S McNicholas)
Landscape and Biodiversity Mr J Marsden (Mrs S Holden)
Heritage Mr J Stedman (Cllr J Hill)
Resilient Communities Vacancy (Liz Davis) 
Sustainable Economic Development Vacancy (Cllr G Thomas)
Volunteers Cllr G Ratcliffe  (Ms S Holden)

Representation on External Bodies

National Parks UK (Chair of the Authority, Deputy to 
substitute)

National Parks Wales (Chair and Deputy Chair of the Authority)
Welsh Local Government Association 
(Council) – also three Park representative 
on the Co-ordinating Committee) – LA 
member

Chair or Deputy Chair (local Authority 
appointed member)

Member Sponsor for Research Prospectus Mr J Marsden

Regional Strategic Planning Groups 
South East Cllr A Webb
South West Cllr G Thomas

Page 157



Regional Technical Statement Member 
Forum

Mr J Stedman

Alliance of Welsh National Parks Chair of the Authority

Brecknock Access Group Cllr E Roderick

Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership 
Board 

Cllr S Evans

Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal Steering 
Group

Mr J Stedman

Powys Public Service Board Scrutiny 
Committee (non-Powys members only)

L Davis
1st reserve: Cllr J Hill
2nd reserve:  Cllr S Evans

Dark Skies Sue Holden
Black Mountain Land Use Partnership Cllr E Roderick
Appointment of Directors

Biodiversity Information Service (1 
member)

Cllr A James

Page 158



Brecon Town Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 26th November 2021

Report Author Helen Lucocq/Helen Roderick

Job title Strategy and Policy Manager/Stakeholder Manager

Contact Details Helen.Lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk
Helen.roderick@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To request approval of the Brecon Town Plan 

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The LDP has been subject to SIA and found to provide 
positive impacts across the four pillars of sustainability.  
Brecon Town Plan seeks to implement the objectives 
of the LDP at the local level, therefore we conclude 
positive benefits.

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Brecon Town Plan – Draft supplementary 
planning guidance

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) Members approve the Brecon Town Plan as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance

1.1 Introduction or Background

The draft Brecon Town Plan was approved for consultation on 11th February 2020, initially for an 
eight week consultation period.  This consultation was extended due to the deficit created by the 
Covid 19 pandemic.  The final consultation responses were incorporated into the document 
during 2021 and due to the latest NRW advice on Covid the plan required a Habitats Regulation 
Assessment by NRW.  

NRW stated “Thank you for providing a copy of your Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) for the 
Brecon Town Plan. We have read both the Town Plan and the HRA screening document and offer the 
following comments.
 
We note that the Town Plan contains a number of ‘general statements of policy’ and cross references back 
to the Brecon Local Development Plan (LDP) policies. On this basis much of the Plans content has been 
screened out in your HRA. Having considered each section of the Town Plan and reviewed Appendix 2 
(Screening conclusions) of your HRA, we agree that there are no specific projects or plans listed within the 

Page 159

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Helen.Lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk
mailto:Helen.roderick@beacons-npa.gov.uk


2

documents that we consider require further detailed HRA screening and consideration of whether they are 
likely to have an adverse effect on the River Usk Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
 
We note that projects that could increase the discharge of phosphorous into the River Usk SAC catchment 
should be assessed on their own merits under LDP policies and should be subject to individual HRA screening 
either alone or in combination with other plans and projects as recognised on page 6 of the plan.
 
Having considered the plan in full and the screening of each element, we agree with your overall conclusion 
in the HRA that the plans is not likely to have a significant effect, either alone or in combination and will 
have no adverse impact upon the integrity of the SAC. “

While Covid has led to a delay in the final plan approval many of the actions contained in the plan 
have been/are being progressed. Once approved by the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, 
Brecon Town Council and Powys County Council will be asked to approve the plan, although 
both have been fully involved as members of the Brecon 20:20 Steering Group.

1.2 Proposals

To approve Brecon Town Plan as Supplementary Planning Guidance

1.3 Implications and risk

There are no significant risks to the Authority in relation to the proposed draft Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

1.4 Conclusion

Brecon 20:20 have undertaken extensive work with the community to develop a comprehensive 
action plan for the future wellbeing of residents of Brecon. This document will ensure that future 
planning applications within Brecon are determined in accordance with community aspirations. 
Moreover this is only the third plan of its kind within the National Park, its success will provide 
inspiration for other communities to undertake similar work and so further the NPA’s 
understanding of our communities need.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

Members approve the Brecon Town Plan as Supplementary Planning Guidance

Page 160



1Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Brecon 20:20
Our Town: Our Future 

Community Derived Action Plan

Brecon Town Plan

Draft Supplementary Planning Guidance

Page 163



2

Contents
1. Introduction.................................................................................................................................................................3
2. Plan production...........................................................................................................................................................3
3. Town Plan Purpose ....................................................................................................................................................4
4. Brecon Town Plan as Supplementary Planning guidance...................................................................................4
4.2. What is Supplementary Planning Guidance ..........................................................................................................5
4.3. Local Development Plan Context for Brecon .....................................................................................................5
4.4. Brecon Issues and Objectives..................................................................................................................................8
4.5       Other Relevant Strategies and Plans ......................................................................................................................9
5.Section 1: Streetscene .................................................................................................................................................10
5.1        The Existing Situation .............................................................................................................................................10
5.1 What does that mean for the future?..................................................................................................................11
5.2 How are we going to address the issues? ..........................................................................................................11
6.Section 2: Parking and Traffic ..................................................................................................................................13
6.1 The Existing Situation..............................................................................................................................................13
6.2 What you told us about Parking and Traffic ......................................................................................................14
6.3 How are we going to address the issues? ..........................................................................................................14
7.Section 3: Retail and Market.....................................................................................................................................17
7.1 The Existing Problem ..............................................................................................................................................17
7.2 What you told us about Retail and Market........................................................................................................19
7.3 How are we going to address the issues? ..........................................................................................................20
8.Section 4: Community Facilities and Services .................................................................................................23
8.1 The Existing Situation..............................................................................................................................................23
8.2 What you told us about Community Facilities..................................................................................................24
8.3 How are we going to address the issues? ..........................................................................................................24
9.Section 5: Housing .........................................................................................................................................................27
9.1 The Existing Situation..............................................................................................................................................27
9.2 What you told us about Housing in Brecon ......................................................................................................28
9.3 How are we going to address the issues? ..........................................................................................................28
10.Section 6: Arts and Culture ....................................................................................................................................31
10.1 Existing Position........................................................................................................................................................31
10.2 What you told us about Arts and Culture.........................................................................................................32
10.3 How are we going to address the issues? ..........................................................................................................32
11.Section 7: Greenspaces and Sport.......................................................................................................................35
11.1 Existing situation.......................................................................................................................................................35
11.2 What you told us .....................................................................................................................................................36
11.3 What we are proposing to do?.............................................................................................................................37
12.Section 8: Energy and Climate Change ............................................................................................................42
12.1 Existing situation.......................................................................................................................................................42
12.2 Challenges ..................................................................................................................................................................43
12.3 What you told us .....................................................................................................................................................43
12.4 What are we proposing to do ..............................................................................................................................44
Appendix 1................................................................................................................................................................................46
Appendix 2................................................................................................................................................................................48

Page 164



3

1. Introduction  

1.1. This is the Town Plan for Brecon.  The plan is based upon evidence including the 
issues and objectives identified by residents and stakeholders within Brecon. It 
draws on material gathered, analysed and consulted upon over the last three years 
and addresses key concerns and issues relating to the future vitality and 
sustainability of the Town.

1.2. The purpose of entering into the Town Plan process is to bring together all 
stakeholders with an interest in the future of Brecon to agree an action plan for the 
sustainable development of the town that takes account of both aspirations and 
current likely future needs.

1.3. The plan also contains detailed policies addressing issues of importance for the 
Town.  These policies complement those currently in force within the following 
statutory documents and in line with the Welsh Government’s Well-being of Future 
Generations Act; the aim of these policies is to apply the strategic policies to 
Brecon’s specific local circumstances: -

• Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan:                               
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/

• Brecon Beacons National Park Authority adopted Local Development Plan:  
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/brecon-beacons-
national-park-local-development-plan/

• Powys County Council Vision 2025:             
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/5809/Vision-2025-Our-Corporate-Improvement-Plan-
2018-2023 

2. Plan production

1.4. This plan has been developed through evidence gathering including a detailed 
programme of consultation and stakeholder participation.  Results of the residents’ 
survey are available via the Brecon Town Council website 
(https://brecontowncouncil.org.uk/) 

1.5. Initially a group of interested parties came together to form the Brecon 20:20 
steering group which worked to identify the main issues facing the town that should 
be included in a survey of residents.

1.6. The survey had a 25% response rate with 895 questionnaires completed, which 
compares with a national average response rate of 20%.

1.7. A survey report was produced in May 2019 and a stakeholder workshop was held 
to develop an action plan.  Sections of the action plan were then discussed in detail 
with a wider stakeholder group relevant to each section, refining the action plan.  

Page 165

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/brecon-beacons-national-park-local-development-plan/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/brecon-beacons-national-park-local-development-plan/
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/5809/Vision-2025-Our-Corporate-Improvement-Plan-2018-2023
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/5809/Vision-2025-Our-Corporate-Improvement-Plan-2018-2023
https://brecontowncouncil.org.uk/


4

Steering group members then completed their section of the action plan and this 
has been used to further refine the action plan to bring it to this final version.  
Comments from the consultation were assessed and the plan amended accordingly.

3. Town Plan Purpose

1.8. The Plan will have a dual function

 It will integrate the work of Brecon Town Council (BTC) and many other organisations 
working towards improving the wellbeing of Brecon for now and for future generations.

  It will, when adopted by the BBNPA, become a key document in the determination of 
planning applications within Brecon, where appropriate.

1.9. Having an agreed Town Plan in place also provides evidence for applications for funding to 
help with the delivery of actions within it.

1.10.The plan is divided into eight sections. Inevitably some actions contribute to more than one 
area.

1.11.The sections are:

1. Streetscene

2. Parking and Traffic

3. Retail and Market

4. Community Facilities and Services

5. Housing 

6. Arts and Culture

7. Greenspaces and Sport

8. Energy and Climate Change

4. Brecon Town Plan as Supplementary Planning guidance 

4.1.1. Brecon lies within the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.  This means that all planning 
decisions are made by the National Park Authority.  The National Park Authority has an 
adopted Local Development Plan (LDP), which sets out planning policy and defines areas of 
land to meet housing and employment needs up until 2022.  Brecon is identified as the Primary 
Key Settlement for the National Park.  This Town Plan has been prepared, in part, to provide 
further context to that definition for the National Park Authority, to ensure that all future 
planning applications within Brecon, where relevant, are compliant with the community defined 
actions of the Town Plan.  

4.1.2.To deliver this, it is proposed that Brecon Town Plan will be endorsed as Supplementary 
Planning Guidance to the Local Development Plan.  This is proposed in accordance with the 

Page 166



5

Welsh Government’s provisions for Place Plans as set out in Planning Policy Wales (edition 
10).

4.2. What is Supplementary Planning Guidance

4.2.1. Supplementary Planning Guidance is prepared in order to provide greater detail on policy than 
can be contained within the Local Development Plan.  This additional detail provides clarity on 
the issues that will be considered by the BBNPA in the determination of a planning application. 
Supplementary Planning Guidance can be place or policy specific, for example it could provide 
further detail regarding the implementation of a specific planning policy, or provide a 
development brief for future development sites.

4.2.2. In this instance the Town Plan provides supplementary planning guidance to Local 
Development Plan Brecon policy B LP1.  It is intended that any planning application submitted 
within Brecon, will be considered against the relevant areas of the Town Plan.  Only proposals 
that are compliant with the relevant areas of the Brecon Town Plan will be granted planning 
permission.  Further detail regarding the policy this document supplements is set out below.

4.3. Local Development Plan Context for Brecon

4.3.1.As set out above Brecon is listed as the Primary Key Settlement within the Local Development 
Plan.  It is the principal settlement within the National Park identifying Brecon as a centre of 
importance to Central Wales with strong economic, social and cultural links to the adjoining 
areas of south east and south west Wales. This is, in part, due to the strategic location of 
Brecon at the interchange of the A40 and A470 with links to the A465 Heads of the Valley 
road, which defines Brecon as a connecting hub between south and Mid Wales with the 
potential to capitalise on the richness and diversity of both regions. 

4.3.2.The Local Development Plan addresses the Primary Key Settlement in some detail setting out 
the issues and objectives that were identified facing the town in terms of future development 
needs.  These issues for Brecon are set out at Appendix 2 of this document.

4.3.3.These issues resulted in the following vision being developed for the future development of 
Brecon:

Brecon 15 Year Vision

Brecon will be internationally recognised as a place synonymous with inspirational 
activity, linked to local excellence in the creative arts and the inspiring experience of the 
landscape setting.  The town will be known as a cultural centre contributing to the 
strong and vibrant tourist economy within the town. 

The retail function of Brecon will continue to reflect the character of the town’s 
individuality, National retailers and independents will exist side by side providing interest 
and services to visitor and resident alike. In combination, the hospitality industry will 

Page 167



6

continue to grow within the town, allowing visitors to stay for extended periods with 
many things to see and do.

New small and medium sized enterprises will have been encouraged to become a part 
of the dynamic and exciting town and will capitalise on opportunities to locate within 
the centre.  Brecon will enjoy a vibrant mix of businesses and employment types of 
varying degrees of scale and regional influence. Ventures relating to local food 
production and traditional crafts will proliferate making Brecon a centre of dynamic 
rural enterprise, helping build a strong local economy which will secure the strategic 
significance of this strong market town in the 21st Century.

The disparity in wealth and deprivation levels in some parts of the town will be 
counteracted through strong local action to provide a wider range of employment 
options and to address the standard of residential accommodation. A wide range of 
people will live and work within Brecon, and new housing will cater for this diverse 
range of people.  Affordable housing and intermediate low cost homes provision will be 
improved and those inappropriately housed will be reduced to minimal levels.

The Settlement will become key in a wider move towards more sustainable forms of 
transport and will become a sustainable transport hub, with excellent connections to 
outlying areas and Key Settlements via public transport.

4.3.4.This vision for Brecon is in part implemented through Policy B LP1 which sets out the forms of 
development which are considered acceptable within Brecon thus:-

B LP1 Brecon Appropriate Development

Proposals for development within the Primary Key Settlement of Brecon 

All proposals will be required to contribute positively to settlement character and 
enhance the quality of the landscape without adverse impact on the wildlife, natural 
beauty, cultural heritage, environmental assets or biodiversity of the settlement

All proposals for development within the Primary Key Settlement of Brecon must 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the NPA how they respond to the identified issues 
set out at table 4.3 and how the scheme will contribute to achieving the Brecon 15 year 
Future Vision.

Within the Primary Key Settlement of Brecon all proposals for development or change 
of use of land or buildings must be located within the Settlement boundary as shown on 
the Proposals Map (with the exception of those developments covered by Policies, 
which enable development outside of limits. See E LP 1 below).  Within the Settlement 
Boundary the following forms of development will be considered acceptable:

1. Proposals that strengthen and enhance the mix of housing types and tenure options 
within the town, responsive to the demographic needs of the area and region, on land 
identified as being within environmental limits;

2. Regeneration proposals within the Town centre that strengthen and enhance the social 
and cultural status of the town, and are commensurate with the historic significance of the 
architecture and Settlement form;

3. Proposals that strengthen and enhance retail provision within the town appropriate to the 

Page 168



7

Settlement character and in accordance with the defined retail centre for the town as 
shown on the Proposals Maps (See also SP13 and Policy 42).

4. Proposals of an appropriate scale and type relevant to Brecon’s form and character that 
work to reduce the carbon and ecological footprint of the Town and its region. 

5. Proposals that strengthen and enhance the tourism offer within Brecon in accordance with 
the Sustainable Tourism Strategy for the National Park including appropriate new guest 
accommodation and the creation of appropriate new visitor attractions / facilities. 

6. Proposals to strengthen and enhance the provision of community facilities serving the 
Town and region. 

7. Proposals that strengthen and enhance sustainable forms of access to the town and wider 
region in accordance with the vision to make Brecon a Sustainable Transport Hub. 

8. Proposals that strengthen and enhance employment opportunities within the town 
utilising mixed use sites and/or live-work schemes serving the town and region.

4.3.5.This consultation draft Supplementary Planning Guidance is intended to aid in the delivery of 
the 15 year vision and the above policy.

4.3.6. In addition to the above, the following table sets out the cross references between the Town 
Plan and the detailed policy of the Local Development Plan.  Where a planning application is to 
be considered against a policy listed below, the determination should take into consideration 
how the proposal has addressed the contents of the relevant chapter of the Local 
Development Plan.

Local Development Plan Policy Town Plan Section
B LP1 Key Settlement (criteria 5)
Policy 50 Retention of Existing Community Facilities
Policy 51 Development of New or Extended Community 
Facilities
Policy 53 Planning Obligations

Community

K LP1 Key Settlement (criteria 6) 
Policy 35 Employment Generating Development
Policy 36 Enabling B Use Class Employment Use outside 
Settlement Boundaries and Settlement Extents
Policy 37 Protection of Employment Sites and Buildings
 
Policy 42 Development in Retail Centres Retail
K LP1 Key Settlement (principle requirements)
Policy 1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
Policy 6 Biodiversity and Development
Policy 8 Trees and Development
Policy 12 Light Pollution
Policy 15 Listed Buildings
Policy 16 Demolition of Listed Buildings
Policy 17 The Setting of Listed Buildings
Policy 18 Protection of Buildings of Local Importance
Policy 19 Development affecting Conservation Areas
Policy 21 Historic Landscapes

Environment and 
Street Scene 

Page 169



8

Local Development Plan Policy Town Plan Section
K LP1 Ke1y Settlement (criteria 7)
Policy 59 Impacts of Traffic 
Policy 60 Provision for Cycling and Walking

Parking and Traffic

K LP1 Key Settlement (criteria 1)
Policy 1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
SP5 Housing  (allocations DBR-CR-A, SALT 061)
Policy 28 Affordable Housing Contributions
Policy 29 Enabling Affordable Housing Exception Sites

Housing

4.4. Brecon Issues and Objectives

Brecon Issues and Objectives
No. Objective LDP Strategic 

Objective
Issue

1 Strengthening 
Brecon’s 
employment offer

Employment The 2008 Brecon Economic Development and Regeneration Framework (DEandT, 
Hyder) highlighted that Brecon’s employment offer is currently heavily reliant on the 
public sector.  In order to ensure Brecon retains a strong position as a regional 
centre for employment, the DEandT study recommended diversification of the 
economy with support for indigenous and inward growth of new and emerging 
sectors, linked to local food production, the green economy and sustainable 
tourism.  In accordance with LDP objectives to provide for a sustainable economy 
the National Park Authority supports the development of a mix of employment 
opportunities, and to resist loss of commercial enterprise within the town.  The 
challenge for the LDP is to ensure provision responds sympathetically to the 
character of Brecon as gateway to the National Park.  The town currently has two 
industrial estates located on its western periphery, large scale expansion of these 
areas to accommodate employment facilities has been determined to be 
unsustainable and incompatible with National Park purposes. The LDP therefore 
promotes innovative approaches to employment provision, through mix-use 
developments, live-work schemes and redevelopment, well integrated into the 
Settlement, enhancing the buzz and mix of activity within the town

2 Improving standards 
of living for all

Housing; 
Affordable 
Housing; 
Sustainable 
Communities

Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation data shows that St John’s ward within Brecon 
is one of the most deprived within all of Powys, there is a strong need for better 
provision of affordable housing, both social rented, intermediate and low-cost 
affordable to buy.  This coupled with the higher cost of living within rural areas23 
places an imperative on the LDP to ensure that all new development is as resource 
efficient as is possible, to ensure Brecon is future proofed against the challenges of 
both climate change and peak oil. The LDP should encourage a mix of housing types 
and tenures to be developed within the town, responsive to the demographic needs 
of the town, and in close proximity to services and facilities.  New residential 
development should be resource efficient ensuring that the cost of living is 
sustainable into the future.

3 Strengthening 
Brecon’s cultural 
capital

Cultural 
Heritage

The town has a significant cultural presence, which contributes to its identity.  The 
annual jazz festival, for example is internationally recognised, creating a lively buzz of 
activity and interest within the town.  The challenge for the LDP is to encourage 
development within the town centre, which perpetuates the celebratory 
atmosphere throughout the year.  Development options should focus on 
regenerating the town centre to an area of independent attraction. 

4 Avoiding areas of 
flood risk within the 
town

Flooding Flooding has been identified as a strategic issue for Brecon, constraining 
development potential in the south east of the town.  Development options in the 
west are constrained by the proximity of the River Usk; a SSSI and SAC.  
Development options should therefore be focused on the north of the Town.

5 Reducing private 
car use

Transport, 
Climate Change

The accessibility of Brecon via national trunk roads contributes largely to the 
Strategic importance of Brecon; this is significantly contrasted with the local internal 

1 1Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Sustainable Tourism Strategy http://www.breconbeacons.org/the-
authority/working-in-partnership/tourism-industry/sustainable-tourism-strategy 

Page 170

http://www.breconbeacons.org/the-authority/working-in-partnership/tourism-industry/sustainable-tourism-strategy
http://www.breconbeacons.org/the-authority/working-in-partnership/tourism-industry/sustainable-tourism-strategy


9

routes operating within the Settlement, which are close to capacity to accommodate 
any further volume of traffic.  This is in part a result of the historic nature of the 
Settlement, with two key residential areas being accessed over the listed Usk Bridge.  
Development enabled through the LDP should work to address these capacity 
issues by encouraging the use of sustainable forms of transport.  By locating 
development within walking / cycling distance of town, and promoting the 
development of walking / cycle routes, the LDP can help challenge the car culture 
that has the potential to dominate the town.

6 Respecting Brecon’s 
sense of Place.

Landscape: 
Built 
Environment

Brecon’s landscape setting is recognised for its visual and sensory quality4 and 
historic significance5, affording the place a unique aesthetic and character.  The need 
to develop the town to maintain its strategic role for the region has the potential to 
negatively impact on the town’s unique character and appeal.  Constraints on the 
development of the town have resulted in development options being focused on 
the north of the town.  This growth will need to be sensitively designed to respond 
to the traditional townscape it will form the backdrop to.  Development will need 
limit impact on the visual and sensory experiences of the town within the wider 
landscape and ensure they are not negatively impacted upon, especially in relation to 
Brecon’s location within the historic landscape.

4.5 Other Relevant Strategies and Plans

4.5.1 The following tourism strategies and plans will inform and underpin this Brecon Town Plan

 Brecon Beacons Sustainable Tourism Strategy 2017 -2022 and Destination Action Plan 
2017- 2022

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Sustainable-
Tourism-Strategy-2017-2022.pdf 

 Future Priorities Action Plan for Tourism in Wales
Priorities for the Visitor Economy 2020 -2025

      https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/sites/tourism/files/documents/TAP_2019.pdf 

 This will be the successor to the current tourism strategy Partnership for Growth - 
Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism 2013 -2020

 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/partnership-for-growth-strategy-
for-tourism-2013-2020.pdf  

2.  Hirsch et al A Minimum Income Standard for Rural Households (2010, Joseph Rowntree Foundation)
3.See CCW LANDMAP Visual and Sensory aspect area BRCKNVS633
4 Brecon is located within the Middle Usk Valley Historic Landscape as defined by the Register of Historic Landscapes in Wales (Cadw).  

Page 171

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Sustainable-Tourism-Strategy-2017-2022.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Brecon-Beacons-Sustainable-Tourism-Strategy-2017-2022.pdf
https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/sites/tourism/files/documents/TAP_2019.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/partnership-for-growth-strategy-for-tourism-2013-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/partnership-for-growth-strategy-for-tourism-2013-2020.pdf


10

2020 and the Coronavirus Pandemic

The events of 2020 were unprecedented. In efforts to limit the spread of Coronavirus, governments 
across the world placed significant limits on all aspects of life and everyday activity. Working, 
shopping, tourism, recreation, cultural activities all experienced radical and fundamental change. 

The Brecon Town Plan was produced via significant volunteer effort from community members in 
Brecon, starting in 2017 with the survey, 2018 for analysis and 2019 for plan production. In fact, the 
plan was scheduled for final community consultation from Mid-March 2020 – precisely the time the 
first pandemic restrictions were put in place. It is fair to say that these events could not have been 
anticipated and the scale and reach the impact of the pandemic has had could not have been 
imagined. By mid 2021, the future is not clear and certainly the long-term affects have only begun to 
emerge. It was decided to delay the final adoption of the Brecon Town Plan until such time as it 
could be properly consulted upon and when the social and economic impacts could be better 
understood.

Since 2020 the Brecon Town Plan has been reviewed to ensure that it remains relevant and accurate 
following the Pandemic. However, it is clear that the necessity of many of the issues and challenges 
this plan seeks to address has become clearer. 2020 has also highlighted the value of the events, 
services, activities and community spaces when these were no longer accessible.

It is important to recognise that the Brecon Town Plan is not directly a response to the Pandemic 
and is not intended to be a “Recovery Plan” However, it is unavoidable that it needed to adapt to 
the changes 2020 brought to the community in Brecon. The plan was revised to included responses 
from community consultation in later 2020. Also, a number of activities detailed in the Action Plans 
were delivered, though often in a modified form, during 2020. This included traffic movement 
restrictions and greater use of public space for hospitality. These Actions have been retained in the 
Brecon Town Plan as it is as yet unclear if some of these measures will remain in the short or longer 
term.

Page 172



11

Brecon 20:20
Section 1: Streetscene

Community Derived Action Plan

5. Section 1: Streetscene

5.1The Existing Situation
5.1.1. Brecon is a market town, established in Norman times.  It has narrow streets, Georgian 

façades and a restored canal basin.  It also has a 12th Century Cathedral, South Wales 
Borderers Military Museum, Brecknock Museum, Theatr Brycheiniog, Market Hall, Leisure 
Centre specialist independent retailers and national chains, cinema and outdoor shops.  The 
Taff trail and Usk Valley walks start here with shorter walks along the River Usk Promenade 
and Canal Tow Path.

5.1.2. Even with all this and the Brecon Beacons on its doorstep Brecon town centre like many 
town centres has declined.  Empty shops, lack of repair to buildings and neglected streets are 
the result.

5.1.3. We must find a way to reverse this for the benefit of those who live and visit Brecon.  For 
those that live here it is a familiar, useful and fondly regarded place which plays an important 
role in bringing people together and providing a social and community focal point for all ages.

Page 173



12

5.1.4. The survey response showed that 60% of respondents were proud to show visitors around 
their town.  55% felt that the town centre cleanliness was below average. Increased cleaning 
schedules have been agreed and implemented by Brecon Town Council since the survey was 
completed.

5.1.5. In order of priority new shops, clean streets, building repairs and flowers and art are seen as 
the best ways to improve the attractiveness of the town.  

5.1.6. Likewise in order to promote the heritage of the town respondents identified the need to 
refurbish and renovate some of the buildings, improved interpretation and signage and 
increased advertising were seen as essential too.

5.1 What does that mean for the future?

5.1.1 To improve the town and make it an inviting place for residents and visitors it is clear that 
the cleanliness, already being addressed by Brecon Town Council needs to be improved 
further.  Everyone in the town can help by keeping their own areas clean. 

5.1.2 Responsibility for improving the buildings within the town rests with those who own them, 
but there is help towards those costs, primarily from the Town Centre Property 
Improvement Fund, coordinated by Powys County Council (PCC).

5.2 How are we going to address the issues?

5.2.1 Brecon Town Council will continue to work on the cleanliness of the town.
5.2.2 Powys County Council will encourage landlords to renovate and repair buildings using the 

financial resources on offer.  
5.2.3 Improvements to signage, plaques, interpretation and advertising will all be pursued.

TERM AREA/No ACTION WHO WHEN

Short 
Term

1.1
Continue to improve the 
cleanliness of the Town Centre 
streets
Install more mixed recycling litter 
bins in the town, 

Brecon Town Council 
(BTC)

BTC

Within 12 
months of 
acceptance 
of plan

1.2 Reach out to shop owners to take 
ownership of their pavement and 
implement a “Clean the Shop 
Front Campaign and competition”

Brecon Chamber of 
Trade/Shop 
Owners/BTC/

Within 12 
months of 
acceptance 
of plan

1.3 Appeal to owners of buildings to 
repair them.  Joint letter from 
Brecon Town Council/Chamber of 
Trade and Brecon 20:20
Encourage owners to spend more 
on their shops and paint them 
regularly. 

BTC/Brecon 
20:20/Chamber of 
Trade /BBNPA

Within 12 
months of 
acceptance 
of plan

1.4 Identify priority buildings  - 1. The 
empty properties in the town and 
2. Identify buildings requiring 
repairs/painting
Details of the Town Centre 
Property Improvement Fund and 

BBNPA and Brecon 
20:20 /BTC

Powys County Council 
(PCC)/Brecon Chamber 

Within 3 
months

Within 12 
months of 
acceptance

Page 174



13

loan scheme to be provided by 
Powys County Council and 
circulated to empty property 
owners
Encourage reduced rents from 
landlords.

of Trade

Medium 
term

1.5 Walking Tours/ Heritage Trail - 
circular walks and restoration 
schemes e.g. theatre, poetry, 
history, rivers trails
Audit of current trails

Brecon Town Council 
(Visit Brecon)/ Brecon 
20:20/Brecknock 
Society/ Brecon heritage 
and cultural network 
(digital marketing 
project)/Regimental 
Museum

2 years

1.6 Signage/Plaques – clean and 
restore plaques and add to existing 
sites
Need to find out where plaques 
were originally sited e.g. ask 
museum/facebook
Signage – Powys have a small 
amount of money to signpost Y 
Gaer and other heritage 
attractions.  
Further audit and new signage 
required with distance/times

Brecon 20:20/Plan 
Brecon

PCC

BTC/PCC Brecon 
Heritage and Cultural 
Network/ Brecon Buzz

1 year

1.7 Research regeneration schemes 
and Town Centre management 
schemes that have worked

BTC/BBNPA Within 1 
Year

1.8 Consider opportunities for 
combined planters/seats to make 
more effective use of limited town 
centre space

BTC/PCC Within 1 
year

Page 175



14

Brecon 20:20
Section 2: Parking and Traffic

Community Derived Action Plan

6.    Section 2: Parking and Traffic
6.1 The Existing Situation

6.1.1 It is recognised that there are parking issues in Brecon.  Town Centre parking is free but 
is limited in terms of the number of spaces available and the amount of time allowed in 
those spaces, which tend to be limited to 30 minutes or 1 hour at most.  The town 
centre parking leads to cars circling the town looking for somewhere to park.

6.1.2 Some years ago changes to the flow of traffic were attempted but failed.  Cars were 
discouraged from driving up through the town via Ship Street and down through the 
Bulwark to the Watton via a “choke” introduced at the zebra crossing at the bottom of 
the Bulwark.  Under this scheme is was hoped that all through traffic would follow the 
route around the town and not through the centre.

6.1.3 The failure of the “choke” scheme has led to cars, vans and lorries continuing to use the 
town centre as a through route as well as an access for shops and businesses.

Page 176



15

6.1.4 The data received from PCC shows that they manage eleven car parks in the town, with 
a variety of staying time and hourly/daily charges.  In total the car parks generate 
significant amounts of money for PCC.  In 2018/19 this is reported to be in excess of 
£500,000.  The net income from this service is used on other services e.g. the bus 
service.

6.1.5 The impact of the current car-parking regime is that streets close to the centre are 
clogged up during the day with town centre workers and visitors choosing to park for 
free on these side streets.  In addition it is difficult for the town centre to compete with 
the out of town provision both in Brecon and especially from Cyfartha Park, Merthyr 
Tydfil.

6.2 What you told us about Parking and Traffic

6.2.1 The response rate from residents on parking questions was high.  People were asked 
how important it is to park on the High Street and Bulwark.  The responses ranged from 
1= not important to 10= very important.  59% scored in the range 1 to 5, with 31% 
scoring it a 1 and therefore not important at all.  Nearly 41% scored in the range 6 to 10, 
with 22% scoring it a 10, meaning for just over 1/5th of respondents parking in the centre 
of town is very important.  The conclusion from this question is that opinion in the town 
is divided on this issue.

6.2.2 Residents were then asked the optimum length of time for parking in the town centre, in 
the George Street (adjacent to the Co-op) car park and in the bus station car park.  79% 
of respondents said that 30 minutes or 1 hour was adequate in the town centre.  42% 
would like to park for more than 2 hours in the Co-op car park and 74% were happy 
with more than 2 hours in the bus station car park.

6.2.3 When some traffic free areas were considered 53% of respondents answered that some 
traffic free areas would benefit the town centre, while 39% did not think there would be 
a benefit.  While safety and the ambience of the town were seen as potential benefits 
there were concerns that it would lead to a loss of business in the town centre. 

6.2.4 73% of respondents to this question felt that they were able to get around Brecon by 
public transport, although a number of people highlighted areas of the town not currently 
serviced by buses.

6.2.5 A high response rate on what would “encourage you to cycle” concluded that cycle lanes, 
paths, traffic free areas as well as the provision of bike racks/shelters are the key issue. 

6.3 How are we going to address the issues?

6.3.1 There is a perception that Brecon has a parking problem.  Residents are unable to park 
close to where they live, business owners are concerned that the parking policy actively 
discourages potential customers and for visitors and customers the difficulty with parking 
make visiting and shopping in Brecon difficult.

6.3.2 By a slight majority (53%) there is an appetite for partial pedestrianisation of the town 
centre for some of the time.  This needs further investigation and analysis to determine 
the best outcome for the town as a whole.  A working group will be established to take 
this forward.

Page 177



16

6.3.3 Evidence will be required for any future changes required to the PCC car parking strategy 
in Brecon.  A range of innovative solutions to this problem will be explored in a 
collaboration between the businesses, the community and the public sector in the town. 

6.3.4 Bus services in the town need to be maintained and active travel routes developed to 
encourage greater use of bicycles.

TERM AREA/No ACTION WHO WHEN
Medium 2.1 A slim majority of respondents 

to the survey indicated that they 
would like partial 
pedestrianisation of the town.  
Identify stakeholders to get 
together to discuss options for a 
trial pedestrianisation of the 
town centre and consult with 
the public.  Contact officers who 
have made Abergavenny traffic 
free and ask them to come and 
talk to the group about the 
experience/issues in 
Abergavenny.

Establish stakeholder group to 
take this forward

Brecon 20:20, 
Chamber of Trade, 
Brecon Business 
Club, PCC, BTC, 

Within 2 years 
of action plan 
adoption

2.2 Need to gather evidence on 
parking practices and income 
generated at the various car 
parks in the town from PCC.
Identify potential blocks to car 
parking.  Consider restriction 
zones in residential areas to 
encourage parking in car parks.  
Introduce price incentives

Brecon 20:20/
BTC, Chamber of 
Trade

Within 1 year

2.3 Monitor success of forthcoming 
car payment scheme in car parks 
and continue to monitor income 
generation in each car park

PCC Within 1 year

2.4 Consider ways that the price 
incentives could be achieved to 
minimise or remove the cost of 
parking for shoppers.  For 
example the money back scheme 
of the Co-op.  Engage chamber 
of trade.  

PCC, BTC, 
Chamber of Trade

Within 1 year

2.5 Investigate the provision of a 
free bus service from car park 
(Brecon as capital of the 
Beacons) to Storey Arms (Park 
and Ride).  Needs promotion 
and signage – would increase 
footfall.
Talk to Transport for Wales and 
BBNPA regarding experience 

Welsh Government 
transport/Visit 
Wales
BBNPA
T4 Wales
Brecon 20:20

Within 1 year

Page 178



17

with Beacons Bus and the 
feasibility of an electric bus. 
Designate Brecon a Transport 
Hub / Nodal Interchange on the 
Wales Way Cambrian Route 
linking with the Brecon and 
Monmouth Canal and the Taff 
Trail

Medium 2.6 Recognise that parking provision 
has a limit and that alternatives 
to private car use are needed, 
including better provision for 
walking, cycling and innovative 
transport solutions

BTC/PCC/TfW Within 5 years

Medium 2.7 Brecon currently has very poor 
provision in available road space 
for cycling and measures to 
review traffic flows and on 
street parking should also 
integrate better cycling routes

PCC/TfW/
Sustrans

Within 5 Years

Page 179



18

Brecon 20:20
Section 3: Retail and Market

Community Derived Action Plan

7.  Section 3: Retail and Market 

7.1 The Existing Problem  

7.1.1 Brecon town centre is the cornerstone of the community and historically has been the 
place where things are made, bought and sold.  The town also provides public services 
enabling people to go to work, to school and to socialise and be entertained. In a recent 
Federation of Small Businesses survey 92% of consumers still see the town centre as 
being important socially and economically.

7.1.2 However, like all town centres Brecon is under pressure with the introduction of 
technological changes and the internet.  Consumers have changed how they purchase 
from the High Street.  Over the years the introduction of three supermarkets to the 
town has led to a reduction of independent food and other retailers.  

7.1.3 Local Development Policy encourages a diversity of uses in town centres as follows:-

Page 180



19

  

The recent review carried out for LDP purposes demonstrates the recent changes in 
Brecon and the concerning increase in vacant properties.  The vacancy level is in excess 
of the target level of 10% in Brecon.

The use classes by type and percentage of the total are shown overleaf.

Brecon Retail Centre Uses 2020/21

Use 2021 count 2021% 2020 
count

2020% Percentage change 
2020 - 2021

A1 85 44% 84 40% 4% increase
A2 23 12% 23 12% No change
A3 32 17% 29 15% 2% increase 
B1 2 1% 2 1% No change
C1 1 0% 1 0% No change

C3 11 6% 11 6% No change
D1 9 5% 9 5% No change
D2 1 0% 1 0% No change
SG 8 4% 6 3% 1% increase
Vacant 18 9% 23 12% 3% decrease
A1/A3 2 1% 2 1% No change
Non-
operational

1 1% 1 1% No change

Page 181



20

7.1.4   Brecon Indoor market has historically run a vibrant Tuesday and Friday market, a Farmers 
market once a month on a Saturday along with a monthly craft fair, an antique/flea market 
and occasional one off events.  The market hall building requires significant investment and as 
a result the market hall, arcade and vaults have been sold by PCC.  Brecon 20:20 hope that 
any redevelopment of the market hall is sensitive to its historic origins and the commercial 
redevelopment required to make the town centre a vibrant area for social and economic 
activities.

7.2 What you told us about Retail and Market

7.2.1 In this section residents were asked about their shopping habits.  The response level to the 
questions in this section was high.

7.2.2 98% of respondents stated that they shopped for groceries in Brecon at least once a week.  
However, 72% stated that they buy groceries at an out of town retail-park and 63% also buy 
groceries online.  

7.2.3 In terms of clothing, homewares and gifts respondents purchased these less often from 
shops in Brecon with the majority stating that they rarely purchased these items in Brecon.  

Page 182



21

Out of town retail parks and other towns including Merthyr and Abergavenny as well as 
Cardiff are all used regularly by Brecon residents.  

7.2.4 For those who rarely shop in Brecon 88% stated that there is not enough choice of shops, 
with 46% requesting more national chains and 48% looking for more independent retailers.  
For 25% of respondents the cost of parking is prohibitive and 10% find access to the high 
street difficult.

7.2.5 Respondents would like to see clothes, shoes, food and household items sold in new shops.

7.2.6 Of those people who currently shop in the market 55% buy food, 9% clothes, 14% 
homewares and 18% gifts.  However, 38% reported that they do not shop in the market 
with the majority suggesting that it does not stock the items they wish to buy.

7.2.7 Analysis of comments from the survey show that the market is still valued, but that for 
customers to return in more numbers the environment needs to be cleaner and more 
vibrant and a wider range of products need to be offered for sale.

7.3 How are we going to address the issues?

7.3.1 There are too many empty retail units in Brecon.  Brecon 20:20 will work with other 
agencies and the Brecon Business Improvement District (if supported) to examine ways of 
making retail easier in Brecon.

7.3.2 Encourage property owners to take care of their properties utilising funding opportunities 
wherever possible.

Retail Actions

TERM AREA/
No

ACTION WHO WHEN

Medium/
Long

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Develop a vision and retail brand for 
BRECON 
Promote  Brecon which has a variety of  
independents shops, various markets, 
Theatres, a Cathedral, museums  and family 
run businesses, through marketing and 
social media avenues and integrate with 
tourism and other relevant marketing 
campaigns  
Focus on the quality of these independent  
businesses – Localised Quality Mark 
Scheme 
Link into projects for example Heritage 
and Culture Project regarding the branding 
opportunities and the development of key 
stories / messages about Brecon and the 
surrounding areas. Stories linked to 
buildings

Chamber of 
Trade / Brecon 
heritage and 
cultural 
network/Brecon 
Buzz/ with 
support from 
BTC, BBNPA, 
PCC and Brecon 
Beacons 
Sustainable 
Destination 
partnership 
(BBSDP)

Within 1 
Year

Page 183



22

Focus on developing high street experience      
including reviewing opening times to 
encourage  Food, Family and Shopping, 

Short 3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

Support for businesses and traders
Promotion of relevant business schemes / 
initiatives – 1. Business Improvement 
District Scheme; 2. Town Centre Property 
Improvement Grant/Loan Scheme 
Consider developing a Rent Smart 
Landlords scheme for Business premises 
with the aim of reducing empty business 
space and the setting of realistic business 
rents. 
Examine Merthyr experience (The 
Meanwhile project) 

Establish appropriate training opportunities 
on social media platforms to develop 
businesses online presence. Integrate with 
BHCN Brecon Story social media training 
and story development

PCC/BBNPA/Br
econ Chamber 
of Trade, 
Brecon 
Buzz/Brecon 
heritage and 
cultural network 

BHCN

Within 1 
Year

Within 1 
year

Within 2 
years

Within 1 
year

Within 1 
year

Medium 3.9
Development of  free Wifi
Develop a business case of the benefits of 
establishing free Wifi within the town 
including 5G availability. Examine 
Llandrindod and Cardigan case studies

BTC/Business 
Wales/Brecon 
Buzz /Brecon 
Beacons 
Tourism (BBT)

Within 3 
years

Medium 
Long 

3.10
Brecon Town App ( i Town Concept )
Develop a Town App to offer visitors and 
shoppers information on where to eat, 
where to stay, parking, what to do / events 
going on  and businesses special offers 

Brecon Town 
Council/ Visit 
Brecon 
Office/Brecon 
Buzz/BBT

Within 3 
years

Long 3.11 Identify and research the feasibility of a 
Brecon Loyalty scheme   (examine Totally 
Locally scheme in Crickhowell)

Brecon 
Chamber of 
Trade/Brecon 
Buzz

5 Years

Market Hall Actions

TERM AREA/No ACTION WHO WHEN
Short 
Term

3.12 Establish the future of Brecon Market 
Hall

New Owner Within 1 
Year

Short / 
Medium 

3.13 Improve the Environment 
1. Improve the Market Halls Signage 
2. Decorate of Market Hall and 

Arcade  
3. Improve the disability access to 

the market – slope for wheel 
chairs / pushchairs  

4. Market hall Toilets Upgrade 
5. Improve lighting within the market 

New Owner Within 2 
years

Page 184



23

6. Improve marketing of the various 
events being held in the Market 
Hall including an on line presence 
with access to social media 
training and integrate with the 
wider marketing of Brecon (see 
4.8, 6.4, 6.8 and 6.9)

Via BTC 
Market Group 
Contract/Visit 
Brecon

Short / 
Medium 

3.14 Marketing the market
1.  Identify different market 

opportunities 
2.  Consider different opening times 

– evenings / Sunday markets 
3.  Increase the choice of products -

e.g.  Bakery, Jewellery, Children’s 
and men’s  Clothing and Shoes 

4. Revamp farmers market
5. Consider dressing/decorating the 

market

New Owner 
and
Market 
management 
Group 

1-3 years

Short 
 3.15 Provide access where appropriate to 

key stakeholders through a web portal 
to the relevant 2020 data findings to 
assist with grant fund applications and 
promoting business opportunities 
(report available on Brecon Town 
Council website)

Brecon 20 20 
Steering Group 
/ Brecon Town 
Council 

Within 1 
year

Page 185



24

Brecon 20:20
Section 4: Community Facilities and Services

Community Derived Action Plan

8.  Section 4: Community Facilities and Services

8.1 The Existing Situation

8.1.1 In the recent past facilities and services have been reduced by PCC including closure of 
the Tourist Information Centre and the Youth Club at Cradoc Road as well as changes to 
the services at Brecon Recycling Centre.

8.1.2 The number of public toilets in Brecon has reduced, with Brecon Town Council assuming 
responsibility for toilets at Lion Yard and Brecon Promenade.  Brecon Promenade is 
considered to be a key facility within the community, requiring an upgrade (covered in 
Greenspaces)

8.1.3 There are many community facilities in the town, some of which require an upgrade. 
Information on facilities, services and events requires coordination within the town to 
ensure that information is comprehensive and up to date and that gaps in the provision of 
buildings and services can be identified.

Page 186



25

8.1.4 General concern over museum and library facilities have occurred due to the delay in the 
opening and uncertainty over the future of Y Gaer.  

8.1.5 The bus service is essential for the people of Brecon. 

8.2 What you told us about Community Facilities

8.2.1 The community facilities section received responses from 802 respondents. The 
responses clearly showed that respondents view toilets and the leisure centre as the 
most important community facilities with both mentioned in 86.78% of the responses.  
78.93% of respondents listed the theatre, closely followed by the Promenade open space 
at 74.44%.  The youth centre and playgrounds were also ticked by more than 50% of 
respondents.

8.2.2 20% of respondents indicated that they would like to see improvements to public toilets 
in Brecon and a similar number would like to see improvements in Youth facilities.  In 
addition respondents would like to see improvements at Brecon Promenade, including 
investment to upgrade the existing facilities including the playground and toilets and an 
improved café area.

8.2.3 Over 10% of respondents wanted to see a Tourist Information Centre close to or in the 
main car park. Facilities including the Leisure Centre, the Library and Theatr Brycheiniog 
are all seen as important facilities requiring investment and upgrade.

8.2.4 The recycling centre is seen as an important community service by 89.16%of 
respondents.  The Library is important to 79% of people.  Other important services 
include the provision of childcare, public transport and Arosfa.

8.2.5 Improvements to the recycling centre service are required by a large number of 
respondents, while a further 15% want to see improved services for the Elderly, 
especially Arosfa.  The Youth Centre, more activities for children and improved childcare 
facilities are all important too, as is improvements to bus services including times, Sunday 
services and the cleanliness of buses.

8.3 How are we going to address the issues?

• Undertake an audit of facilities, available community spaces and services and publicise the 
information to local residents

• The opening of Y Gaer will provide the new library provision and museum
• Check that the revised youth provision in Brecon meets the needs of Young People and 

what is required in terms of childcare by residents
• Review recycling facilities and look for improvements for residents

Page 187



26

TERM AREA/No ACTION WHO WHEN

Short 
Term

4.1 Analyse recycling issues 
and discuss them with 
PCC 

Recycling of soft plastic – 
investigate options with 
PCC

Brecon 20:20 to send 
letter explaining issues 
to PCC

Brecon 20:20/Brecon 
Buzz

Within 1 year

Medium 
Term

4.2
Investigate Town Centre 
Accommodation for 
community services and 
facilities – an audit of 
facilities, cost and 
availability required across 
Brecon

Brecon 20:20/Volunteer 
Centre/Others Within 2 years

Short 
Term

  
4.3

Create Register/Directory 
of accessible buildings in 
Brecon for groups to use 
and information on venues 
in general

PAVO development 
team/Brecknock Access 
group
Brecon 20:20 to start 
conversation 

Within 1 year

Short 
term

4.4 Toilets – ensure toilets 
are available and clean

The Theatre toilets have 
heavy usage due to its 
proximity to the coach 
park and canal boat trips 
and as a result require 
upgrading

BTC/PCC/Theatr 
Brychiniog

Look for funding – 
Toilets grant application

Ongoing

Within 1 year

Short 
Term

4.5 Youth Centre – has 
moved to the old St. 
Joseph’s school site and 
operates two times per 
week, on Tuesdays and 
Thursdays.  Check up on 
what young people want 
and where possible 
provide follow up services 

Brecon 20:20/Youth 
Service

Within 1 year

Short 
Term

4.6 The Elderly – since the 
survey was complete 
Community Connectors 
have been appointed. The 
Volunteer centre acts as a 
central resource.  Link 
services together and 
publicise

PAVO/Volunteer 
Centre

Already in 
progress/Ongoing

Medium 
Term

4.7 Leisure Centre – 
substantial increase in 
activities and facilities 
since Freedom Leisure 
took over.  Check with 
Freedom Leisure for 
future improvements, 
especially to swimming 

Brecon 20:20/Freedom 
Leisure/Powys CC 

3-5 years

Page 188



27

pool and changing rooms
Short 
Term

4.8 Advertising facilities and 
activities.  Sort out boards 
in Market Hall to more 
clearly advertise in 
groups/themes.  (A 
volunteer already tidies 
the board regularly)

Need centralised town 
information – to be used 
by residents and visitors. 
Promote FYI and Brecon 
Story/Stori Aberhonddu, 
its What’s On leaflets and 
encourage the sharing of 
Brecon Stories.

Volunteer 
Bureau/Market Hall

Brecon 20:20/cultural 
hub project/Visit 
Brecon/Brecon 
Buzz/BHCN

Ongoing

Within 1 year

Medium 
Term

4.9 Childcare – survey results 
follow-up in terms of the 
level of childcare required

Brecon 
20:20/BTC/PCC/Brecon 
Buzz

1-3 years

Short 
Term

4.10 Community Cohesion – 
support events which 
bring community together 
e.g. Brecon with Bells on 
and Ghurka parade  

BTC/Brecon 
20:20/Brecon 
Buzz/Others

Ongoing

Page 189



28

Brecon 20:20
Section 5: Housing

Community Derived Action Plan

9. Section 5: Housing
9.1 The Existing Situation

9.1.1 At the last census there were 8,250 residents within Brecon, forming 3,635 households.  
Data published by the Statswales predicts that the population of the Brecon Beacons will 
increase by approximately 2% by 2029 (roughly 400 people) In the same period the number of 
households is projected to increase by 5% representing approximately 900 new households 
across the National Park. This percentage is likely to increase over the coming years based 
on information published by the ONS (Office for National Statistics). The peaks in the 
numbers of births after both world wars and the longer baby boom during the 1960s is 
contributing to the continuing increase in the percentage of older people in the general 
population. 

9.1.2  The largest increase in the projected number of households is seen in one-person households 
while four-person households are projected to see the biggest fall (110 households).  This means 

Page 190



29

that the number of people on average within a household will be 2.1 people by 2029.6 If we 
were to project this level of growth forward it would mean that by the end of this plan 
(2030) we would need to find accommodation for at least 182 new households.  With 
the greatest need being for 1 and 2 bedroom properties.

9.1.3 Through the Local Development Plan (LDP), land has been identified for approximately 
297 new dwellings within Brecon, with 20% of these being required to be provided as 
affordable housing for local people in housing need.

9.1.4 At the time of writing 170 of these dwellings have been granted planning permission and 
are in the process of being developed.

9.1.5 In terms of provision for our households who cannot afford to access market dwellings 
the policy of the National Park is that 20% of all housing should be supplied as affordable, 
usually through a Housing Association.  The implementation of this policy has been mixed 
since the adoption of the LDP.  Brecon has been the location for some of the first council 
houses to be built in the County for 30 years providing a strong contribution to meeting 
the need for housing.  However private developers have been able to demonstrate that 
they cannot provide the level of affordable housing that the National Park’s policy 
requires, and this has led to a reduction in the anticipated level of affordable housing 
being delivered on other housing sites.

9.1.6 At time of writing there were almost 200 people identifying as being in housing need on 
the Common Housing Register for Brecon.  To go part way to meet this need it is very 
likely that the new LDP for the area (LDP2 2018-2033) will need to identify additional 
sites for housing.

9.2 What you told us about Housing in Brecon 

9.2.1 This section of the questionnaire had a response rate of over 80%, reflecting the 
importance the people of Brecon place on this issue. When asked what they or their 
families future housing needs were, the highest percentage (67.57%), said that there was 
a need for more 2 bed or 3 bedroom properties. The next biggest response was for 
supported housing (29.89%).

9.2.2 Respondents were asked if they saw a future need access to affordable housing. 61.54% 
either said they saw a need or were not sure, with 6.50% more saying they saw a need. 
38.45% said they did not see a need, but it should be borne in mind that 77.59% of 
respondents owned their property or had a mortgage on it. 

9.2.3 Finally, respondents were asked how they felt affordable housing should be delivered. 
There was a clear preference for Social renting (53.38% of the total responses), when 
they were also asked to consider other types of affordable housing.

9.3 How are we going to address the issues?

9.3.1 Ensure that PCC, BBNPA and BTC work together and with the community improve the 
availability of houses of the required type in Brecon.

1National Park Household Projections 2014 based  Statistics for Wales July 2017

Page 191



30

TERM AIM ACTION WHO WHEN

Short 5.1
Explore the models of 
housing that PCC and the 
BBNPA can deliver under 
the LDP
This is felt to be necessary 
because the previous 
response to housing issues 
had not encompassed more 
innovative ways of 
delivering housing.

PCC/BBNPA Next 6 months

Short 5.2
Invite new PCC co-housing 
officer to meet with BTC 
and the Bronllys 
Community wellbeing 
group. The aim is to find 
ways of promoting shared 
housing and co-op housing 
schemes.

BTC Next 3 months

Short 5.3 Conduct further research 
to identify what groups of 
people need supported 
housing and what types of 
housing can be delivered. 
This should target the 
highest priority groups and 
make further schemes fit 
for purpose.

PCC/BBNPA Next 6 months

Short 5.4 Make homelessness an issue 
for a Housing Advice Day in 
Brecon
This was in response to the 
perceived rise in 
homelessness in the town

BTC Already achieved 

Short, 
medium 
and long

5.5
Re. all planning applications, 
BBNPA will always 
prioritise affordable 
housing, with the clear aim 
of ensuring that at least 20% 
of housing in that 
application is affordable. It is 
recognised that the 
percentage of affordable 
properties in recent 
developments has been too 
low

BBNPA Now to at least 
2024

Short, 
medium 
and long

5.6
Affordable housing mix will 
be in line with latest 
housing needs assessments. 
This recognises that housing 

PCC and BBNPA Now to at least 
2024

Page 192



31

needs are not static.

Short/
Medium

5.7
Develop a “greenprint” or 
an all-encompassing plan for 
Brecon housing. This was 
identified as a shortfall in 
previous planning.

BBNPA/BTC and 
PCC

Next 18 months

Medium 5.8
Re Accessible and Flexible 
housing, monitor progress 
of Clyro village social 
housing project. The aim 
for this objective is to apply 
best practice learnt from 
this scheme to future new 
builds in Brecon

BTC, Disability Powys 
and BBNPA

18-24 months.

Page 193



32

Brecon 20:20
Section 6: Arts and Culture

Community Derived Action Plan

10. Section 6: Arts and Culture

10.1 Existing Position 

10.1.1 Brecon is a vibrant and active location with many positive aspects to its artistic and 
cultural offer and life. It has a wealth of opportunities and organisations that deliver 
for the community and benefits from a variety of venues and available activities. 
The town has a mid-scale Theatre with studio and gallery; the Guildhall Theatre, 
run by BTC; The Muse Arts Centre; Brecon Cathedral; The Regimental Museum of 
the Royal Welsh; Y Gaer - a new library, museum and art gallery complex situated 
in the middle of the town; and the Coliseum Cinema Brecon. In addition to these 
venues there is a network of village and church halls and community facilities 
available. 

10.1.1 Throughout the year these various organisations are joined by other partners to 
deliver a year-round detailed programme of activity including Brecon Jazz and the 

Page 194



33

Baroque Festival, which attract national and international visitors to the town. But 
there are barriers and issues with regard to the work presented and in encouraging 
the communities around Brecon to engage with the offer. 

10.2 What you told us about Arts and Culture

10.2.1 The questions on Arts and Cultural activities received 775 responses   

10.2.2 Artistic and cultural activity is the most important kind of activity for a significantly 
large proportion of Brecon’s residents (60%). 

10.2.3 However a quarter of people (24%) did not consider themselves as a participant in 
anything considered artistic or cultural. 

10.2.4 Many issues were cited as reasons for difficulties in engaging with artistic and 
cultural activities and about the artistic offer of Brecon. These were: high cost, 
access to transport or parking, appropriate facilities, access for those with 
additional needs, health issues or age related vulnerabilities, the lack of time due to 
work, the funding and support required for the arts organisations and the general 
information created and available for the opportunities presented. 

10.2.5 Specifically in response to some of these issues respondents commented that more 
support/investment is needed, clearer plans on creating and disseminating 
information needs to happen and that Brecon needed to focus on creating a 
distinctiveness about itself, which could be specifically around music and arts. 

10.3 How are we going to address the issues?

In creating an action plan we have concentrated on the issues that our respondents 
told us about and have detailed how we propose to increase activity, support 
communities in engaging in arts and culture and most importantly to deliver clearer, 
joined up messaging and promotion about the activities in the town.

This includes: 

 Identifying targets around engagement and encouraging all our communities who 
wish to participate, identifying those who might not, and work with them to reduce 
the barriers to their attendance. 

 Developing a coordinated marketing approach for everything that happens, that 
includes a clear online presence, information points and distribution to present event 
diaries and better promotion of activities 

 Supporting transportation, facility upgrades and the entertainment/night-time 
economy.

 Building on Brecon’s reputation for staging festivals and events and consider timing 
and scheduling issues.

We hope that in developing individual actions that deliver these ambitious town 
developments that we can drive cooperation with all interested organisations and 
communities to further enjoy and engage in this important aspect of Brecon life. 

Page 195



34

TERM AREA/No ACTION WHO WHEN

Medium 6.1
Examine “never” respondents` data. 
What is their definition of arts/culture? 
They may be participating in artistic and 
cultural activities and events, but not 
consider them as such.  

Brecon 20:20 
Steering Group 
to evaluate in 
the future when 
a further survey 
is undertaken

3-5 years

Short 6.2
Theatr Brycheiniog Box Office can 
examine ticket purchase data to find out 
certain groups using venue to tailor and 
target catering for particular audiences.  
The Theatr are trialling “kitchen 
takeovers” and scheduling afternoon 
events

Theatr 
Brycheiniog Within 1 

year

Medium 6.3
Integrating more with Nepalese 
community.  Investigate textile art with 
the Nepalese community.  Focus on 
publicity for annual events – the Gurkha 
Parade and Gurkha Durbar

Visit 
Brecon/Brecon 
20:20/ 
BTC/Brecon 
Nepalese 
Twinning 
Association/
BHCN with 
What’s On

Ongoing

Short 6.4
Online promotional links between local 
businesses and organisations. Encourage 
all who promote Brecon to link with and 
feature the Brecon Story/Stori 
Aberhonddu heritage videos on their 
websites.  Better promotion and 
information. Event diaries to be produced 
3 times a year as Pdf’s with the summer 
edition in print format too.

Brecon heritage 
and cultural 
network/ Visit 
Brecon/Brecon 
Buzz

Within 1 
year
First 
edition 
available 
January 
2020

Long 
term

6.5
Brecon “Night-Life”/Night-Time 
Economy. Places to eat with 
entertainment? 

Brecon 
Buzz/Brecon 
Chamber of 
Trade/Brecon 
Beacons 
Tourism (BBT)

5 years

Medium 6.6
Could some activities and events work 
better during the day or night? (People in 
work during day or older people may not 
want to go out at night).  Create a new 
profile-raising event for the town – 
research gaps in the annual events 
calendar.

Event organisers/
Brecon Buzz

Medium

Short 6.7
Curated information/promotional 
resource to be contact point for 
dissemination of events/activities posters 
and information. Brecon Story/Stori 
Aberhonddu to be linked to Visit Brecon 
and other websites.

Brecon heritage 
and cultural 
network/BTC/BB
NPA/BBT/Visit 
Brecon/Brecon 
Buzz

Digital 
project 
complete 
within 1 
year

Page 196



35

Short 6.8
Coordinated marketing  approach 
required for Brecon.  Celebrity to 
promote Brecon brand via “walkabout” 
video. Need to understand what 
currently attracts people to events and to 
Brecon and use this to help define 
“Brecon brand”. 

Integrate with Brecon Story/Stori 
Aberhonddu, and Visit Wales campaigns 
for The Wales Way Cambrian Route and 
other relevant campaigns e.g. 
BBNPA/BBT day to stay.  Explore 
Churches/Cymru Cysegredig 

Brecon heritage 
and cultural 
network 
/BTC/BBNPA/BB
T/Visit 
Brecon/Brecon 
Jazz/Brecon Buzz

Digital 
project 
complete 
within 1 
year

Medium 6.9
Interactive information board in a central 
position in town. E.g. Outside Lloyds 
Bank for communication on events/places 
to eat/things to do as well as community 
information.
Would the B and R be interested in 
engaging in other media in the town as 
above?

Brecon 
Buzz/Visit 
Brecon/
BHCN/
Brecon 
20:20/B&R
With support 
from BTC

iyu

Short 6.10
Investigate the possibility of having 
transport to events e.g. theatre by dial-a-
ride or someone else

Is an electric mini-bus an option?

Brecon 
20:20/Theatr 
Brycheiniog

Within 12 
months

Short/M
edium

6.11
Pilgrimage walks being developed by the 
Cathedral, other walks already 
developed: the Regimental museum suite 
of walks, World War I Memorial Walk 
and the Poetry Trail, which can be shared 
and offer special experiences for visitors.
Opportunities to further develop walking 
routes within and around the town.

Brecon 
Cathedral/BTC/ 
BBNPA/BBT/
BHCN

Within 1 
Year

3-5 Years

Short/ 
medium

6.13 Improve connections and event planning 
between key assets e.g Theatre/Leisure 
Centre/Market Hall

Theatr 
Brycheioniog/ 
BTC/ LC/ 
Market Hall

Within 2 
years

Page 197



36

Brecon 20:20
Section 7: Greenspaces and Sport

Community Derived Action Plan

11. Section 7: Greenspaces and Sport 

11.1 Existing situation

11.1.1 Brecon benefits from a significant number of different greenspaces distributed 
around the Town. The Usk river corridor stretches from east of the Brecon Rugby 
Club fields, through the town to beyond the Promenade to the west. The Honddu 
river corridor forms a wooded and accessible greenspace leading to the centre of 
the Town from the north. The residential areas of Uplands, Llanfaes, Watton and 
Pendre all have one or more accessible parks. Accessible and attractive greenspaces 
can add significantly to quality of life, health and wellbeing.

11.1.2 The Brecon 20:20 Survey included a dedicated section on greenspaces and the 
responses can be summarised as follows:

 These spaces are hugely valued by residents, with almost 2/3rds visiting a greenspace 
at least weekly

 A wide range of activities are enjoyed at greenspaces, from walking and exercising 
dogs, to ball games, picnics or simply to enjoy the views and connection to nature

Page 198



37

 All residents enjoy the spaces, including all ages and they are often used for family 
activities

 Satisfaction with the quality of the greenspaces was generally quite high, though 
there is significant scope for improvement

 A wide range of potential improvements were suggested and many would need 
careful consideration and effective community engagement to develop the potential 
of Brecon’s greenspaces

11.1.3 A significant number of sports clubs are active in Brecon, offering a wide range of 
organised activities. This includes rugby and football (across a range of age groups) 
running, cycling, attending the gym, bowls, swimming, golf and cricket. Almost a third 
of survey responses indicated participation in some form of sporting activity. As well 
as organised sports, the greenspaces were often used for individual activities 
(primarily running and cycling) and informal games and sports undertaken by children 
and families.

11.1.4  Barriers to participation included the cost of activities, access to facilities and classes 
(transport and time constraints) and the quality of facilities available.

11.2 What you told us

Greenspaces
 Greenspaces are valued and resulted in a high number of responses to the survey 

questions
 Of the ten greenspaces named in the survey, half were rated 6 or more out of 10 for 

their quality, with the other half scoring 4.5 – 6. This indicates that while satisfactory, 
there is a clear desire and scope for a range of improvements

 The greenspaces are well used and often visited. 20% visited at least daily, with around 
60% visiting at least once per week, rising to around 80% visiting at least once per 
month

 A wide range of activities were enjoyed while visiting greenspaces. They are versatile 
and useful spaces where many different activities can be undertaken

 When asked for the improvements or changes that residents would like to see a wide 
range of suggestions were presented, though there were many recurring points raised.

 Increased provision of litterbins, increased frequency of bin emptying and reducing the 
amount of litter and rubbish had the most responses

 Issues with dogs raised a number of points regarding dog fouling, lack of enforcement 
for dog fouling, increased provision of dog waste bins and a desire to see more dog-
free areas

 The general condition and need to maintain existing features including benches, paths, 
fences and play equipment was highlighted as was the desire for improvements and an 
increase in these facilities

 The infrequent grass cutting was of concern, though this must be balanced against a 
desire to see more long grass and wildflower areas along with other wildlife 
improvements and more tree planting

 Greater provision of signage, information and accessibility to toilets
 Many felt that the Promenade needs significant investment and reinvention including 

the boat house and surrounding areas.

Page 199



38

Sports
 Sporting activities are important to a significant number of residents and access to the 

support available through organised clubs is essential.
 Sport participation, particularly through a club structure covers all age groups.

There is demand for improved quality of facilities, with other sporting facility provision 
in the Valleys highlighted as being better than the local offering.

11.3 What we are proposing to do?

Greenspaces
The community consultation and action planning process has created a number of 
specific ideas for improving the quality of Brecon’s greenspaces (playgrounds and 
other outdoor areas accessible to the public). Effective management of these sites is 
essential with significant community engagement required and the integration of 
different features and facilities to resolve conflicts. The specific actions can be broadly 
summarised as:

 Set up Friends of/management groups for key greenspaces
 Prepare new management plans for the greenspaces 
 Improve access around the sites, including benches, signage and information
 Create a better balance between areas of short amenity grassland and longer 

grass/wildlife areas
 Plan and undertake tree planting in appropriate areas of greenspaces
 Consider how best to address issues of litter and dog fouling
 Engage with a range of potential event providers to determine suitable activities and 

facilitate appropriate use of greenspaces for events.
 Consider opportunities for future management to be undertaken by communities 

through land asset transfer

Sports
While there is a very active and valued number of sports clubs and informal activities 
in Brecon, the initial costs and maintenance costs of improved facilities are potentially 
prohibitive. Multi-use facilities, where a number of clubs can benefit are likely to be 
the only way such improvements could be financially possible. Sports clubs should be 
encouraged to work together to determine whether collective fund raising, 
partnership grant applications and shared facilities would result in new facilities 
becoming achievable. There is limited provision of some sports facilities (such as 
indoor tennis courts) across mid Wales and so improved facilities have the potential 
to draw in additional users and potentially host competitions and events that would 
result in wider economic benefits to Brecon. The specific actions can be broadly 
summarised as:

 Improving condition of existing pitches and athletics track
 Consider and develop facilities including pavilion, shelters and equipment storage
 Provision of new facilities including 4G pitch and indoor tennis
 Explore the potential for more multi-use facilities and better working between sports 

clubs

Page 200



39

TERM AREA/No ACTION WHO WHEN

Ongoing
7.1 Improve frequency of grass 

cutting at greenspaces.

Further consultation required 
with residents/playground users 
on a site by site basis and 
integrated into site 
management plans

BTC have 
increased cuts at 
Llanfaes, Beacons 
Park and 
Prom/bandstand.

Brecon 
20:20/BTC/PCC

BTC have this 
underway.

Within two years

Short
7.2 Improve provision of seating at 

greenspaces – repair, 
replacement and provision of 
covered seating. Undertake 
review and integrate into site 
management plans

PCC and BTC  Review can be 
done quickly. 
Funding for 
installation may 
take more time

Short
7.3 Improve the disability access 

around the promenade with 
improvements to existing paths 
– provision of passing bays and 
seating areas and integrate into 
site management plans.

PCC – Access 
groups

Ideally before end 
of March 2022 if 
funds allow

Medium
7.4 Consider options for improving 

access to water recreation at 
the Prom including:
Swimming and Canoeing
Provision of changing facilities

PCC – Sports 
Clubs/groups

Consider building 
a stakeholder 
group to take this 
forward
Within 3 years

Medium
7.5 Improve provision of 

skateboarding facilities. 
Determine best location for 
new facilities. Investigate BMX 
options.  Consultation required 
locally.  Fundraising options to 
be determined.

PCC and BTC Begin discussions 
early on 
understanding 
that planning and 
fund raising will 
take some time
Within 3 years

Medium
7.6 Increase provision for cycling at 

green spaces including access 
points, paths and bike racks. 
Should be linked to Active 
Travel Plan – engage with PCC

PCC , BTC, 
Cycling Clubs Within 3 Years

Short
7.7 Improve provision of picnic 

areas and BBQ sites as part of 
site management plans.

PCC and BTC For summer 
2022

Short
7.9 As part of site management 

planning, engage widely with 
users and dog owners to tackle 
dog fouling issues including:
Increase provision of dog waste 
dispensers at the Promenade 
and other greenspaces.
Undertake enforcement action 
on dog fouling
Carefully consider both dog 
free and dedicated dog exercise 

BTC, PCC 
(enforcement)

Immediately as 
funds allow

Page 201



40

areas.
Short 7.10 Develop a “Friends of Brecon 

Promenade Group”.  This 
group will further explore the 
type of enhancements sought by 
residents and prepare a plan for 
the Promenade area in 
conjunction with PCC.
Use this pilot to further 
encourage establishment of 
other community groups to 
advise and assist greenspace 
management.

Brecon 20:20, Plan 
Brecon, 
Promenade Users, 
PCC

Within 1 Year

Short
7.11 Review provision of play 

equipment at Uplands Playing 
Fields and play site opposite 
Bowing Green.  Begin 
discussions early on 
understanding the planning and 
fundraising will take some time

PCC and BTC
1-3 years

Medium 7.12 Undertake feasibility for 
constructing new 
footpath/cycling bridge across 
the river Usk. Should be linked 
to Active Travel Plan – engage 
with PCC initially and then 
draw in other stakeholders

PCC, NRW, 
BBNPA, BTC, 
residents, 
landowners

3-5 years

Short
7.13 Improve pedestrian and cycle 

access to the Ffrwdgrech 
Industrial Estate. Should be 
linked to Active Travel Plan – 
engage with PCC

PCC, landowners
Within 3 years

Medium
7.14 Undertake a feasibility study for 

improvements to Island Fields 
(including paths) A lead group 
must be determined who can 
find the necessary funding to 
take forward and consider asset 
transfer of this site.

PCC, PLAN 
Brecon, residents, 
neighbouring 
landowners 
(WPD, Brecon 
Corries FC, 
Allotments)

3-5 years

Short 7.15 Integrate Promenade and other 
greenspaces with new access to 
create longer routes suitable 
for “Park Runs” or similar

PCC, BTC, other 
groups and 
organisations/Brec
on Buzz

Short
7.16 Improve condition of canal 

towpath Brecon-Brynich
CRT, PLAN 
Brecon

Through Liaison 
with CRT – as 
funds allow

Short 7.17 Improve condition of footpaths 
in Priory Groves

PCC Discuss with 
PCC –as funds 
allow

Medium 7.18 Pendre Playing Fields (behind 
Cathedral) – local community 
consultation required and 
management plan developed.

PCC, local 
community, 
Brecon Cathedral

3-5 years

Page 202



41

Medium 7.19 Maendu Well site will be 
drained and developed 
alongside housing development 
at the site.

PCC, BTC
Within 3 Years

Short
7.20 Investigate areas for wildflower 

meadows and increasing 
biodiversity, including 
pollinators in our greenspaces 
as part of integrated 
management plan. Continue to 
tackle invasive non-native 
species.

Brecon 20:20, 
BTC, PCC and 
BBNPA

Within 1 Year

Short
7.21 Dog Fouling at Penlan Fields has 

been identified as an issue.  
Consider ways of tackling this

Brecon High 
School, Brecon 
20:20 /PCC

Within 1 Year

Short 7.22 Establish if dog fouling is an 
issue at other greenspaces 

Brecon 20:20
BTC have installed 
dog poo bag 
dispensers and 
more dog poo 
bins and the 
situation has 
improved.  
Maintain current 
activities and 
increase where 
necessary

Within 1 Year

Ongoing

Sports

Medium
7.23 Pavilion at Athletics Track 

requires upgrading and athletics 
track requires maintenance.

PCC, Freedom 
Leisure, Brecon 
Athletics Club

Within 3 Years

Long
7.24 The provision of a 4G 

rugby/football pitch in the town 
is required.  However the 
maintenance costs, quoted @ 
£25k per annum are prohibitive.  
Requirements are mainly 
around the training provision in 
the town, especially in the 
winter with rugby and football 
requiring additional facilities.

PCC and sports 
clubs

A lead group 
must be 
determined who 
can find the 
necessary funding 
to take forward

Short 7.25 Gather evidence for the 
requirements for training 
facilities in the town by talking 
to sport clubs.  The 
requirements can be included in 
the development plan for the 
town and planning obligations 
included in plans. Shared 
ownership models for effective 
ongoing maintenance should be 
explored.

Brecon 20:20, 
Sports clubs, 
BBNPA, Neath 
Port Talbot 
College (NPTC)

Within 1 Year

7.26 Investigate the feasibility of PCC, Brecon High 

Page 203



42

Medium improving the pitches at Brecon 
High School.  The current 
maintenance is inadequate for 
sporting activities. Consider 
possibility of adding another 
astroturf pitch for training and 
upgrading the changing rooms.

School, Sports 
clubs

Within 3 years

Medium
7.27 A business plan has been 

created for a 4 court indoor 
tennis facility, which could 
possibly be located at the site of 
the current tennis courts at 
Brecon High School/Leisure 
Centre.  Incorporating other 
clubs requiring facilities such as 
karate and other martial arts 
could prove beneficial in 
obtaining finance.  

Brecon Tennis 
Club, PCC, 
Freedom Leisure 

Within 3 years

Medium
7.28 Storage facilities for sports 

clubs and transition zones 
(including shelters and café 
facilities) would be beneficial at 
training venues.  This should be 
investigated at each facility

Sports Clubs, 
PCC, Facility 
Owners

Within 3 years

Short
7.29 Brecon Swimming Pool – 

structural survey recently 
completed.  Powys County 
Council committed to upgrade 
the changing rooms/swimming 
pool.

PCC and Freedom 
Leisure

Within 1 Year

Page 204



43

Brecon 20:20
Section 8: Energy and Climate Change 

Community Derived Action Plan

12. Section 8: Energy and Climate Change

12.1 Existing situation

The worlds’ scientific and international communities are now very clear on the 
significant and lasting impact a changing climate will have across our planet. As 
warming due to man-made carbon emissions increases, the need to eliminate 
emissions from our society becomes ever more urgent. This will require significant 
changes to the way citizens live, businesses operate and how government 
organisations implement policy and deliver services. Making these changes will 
require understanding, effort and difficult choices for all of us. However, the science 
is clear, we must rise to these challenges and accept that the costs of inaction are far 
greater.

Page 205



44

Our town and its residents face similar challenges to communities across Wales, 
Europe and other developed nations. However, as with any community there are 
some factors that pose more significant challenges but also a number of 
opportunities that can help us adapt:

12.2 Challenges

 A lack of railway and poor public transport results in high dependency on private 
cars. Access to key services is also further than most urban areas. Transport is a 
significant proportion of our carbon emissions in Wales and will be a priority for 
action.

 Our electricity grid has not been developed over the last 50 years to cope with 
significant increases in electricity demand and increased energy generation from 
renewable sources. Current grid constraints limit the renewables that could be 
deployed and can slow the adoption of Electric Vehicle charge points and the shift 
from gas to electricity for heating.

 Large numbers of older housing stock are not built to modern, energy efficient 
standards. Policy and legislative measures designed to preserve the character of 
towns and individual buildings can further limit energy saving measures and potential 
for solar panels.

 Most domestic properties and businesses in Brecon will use mains gas for heating. 
Some buildings may not be suitable for some electric heating systems and many 
households may find installing new technologies unaffordable.

Opportunities:

 The rivers Usk and Honddu are both potential sources of hydro power. Necessary 
environmental constraints may limit or increase costs of any such installations, but 
the potential is nevertheless there.

 Numerous buildings are suitable for solar panel installation, including a significant 
number of publically owned buildings.

 Green spaces in and immediately around the town may be suitable for tree and 
orchard planting, diverse food production or habitat improvements.

 A number of well established community organisations and networks can be utilised 
to coordinate and deliver community led action on climate change.

 The presence of an electricity grid sub-station in the centre of the town may offer 
greater opportunity than communities located many miles from a substation.

12.3 What you told us

Our residents survey did not contain specific questions relating to climate change or 
energy. However, a number of comments were received and the need to integrate 
specific climate change measures has since been raised through the consultation 
process. Recent scientific updates and the work of various activists has raised 
awareness of climate change significantly since the survey was produced.

 More tree planting and biodiversity measures in greenspaces.

Page 206



45

 Improvements to walking and cycling routes.
 Improved public transport.

Action on climate change could also address the following issues that were raised:

 Increased energy efficiency or energy generation can reduce the cost of service 
provision, particularly the operating costs of community centres, the leisure centre 
and schools. This is also true of many businesses and could increase operating 
margins resulting in more shops remaining open.

 Car shares, car clubs and other solutions can result in reduced car ownership, which 
may have a positive impact on some of the issues raised regarding parking. Improved 
walking and cycling infrastructure could also reduce parking pressures.

12.4 What are we proposing to do

The methods of reducing and mitigating carbon emissions are clear and well 
understood and can be summarised as:

 Reduce energy consumption
 Increase use of energy from renewable resources
 Reduce consumption of imported goods, high embedded carbon goods (e.g. plastics) 

and reduced packaging.
 Increase capacity of the land to store carbon through tree planting, soil management 

and other means.

To deliver these priorities, 

 Educate and inspire communities to act on climate change
 Encourage and support action from public bodies
 Encourage and support networked approaches for residents, businesses and service 

providers to work together to tackle climate related issues.
 Reduce energy demand through efficiency and behaviour change, in particular high 

energy uses and carbon intensive fuels
 Increase provision of renewable energy generation
 Reduce private vehicle use through improved public transport, walking and cycling
 Improve Electric Vehicle charging infrastructure
 Undertake habitat improvements including tree planting

Page 207



46

TERM AREA/No ACTION WHO WHEN
Short 8.1 Engage with existing community 

groups to raise awareness of 
climate change and inspire 
actions

The Green Valleys 
CIC (TGV)/Brecon 
Buzz

Ongoing

Short 8.2 Engage with public bodies to 
promote climate action 
opportunities and benefits

TGV Ongoing

Short 8.3 Undertake an assessment of 
renewable energy opportunities 
in Brecon

TGV, BTC, BBNPA By mid-2022

Short 8.4 Assess potential renewable 
energy opportunities for 
financial and technical feasibility

TGV, Land/building 
owners, BBNPA

By end 2022

Short 8.5 Develop local energy supply 
models to increase financial 
viability of renewables

TGV, businesses 
and domestic 
consumers

By mid-2022

Short 8.6 Develop appropriate 
organisation to develop new 
renewable installations, including 
cooperative models

TGV By end of 2022

Short 8.7 Undertake an assessment of 
potential tree planting locations 
in and around Brecon, including 
orchard trees

PLAN Brecon, PCC By mid-2022

Short 8.8 Determine potential location for 
Electric Vehicle charge points in 
Brecon

TGV, PCC By mid-2022

Short 8.9 Develop method to engage with 
local businesses to advise and 
guide energy efficiency 
improvements

TGV By mid-2022

Short 8.10 Support Housing Associations 
and residents groups in 
improving domestic energy 
efficiency

TGV, Housing 
Associations

By end of 2022

Short 8.11 Assess opportunities for 
increased cycle route provision 
and new cycle parking

PCC –as part of 
active travel plan

By end of 2022

Short 8.12 Ensure new housing 
developments are built to high 
energy efficiency standards and 
include appropriate provision 
for EV charging

BTC, BBNPA Ongoing

Page 208



Appendix 1

P
age 209



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Supplementary Planning Guidance
Brecon Town Plan

48

P
age 210



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Supplementary Planning Guidance
Brecon Town Plan

49

Appendix 2
Brecon Issues and Objectives
No. Objective LDP Strategic 

Objective
Issue

1 Strengthening 
Brecon’s 
employment offer

Employment The 2008 Brecon Economic Development and Regeneration Framework (DEandT, Hyder) highlighted that Brecon’s employment offer is currently heavily 
reliant on the public sector.  In order to ensure Brecon retains a strong position as a regional centre for employment, the DEandT study recommended 
diversification of the economy with support for indigenous and inward growth of new and emerging sectors, linked to local food production, the green 
economy and sustainable tourism.  In accordance with LDP objectives to provide for a sustainable economy the National Park Authority supports the 
development of a mix of employment opportunities, and to resist loss of commercial enterprise within the town.  The challenge for the LDP is to ensure 
provision responds sympathetically to the character of Brecon as gateway to the National Park.  The town currently has two industrial estates located on 
its western periphery, large scale expansion of these areas to accommodate employment facilities has been determined to be unsustainable and 
incompatible with National Park purposes. The LDP therefore promotes innovative approaches to employment provision, through mix-use developments, 
live-work schemes and redevelopment, well integrated into the Settlement, enhancing the buzz and mix of activity within the town

2 Improving standards 
of living for all

Housing; 
Affordable 
Housing; 
Sustainable 
Communities

Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation data shows that St John’s ward within Brecon is one of the most deprived within all of Powys, there is a strong need 
for better provision of affordable housing, both social rented, intermediate and low-cost affordable to buy.  This coupled with the higher cost of living 
within rural areas7 places an imperative on the LDP to ensure that all new development is as resource efficient as is possible, to ensure Brecon is future 
proofed against the challenges of both climate change and peak oil. The LDP should encourage a mix of housing types and tenures to be developed within 
the town, responsive to the demographic needs of the town, and in close proximity to services and facilities.  New residential development should be 
resource efficient ensuring that the cost of living is sustainable into the future.

3 Strengthening 
Brecon’s cultural 
capital

Cultural 
Heritage

The town has a significant cultural presence which contributes to its identity.  The annual jazz festival, for example is internationally recognised, creating a 
lively buzz of activity and interest within the town.  The challenge for the LDP is to encourage development within the town centre, which perpetuates 
the celebratory atmosphere throughout the year.  Development options should focus on regenerating the town centre to an area of independent 
attraction. 

4 Avoiding areas of 
flood risk within the 
town

Flooding Flooding has been identified as a strategic issue for Brecon, constraining development potential in the south east of the town.  Development options in the 
west are constrained by the proximity of the River Usk; a SSSI and SAC.  Development options should therefore be focused on the north of the Town.

5 Reducing private 
car use

Transport, 
Climate Change

The accessibility of Brecon via national trunk roads contributes largely to the Strategic importance of Brecon; this is significantly contrasted with the local 
internal routes operating within the Settlement which are close to capacity to accommodate any further volume of traffic.  This is in part a result of the 
historic nature of the Settlement, with two key residential areas being accessed over the listed Usk Bridge.  Development enabled through the LDP 
should work to address these capacity issues by encouraging the use of sustainable forms of transport.  By locating development within walking / cycling 
distance of town, and promoting the development of walking / cycle routes, the LDP can help challenge the car culture that has the potential to dominate 
the town.

6 Respecting Brecon’s 
sense of Place.

Landscape: Brecon’s landscape setting is recognised for its visual and sensory quality8 and historic significance9, affording the place a unique aesthetic and character.  
The need to develop the town to maintain its strategic role for the region has the potential to negatively impact on the town’s unique character and 

7 Hirsch et al A Minimum Income Standard for Rural Households (2010, Joseph Rowntree Foundation)
8 See CCW LANDMAP Visual and Sensory aspect area BRCKNVS633
9 Brecon is located within the Middle Usk Valley Historic Landscape as defined by the Register of Historic Landscapes in Wales (Cadw).  

P
age 211



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Supplementary Planning Guidance
Brecon Town Plan

50

Built 
Environment

appeal.  Constraints on the development of the town have resulted in development options being focused on the north of the town.  This growth will 
need to be sensitively designed to respond to the traditional townscape it will form the backdrop to.  Development will need to limit impact on the visual 
and sensory experiences of the town within the wider landscape and ensure they are not negatively impacted upon, especially in relation to Brecon’s 
location within the historic landscape.

P
age 212



Volunteer Policy

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 26th November 2021

Report Author Amanda Brake

Job title Volunteer Development Officer

Contact Details Amanda.brake@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek approval for our new Volunteer Policy.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Volunteer Policy

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) Members approve the Volunteer Policy for use by 
the Authority.

1.1 Introduction or Background

Volunteers are integral to the work of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. The new 
Volunteering Policy will provide a framework for delivering a consistent and high-quality volunteer 
programme. The final policy before members today has been subject to staff consultation and 
review.

1.2 Proposals

To note and approve the new Volunteer Policy. Once approved, the Policy will be available to 
Authority staff and volunteers.

1.3 Implications and risk

N/A

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) Members approve the Volunteer Policy for use.

Page 213

Agenda Item 11



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
1

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Volunteer Policy 

THIS DOCUMENT REQUIRES THE FOLLOWING APPROVALS

Title Date of meeting

Staff consultation Throughout August 2021

CGT 16/09/2021

NPA 26/11/2021

DOCUMENT AMMENDMENT HISTORY

Version No. Originator of change Date of change Change description

First draft Amanda Brake June 2021

Policy version 1 Amanda Brake August 2021 Finalised policy incorporating feedback 
from staff consultation

Policy version 2 Amanda Brake September 2021 Amended to include monitoring officer 
feedback. 

Date approved ___________________________________ 

Date of next review ______________________________ 

Person responsible _______________________________

Page 214



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
2

Contents

Volunteer Policy

 Introduction……………………………………………….…………………………...page 3 

 Aims and objectives of the volunteer programme ………...............…….…………….page 4

 Relevant legislation...………………………………………………….…………..….. page 5

 Volunteer management structure…………..…………………………………….….. page 5

 Volunteering procedures………………………………………………….……..……page 6

 Actions required to enable policy roll out…………………………………………….page 14

Appendices

i. Volunteer Charter ……………………………………………………….……page 15

ii. Lone working guidance for volunteers………………………...…….……….. page 17

Page 215



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
3

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Volunteer Policy

1. Introduction

The aims of this policy are to:
 Provide direction to ensure Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) meets 

its legal responsibilities and duty of care in its volunteering activities. 
 Ensure that the management of these activities is consistent across BBNPA.
 Ensure that these activities provide a high-quality experience for volunteers and support 

the purposes and duty of the Authority.
 Help volunteers understand what support will be provided to them and what they can 

expect from BBNPA.

a) What is volunteering?

Volunteering is the commitment of time and skills for the benefit of society and the community and 
can take many forms. It is undertaken freely and by choice, without concern for financial gain.

b) Who is a volunteer? 

A volunteer is an individual who contributes their time, energy, and skills, without payment, to 
support BBNPA’s objectives. This includes volunteering at one-off tasks, regular tasks, and those 
who take part in steering groups and committees.

Volunteers will generally be 18 years or older. The exception is young people with the supervision 
of a parent / guardian. 

c) Why engage volunteers? 

It helps deliver the National Park Management Plan and Corporate Plan. Involving 
volunteers means we can achieve more with the limited resources available and can undertake tasks 
and projects that would not otherwise be done. 

Volunteers give us greater reach into local communities helping to spread BBNPA 
messages and increase understanding of what we stand for, what we do and why.

Volunteer involvement can inform decision-making by drawing on a diverse range of 
experience. Volunteers bring additional skills and new perspectives to the organisation.

Volunteering benefits people’s health and wellbeing through working in protected 
landscapes, gaining skills and confidence, feeling a sense of purpose and of ‘giving something back’, 
and developing social networks with like-minded people. Volunteering supports the goals of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.

Volunteering is a way of discovering the National Park and can help develop knowledge, 
confidence, and skills. Volunteering can be a pathway into a career in conservation and supports 
employability more generally.

Page 216

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/


BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
4

2. Key aims and objectives of BBNPA’s volunteer programme

BBNPA recognises that volunteers are an integral part of the organisation. Their contribution 
supports our strategic aims and complements the role of paid staff. Volunteers are key ambassadors 
for the work of BBNPA. We strive to encourage and support volunteer involvement that benefits 
the organisation, the landscape, and the volunteers themselves.

The key aims of the BBNPA volunteer programme are to:

1. Provide a safe and high-quality volunteering experience that makes a significant 
contribution to the conservation and enhancement of the National Park, and people’s 
enjoyment and understanding of the Park’s special qualities. 

2. Offer a flexible range of opportunities that are inclusive and accessible. This enables people 
from a diverse range of backgrounds, with a variety of needs and abilities, to volunteer 
with BBNPA.

3. Understand that volunteering is not purely about completing tasks; A volunteer 
programme provides wider health, wellbeing, and community benefits. 

To achieve the above our objectives are:

 That volunteering is actively championed by our Chief Executive and Members.

 To recognise and celebrate volunteers for their contribution to BBNPA and the community 
we serve. 

 To understand that volunteering is not intended to be a substitute for paid employment. 
The role of volunteer complements but does not replace the role of paid staff.

 To ensure that volunteers gain satisfaction, enjoyment, and personal development 
opportunities. We recognise that people may have one or several motivations for 
volunteering, including philanthropy, personal wellbeing, or career development. 

 To ensure that volunteers are provided with appropriate supervision and support.

 To recognise that there are costs associated with volunteer involvement and seek to ensure 
adequate financial and staffing resources.

 To ensure that volunteers are enabled to be safe and effective, and provided training as 
necessary.  

 That BBNPA staff are supported to work with volunteers and that we work to the 
principles of the Charter for Strengthening Relations Between Paid Staff and Volunteers 
(developed by the Wales Council for Voluntary Action and the Welsh TUC).

 That volunteers are treated fairly and consistently. It should be made clear to volunteers 
that any arrangement is binding in honour only and that no enforceable obligation can be 
imposed on volunteers to attend or give a minimum time commitment; nor is the 
organisation under any duty or obligation to provide regular tasks, payment or other benefit 
for any volunteering activity undertaken. However, there is a presumption of mutual 
support and reliability which underpins the arrangement.

Page 217

https://wcva.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/wcva_tuc_charter_bilingual.pdf


BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
5

3. Who does this policy apply to?

We recognise that many forms of volunteering contribute significantly to delivery of BBNPA’s 
purposes. For example, volunteering by community groups, staff volunteering and other volunteer 
programmes. However, this policy applies only to volunteering organised by BBNPA.

4. Relevant legislation:
 Health and Safety at Work Act
 Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations

5. Volunteer Management Structure
All volunteers will have a designated staff member/volunteer for guidance, support, and supervision. 
Volunteers are supported by:

a) Volunteer Development Officer (VDO)

The Volunteer Development Officer has responsibility for:

 The development and delivery of the volunteer strategy within BBNPA
 The development, implementation and monitoring of volunteering policy and procedures
 Coordinating the core volunteer development budget
 Collaborating with BBNPA colleagues to develop appropriate and meaningful volunteering 

opportunities 
 Recruiting volunteers and providing general resources including BBNPA’s volunteer e-

handbook, ‘core’ training (including opportunities for accredited training where possible), 
and ongoing support

 Sign-posting volunteers to other opportunities and support, as appropriate
 Providing ongoing support and management of volunteers alongside Supervising Project 

Officers
 Coordinating and delivering volunteer communications
 Collaborating with BBNPA colleagues to coordinate corporate volunteer days
 Maintaining volunteer data 
 Monitoring and evaluation of the volunteer programme to inform future developments and 

evidence outcomes
 Identifying best practice across other UK National Parks and similar and using this to inform 

progress
 Developing partnerships to work collaboratively with other organisations
 Ensuring the safety and welfare of BBNPA volunteers

b) Supervising Project Officers (SPOs)

Supervising Project Officers are BBNPA staff who directly supervise volunteers in their area of 
work. Examples include (but are not limited to) Wardens, Ecologists, Heritage Officers, Uplands 
Officers, Communities Officers, Visitor Centre Officers, etc.

Supervising Project Officers have responsibility for:

 Delivering project specific induction and training (e.g. toolbox training, task specific health 
and safety brief)

Page 218



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
6

 Providing ongoing supervision and support for volunteers involved in their area of work 
(this doesn’t necessarily mean being out in the field with volunteers)

 Undertaking project specific and dynamic risk assessments
 Coordinating project specific volunteer tasks 
 Preparing what is needed for volunteers to carry out their role, e.g. tools, maps, data packs, 

recording systems, allocate sites, etc. 
 Keeping a register of volunteer attendance and volunteer hours
 Keeping a register of volunteers with them on site as well as a emergency contact details
 Informing the VDO of any matters arising regarding volunteering within BBNPA
 Ensuring the safety and welfare of BBNPA volunteers

Staff responsibilities for volunteers should be explicitly referred to in their job/role description.

The VDO will host a quarterly volunteering working group meetings to facilitate open 
communication between all BBNPA staff working with volunteers and allowing the exchange of 
ideas and best practice and troubleshoot challenges.

c) Supervision / support 

BBNPA is committed to investing in volunteers and will provide regular and on-going support and 
supervision. This will be provided by the VDO and the volunteer’s Supervising Project Officers. 

After three months, volunteers will be invited to take part in an informal review to ascertain 
whether any additional support or training is needed or if there are any further opportunities to 
support the individual in their volunteering.

Volunteers can request additional support when required.

6. Volunteer procedures:

a) Volunteer roles

Volunteers will have clearly defined roles which will be developed through collaboration between 
the VDO and project staff. The VDO and relevant Supervising Project Officer will develop a role 
profile for each opportunity which includes a clear and concise task description. A risk assessment 
will be undertaken for all volunteer roles.

Appropriate steps will be taken to ensure that paid staff are clear about the role of volunteers, and 
to foster good working relationships between paid staff and volunteers. The role of volunteers will 
be to complement paid staff - volunteers will not be used to replace staff.

b) Recruitment and Selection

Volunteers are recruited in accordance with BBNPA’s Equal Opportunities Policy. BBNPA is 
committed to promoting equality and diversity and believe that volunteering should be open to all 
regardless of gender, race, disability, religion or belief, sexual orientation, or age.

Where possible new volunteering opportunities will be promoted using publicity methods suitable 
for the roles that need to be filled, while ensuring that they are accessible to all members of the 
community. Opportunities may be promoted via the National Park Authority website, local 

Page 219



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
7

volunteer centres, local press, Volunteering in Wales website, open days and events, local networks, 
and / or social media. Potential volunteers may also apply speculatively.

The VDO will provide information to those enquiring about volunteering, explaining the nature and 
purpose of the volunteering role, key tasks, skills required, and benefits. 

Prospective volunteers must apply to become a BBNPA volunteer. Recruitment will involve 
completion of an application form and an informal interview (face to face or via the phone. During 
the application process relevant information will be gathered to enable the VDO and Supervising 
Project Officer to assess the volunteers’ suitability for the role. We consider everyone as a potential 
volunteer according to principles of equal opportunity, objectivity, and fairness. Individuals must, 
however, demonstrate a commitment to the aims of the organisation and ability to undertake the 
role.

Our volunteer process is broadly as follows (some changes may need to be made on a case-by-case 
basis):

1. Volunteer contacts VDO with expression of interest. 

2. VDO gets back to volunteer with further information e.g. roles available, commitment and 
fitness required.

3. If volunteer wants to proceed, they are asked to complete BBNPA’s volunteer application 
form. 

4. Once application form is received the VDO discusses new volunteer with Supervising 
Project Officer.

5. VDO or Supervising Project Officer meets or speaks on the phone to the volunteer to 
discuss the prospective volunteering role/s in greater detail.

6. If a volunteering role involves regulated activity such as working with children or vulnerable 
adults, volunteers will be required to undergo a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check.

7. VDO sends copy of relevant role profile(s). 

8. VDO adds volunteer to system which then covers them under BBNPA insurance. 

9. VDO sends handover email to Supervising Officer once volunteer ready to start. The 
Supervising Project Officer invites volunteer to a taster session and arranges project specific 
induction.

10. Volunteers will be offered a trial period or “taster day” (the duration of which may vary 
between areas of work), at the end of which an informal review will take place between 
the volunteer, Supervising Project Officer, and VDO to decide next steps. If the trial period 
is successful, then the volunteer is confirmed as an established volunteer. then the VDO 
sends welcome email with link to e-handbook, and issues branded clothing and parking 
permit. 

In some circumstances we may decline a volunteer’s application if there is a risk posed to that 
individual or others if there are other reasonable grounds. Where applicants are not able to be 
placed in their preferred role, there will be opportunity for the volunteer to discuss with the VDO 
alternative roles where suitable. Alternatively, applicants will be referred back to the local volunteer 
centre or the www.volunteering-wales.net website.

Page 220

http://www.volunteering-wales.net/


BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
8

c) Corporate and community volunteering groups

Volunteers who take part in one-off volunteering events, such as corporate volunteer groups, are 
not required to complete the full volunteer induction process. There is a separate, streamlined 
application form for temporary volunteers to collect necessary contact, emergency contact, and 
health information. On some occasions BBNPA organise standalone community volunteering events 
(for example, a community Balsam Bash) and it is not feasible at such events to collect individual 
data other than a sign-in form on the day.

Task and health and safety briefs will be provided on the day of volunteering, as will relevant PPE 
and equipment.

d) Volunteer data, confidentiality, and data protection

The personal information given on volunteers is governed by the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 2018.  

Information stored will include contact information, emergency contact information, skills and 
experience, and health information that may be relevant to volunteering. Volunteers' data will be 
stored in Better Impact, our volunteer management software, which is only accessible to relevant 
staff. 

We will only use the information provided:

 To process the volunteer’s application
 To keep in contact with the volunteer
 To tailor experiences and make reasonable adjustments
 For health and safety purposes
 For monitoring and reporting purposes

Information will be kept for as long as the person volunteers with BBNPA. If a volunteer leaves the 
organisation their information will be kept for up to 2 years for audit purposes, then deleted. 

Volunteers will be asked annually to log in to the Better Impact volunteer portal to check that the 
information we hold is still accurate and up to date.

Individuals can access information about them upon written request to the Volunteer Development 
Officer.

e) Volunteer Charter

Prospective volunteers must sign the BBNPA Volunteer Charter which outlines responsibilities and 
expectations of both the Authority and the volunteer. See Appendix i.

f) Induction and training

BBNPA recognises that joining a new workplace, regardless of the size of the organisation and role 
to be undertaken, can be daunting. We therefore strive to provide all volunteers with appropriate 
induction when they join BBNPA. 
A volunteer induction will include:  
 A site / project specific induction that is responsive to the various volunteer needs, 

responsibilities, and roles. 

Page 221



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
9

 Introduction to other volunteers and staff within the team.
 A copy of BBNPA’s volunteer e-handbook in English and Welsh (non-digital format also available 

upon request) which includes:
i. Information about BBNPA and the role of volunteers within the organisation
ii. Relevant policies and documents, including this Volunteer Policy
iii. Information about claiming expenses 
iv. Information about training opportunities
v. Health and safety information

Volunteers will be offered appropriate initial and ongoing training to enable them to fulfil and 
develop in their role. Volunteers are actively encouraged to undertake such training.

g) Communications

Volunteers will receive a regular (roughly fortnightly) news burst email with information on 
upcoming tasks and training, new opportunities, and any other relevant information. There is a 
closed Facebook group for BBNPA volunteers if they wish to join.

h) Branded Clothing

In addition to relevant PPE, regular volunteers will receive a BBNPA branded fleece and polo-shirt. 
This is important for volunteers in public facing roles in order to identify them as official members 
of the BBNPA team. Additionally, providing branded clothing acts as recognition and thanks for 
volunteers’ contribution, as well as helping to raise the profile of BBNPA volunteering to the public. 
Volunteers are asked in the Volunteer Charter to return gifted clothing in the event of them ceasing 
to volunteer before an agreed duration.

i) Health and Safety 

The health and wellbeing of our volunteers is our top priority. BBNPA will take all reasonably 
practicable steps to ensure volunteers’ health, safety and welfare during their volunteering in 
accordance with BBNPA’s Health and Safety Policy Statement. The Health and Safety Policy 
Statement applies to volunteers and the same health and safety measures are in place for volunteers 
as there are for paid staff. A copy of BBNPA’s Health and Safety Policy Statement is included in the 
volunteer handbook.

A risk assessment will be undertaken by each relevant team or Supervising Project Officer for the 
work to be undertaken by volunteers, paying attention to the increased level of risk that may exist 
where volunteers may not be as familiar with BBNPA’s practices and safe working procedures as 
employees. Task / project specific volunteering risk assessments must be shared with the VDO.

Supervising Project Officers are responsible for on-site health and safety briefings and must ensure 
that volunteers are equipped with necessary and suitable personal protective equipment, the use of 
which is appropriately enforced. Volunteers should be made aware of the First Aider on site.

Any health or medical conditions disclosed by volunteers will be considered in accordance with the 
work activities to be undertaken. Where necessary and available, alternative work or restricted 
duties will be offered. 

The volunteer application form includes the statement:  
‘I believe that my level of health and fitness is suitable for the activities that I have indicated, and I 
will update you if any of my circumstances change,’ and ‘I understand that, for practical tasks, I need 

Page 222



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
10

to maintain my tetanus immunisation.’ Applicants must agree to these conditions before that are 
accepted as volunteers.

In the event of returning to volunteer following serious illness or accident, a volunteer may be asked 
to re-confirm the above and will be invited to an informal ‘return to volunteering’ review. It may 
be helpful (but not mandatory) for a volunteer to provide a note from their GP indicating that it is 
safe for them to return to their volunteering, or any adjustments that may need to be made. If 
possible BBNPA will try, but cannot guarantee, to offer a more suitable role for a temporary or 
longer term. If appropriate BBNPA will carry out a risk assessment for the volunteer to read and 
sign. If necessary BBNPA will introduce a phased return with amended volunteer duties over 
a period up to 6 months, with continued monitoring, which can be extended. 

Supervising Project Officers must keep a register of volunteers with them on site as well as an 
emergency contact list. 

Volunteers are provided with an e-handbook which includes example generic risk assessments, and 
advice on what to do in an emergency. There is also guidance on Lyme Disease, Hand-arm Vibration 
Syndrome and staying safe in the sun.

Volunteers are able to sign out a ‘Volunteers Rucksack’ which is available at the Plas y Fynnon office 
if they wish to use it. The Volunteer Rucksack includes a First Aid kit, emergency shelter and bivvy 
bag, map and compass, head torch, Hi-vis jacket, whistle, and other supplies.

j) Lone Working

Lone working is prohibited or discouraged in some volunteering roles, but otherwise volunteers 
may choose to carry out their volunteering alone. Any lone working shall be in accordance with 
BBNPA’s Lone Worker Policy. A risk assessment will need to be carried out to ascertain whether 
lone working is appropriate for a particular task. A Buddy system is in place for volunteers working 
remotely, however the buddy does not need to be a BBNPA staff member or volunteer but could 
be a friend or family member. See Appendix iii: ‘Lone Working Guidelines for volunteers.’ This 
guidance is to be used in conjunction with task specific risk assessments.

k)   Insurance

Insurance is provided by BBNPA to cover all volunteers working on behalf and at the direction of 
the organisation. BBNPA does not insure a volunteer’s personal possessions against loss or damage.

BBNPA may provide a fully insured motor vehicle for use by volunteers. Where any volunteer is 
using their own vehicle whilst undertaking their volunteering role the volunteer must ensure that 
the vehicle is appropriately covered by insurance and forward a copy of the policy to the VDO. 

l) Volunteers driving on BBNPA business

Some volunteers will have reason to drive their own vehicle on BBNPA business, or to drive 
Authority owned vehicles. 

Any volunteer who is required to drive on BBNPA business (this does not include a volunteers’ 
‘commute’ to their volunteering activity) must hold a current valid driving licence and consent to a 
driving licence check (this check is processed via the DVLA and can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/view-driving-licence). If driving their own vehicle volunteers must provide proof 
of suitable insurance and MOT / new vehicle to the VDO. 

Page 223

https://www.gov.uk/view-driving-licence


BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
11

Volunteers’ driving information will be held by the VDO and BBNPA’s Corporate Services Officer 
for audit purposes.

m) Expenses 

Volunteers contribute their time and skills free of charge and the cost of volunteering should never 
discourage those on low incomes. All volunteers are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses. This includes:

 Travel to and from home OR the National Park boundary (whichever is shorter) and place 
of volunteering.  

 Travel within the BBNPA boundary during the course of performing voluntary activities 
or travel beyond the boundary if a volunteer travels to represent BBNPA.

 Volunteers using their own cars as an essential part of the volunteering role.  

Some travel between parts of the BBNPA necessarily entails travel outside of BBNPA boundaries 
(for example, travel along the southern margins of BBNPA along the A465, travel between Brecon 
and Talgarth) and this can also be reimbursed.
 
Mileage expenses will be reimbursed from the Volunteer Development Budget at 45p per mile, in 
line with HMRC guidance:http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/rates/travel.htm. Volunteers are asked to 
complete an expenses claim form which is authorised by the Volunteer Development Officer. 
Volunteers can claim an additional 5p per mile if they carry passengers as part of their volunteering 
(e.g. car sharing with another volunteer). Public transport costs can also be reimbursed on proof of 
receipt.

Protective or special clothing will be provided by BBNPA so will not need to be reimbursed.

n) Problem solving (disciplinary and grievance) 

Our aim is that volunteering is an enjoyable and rewarding experience, however we recognise that 
problems do sometimes occur. BBNPA aims to treat all volunteers fairly, objectively, and 
consistently and aim for positive and amicable solutions. However, volunteers have only the same 
legal rights in their dealings with the Authority as the general public and any volunteer wishing to 
make a complaint should be made aware that they are not covered by employment or equal 
opportunities legislation or BBNPA’s grievance and discipline policy. 

BBNPA will ensure that problems are dealt with in a fair, open, and consistent manner and will 
endeavour to address issues sensitively and with due consideration to the wellbeing of individuals 
involved.

If a volunteer makes a complaint, the VDO or their manager will take reasonable steps to 
resolve the issue, following the below process:

1. Stage 1 – face to face meeting.  
Depending on the nature and severity of the complaint this may be an informal discussion 
between the volunteer and VDO, or a formal discussion between the volunteer and VDO with 
the VDO’s line manager present. The volunteer may also be accompanied to the meeting if they 
wish. Move to stage 2 if not resolved.  

2. Stage 2 – written complaint.  
To be made by volunteer within one month of Stage 1 meeting, to VDO or their line manager. 
The volunteer will receive a response in writing within one month. 

Page 224

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/rates/travel.htm


BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
12

3. Stage 3 – final decision made.
And communicated to the volunteer.

If someone makes a complaint about a volunteer, or there are concerns about a 
volunteer’s conduct, the VDO will take reasonable steps to resolve the issue by:  

a. Stage 1 – face to face meeting.  
Discussion between the VDO and volunteer with them aim of ascertaining whether external 
factors could be affecting the volunteers conduct or if the issue could be resolved with additional 
support or training. The VDO may be accompanied by their line manager depending on the 
nature and severity of the complaint. The individual raising the complaint will be informed of 
actions if possible and not in breach of GDPR. Move to Stage 2 if not resolved.  

b. Stage 2 – Written warning given to volunteer outlining reasons for the complaint/concern. 
Volunteer should be able to respond in writing or in person to VDO or their manager. 

c. Stage 3 – additional actions decided. Depending on nature of complaint/concern, set further 
objectives to resolve the issue or ask volunteer to leave, stating reasons why.

Volunteers can appeal to a senior manager if required. 

o) Working with vulnerable people 

BBNPA’s Safeguarding policy when working with vulnerable people applies to volunteers.  

p) IT 

Volunteers whose role requires them to access BBNPA’s IT systems must abide by the current 
IT policies. The relevant policies will be made available to volunteers accessing the IT system. 

q) Volunteers moving on

Volunteers may, for a variety of reasons, want to stop volunteering with us. Volunteers are not 
subject to any set notice period if they wish to cease volunteering. However, when volunteers move 
on from their role, we encourage reasonable advance notice to enable us to make alternative 
arrangements if necessary. The volunteer handbook includes the below statement regarding 
volunteers ending their involvement with us: 

‘We completely understand that for one reason or another a time may come when you wish to 
stop volunteering with BBNPA. If this is the case, please give us as much notice as you are able to. 
This will allow us to adjust our work programmes if needed. You don't need to let us know why 
you're leaving unless you want to. However, we always value hearing about your volunteering 
experience with us and always welcome your feedback or suggestions for ways we can improve our 
volunteering programme.’

If a volunteer is found to have done anything that would be grounds for immediate dismissal for a 
member of staff (see BBNPA Dismissal Policy), for example theft, being under the influence of drink 
or drugs, that individual will be asked to cease volunteering with immediate effect.

Page 225



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
13

r) Volunteer recognition

The greatest way to show that volunteers are valued and appreciated for their contribution is to 
ensure that they are adequately resourced and supported and feel part of a high-quality and 
meaningful volunteer programme. Volunteers should feel that their views are listened to and should 
be given the opportunity to have their say in developments and decision making that affects them.

At the volunteer’s request, official recognition of contribution made can be provided. This may take 
the form of a statement, certificate, reference or signing of attendance sheets (e.g. for volunteering 
undertaken as part of an external scheme such as the Duke of Edinburgh Award, or to be used as 
work experience).  

Additionally, BBNPA will use social media and press to show our recognition of the contribution of 
volunteers when appropriate. 

BBNPA will organise an annual celebration of volunteering during National Volunteers’ Week (1st-
7th June each year), and individual volunteering groups may organise additional opportunities to 
socialise and celebrate, such as Christmas drinks. BBNPA will send volunteers an annual thank you 
letter at Christmas, and this will include the next year’s parking permit. 

As appropriate volunteers may be nominated for internal volunteer awards, County Voluntary 
Council awards such as those organised by PAVO and CAVS, and national volunteer awards such 
as those organised by WCVA and National Parks UK, to recognise outstanding contributions.

The role of volunteers must be valued as being integral within the organisation and should be 
considered in the strategic developments of BBNPA accordingly.

s) Monitoring and evaluation

The VDO will undertake quarterly evaluation, and this will feed into an annual Volunteer 
Development report. 

The VDO will monitor quantitative outputs such as volunteer numbers and hours, volunteer 
demographic, and volunteer training provided. Qualitative evaluation will also take place, and this 
will comprise of positive case studies, photographs, and stories. Surveys to collect volunteer 
feedback will be undertaken as and when appropriate.

The VDO will seek feedback from colleagues regarding operational need in their area of work and 
the success of involving volunteering to support this.

Page 226



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
14

Actions requires to enable Volunteer Policy roll out

Policy Item Action required By whom By when

5. Volunteer Management 
Structure

Check for accuracy and approve Managers CGT 
September 
2021

6.  Volunteer procedures:

a. Volunteer roles Develop role profiles for each 
volunteering opportunity

VDO and SPOs Ongoing

b. Recruitment and selection Start working to new process VDO Ongoing
c. Corporate groups In place VDO Ongoing
d. Volunteer data Better Impact implemented for ‘behind 

the scenes’ admin. Volunteer portal 
function not yet rolled out; this will 
require time and sensitive change 
management. Proposals such as the 
annual re-check of volunteer data 
depend on whether we fully adopt 
Better Impact. 

VDO, data 
protection 
officer?

Ongoing

e. Volunteer charter Developed, needs approval Managers CGT 
September 
2021

f. Induction and training In development VDO March 2022
g. Communications In development VDO March 2022
h. Branded clothing In place already although inadequate 

storage needs addressing
VDO Ongoing

i. Health and Safety Partially in place. Handbook completed, 
induction in development

VDO, SOs, 
Managers

Ongoing

j. Lone working Draft guidance developed, needs 
approval

VDO, managers, 
Thomas Carrol?

Ongoing

k. Insurance In place
l. Driving Approval needed Managers Ongoing
m. Volunteer expenses Need agreement for new rate and 

centralised volunteer budget
Finance, managers CGT 

September 
2021

n. Problem solving Approval needed Managers Ongoing
o. Working with vulnerable 

people
In place Ongoing

p. IT In place Ongoing
q. Volunteers moving on In place Ongoing
r. Volunteer recognition Ongoing VDO Ongoing
s. Monitoring and evaluation In place VDO Ongoing

Page 227



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
15

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Volunteer Charter

At the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, we value and appreciate our volunteers 
and the contribution they make to preserving and enhancing this special area. As part of 
this appreciation, we ensure that we fulfil certain responsibilities to you as a volunteer.

As part of our commitment to volunteers, we will:

 Ensure that you are a valued member of BBNPA and appreciate your contribution
 Provide insurance cover for volunteering approved and authorised by us
 Explain what is expected of you in your volunteering role
 Provide appropriate training and induction and make you aware of policies and procedures 

relevant to your volunteering role
 Provide adequate support throughout your time as a volunteer
 Provide necessary PPE and equipment
 Ensure safe volunteering conditions and provide you with relevant safety information and 

training
 Treat you fairly and with respect
 Honour the time commitment you have agreed to give us and not expect more from you 

unless offered and agreed, recognising that you will have other commitments
 Listen to and follow up on any concerns and feedback, and endeavour to resolve fairly any 

problems or difficulties you may have whilst volunteering with us
 Offer to reimburse reasonable out-of-pocket milage expenses incurred in connection with 

your volunteering for us following the guidance laid out in the volunteer handbook
 Handle your personal information in accordance with our Data Protection policy

 

In return, we ask you to:

 Perform your role in a professional and courteous manner, representing the organisation in a 
positive way that upholds our good name and reputation

 Be considerate and respectful to staff, volunteers, and members of the public. When 
representing BBNPA, you are expected to support our commitment to equality.

 Adhere to the organisation’s policies, procedures, and standards
 Work as agreed in the role profile and under the direction of supervising staff / lead 

volunteers 
 Familiarise yourself with what to do to stay safe whilst volunteering
 Attend training required for the role
 Be reliable and committed. Although not committed to any set or minimum working hours, 

some roles ask you to aim to volunteer with us for an agreed frequency or duration so that 
both parties get the most out of the experience

Appendix i

Page 228



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
16

 Give as much notice as possible if due to illness or other reason you are unable to attend to 
volunteer at a time you are expected, or if you intend to cease volunteering, so that 
alternative arrangements can be made

 Inform the Volunteer Development Officer of changes in personal circumstances relevant to 
your volunteering role (for example, a new health condition that may impact your 
volunteering, or a change in contact or emergency contact information)

 Discuss any concerns related to your volunteering with your Supervising Project Officer or 
Volunteer Development Officer

 If driving while volunteering, consent to a driving licence check and ensure that the motor 
insurer is informed (you will be asked to provide documentary evidence of this)

 Comply with our data protection principles and maintain the confidentiality of the 
organisation and its staff and members. Do not use or disclose confidential information whilst 
you are volunteering for us and at any time in the future

 Return your loaned clothing if you stop volunteering before completing 5 days
 Be confident that your general level of health and fitness is appropriate for the tasks 

described in the role profile
 Please do not bring dogs with you to group volunteering activities – not everyone is 

comfortable with dogs and they can be a distraction

Please note that the volunteer role is a gift relationship; the Volunteer 
Charter is binding in honour only and not intended to be legally binding.

Page 229



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
17

Lone working guidance for volunteers

As a general principle, BBNPA discourages volunteers from lone working. 

For certain tasks, it is expressly prohibited, and supervising staff will make you aware of activities 
that should not be carried out alone. If you choose to lone work, here is the guidance we ask you 
to follow:

Lone working guidance

1. If you intend to lone work while carrying out your volunteering role you must let your 
Supervising Project Officer know. We may need to carry out a risk assessment to ensure 
lone working is suitable for your role / task.

2. Before heading out alone ensure someone knows where you are going and what time you 
expect to return. This is known as a “buddy system”. Anyone can act as your buddy – a 
friend, family member, another volunteer, or a BBNPA staff member. Just ensure that 
someone knows where you are going and what you will be doing (see template on the next 
page), and ensure you inform your buddy if your plans change. Remember to contact your 
buddy as soon as you return to let them know you are safe.

3. Your buddy should have your mobile number so they can attempt to contact you if you do 
not return as expected.

4. Take a charged mobile phone and be aware of reception areas – large areas of the National 
Park have no / poor phone signal. It is a good idea to save your emergency contact’s details 
in your phone under the acronym ICE (in case of emergency) as this can help emergency 
services contact someone for you if necessary. 

5. Be aware of the general hazards of lone working in the environment you are entering and 
familiarise yourself with what you need to do to stay safe. Ensure you are prepared for the 
task – take the correct clothing, food and drink, etc.

6. Make sure your buddy knows how to raise the alarm if they cannot reach you. Share the 
emergency procedure at the end of this document.

 
No one should set off to volunteer alone without telling someone their 

destination and expected return time. 

Appendix ii

Page 230



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
18

Lone working template

Leave your buddy with the following information:

Details of route / task:
Date and time:

Location / planned route:

Grid reference (if known):

Details of task to be carried out:

Expected return time:

Name and contact number of 
BBNPA staff contact:

Details of lone worker:

Physical description:

Date of birth:

Details of relevant medical 
conditions and prescriptions:

Vehicle details (make, model, 
colour, registration number):

Mobile number:

Page 231



BBNPA Volunteer Policy V2, September 2021
19

BBNPA Emergency Procedure for volunteer lone workers.

How to raise the alarm if a BBNPA volunteer does not return when expected:

The “Buddy” should: 

1. Attempt to contact the lone worker – they may simply have been delayed.

2. If the lone worker cannot be contacted, alert a member of BBNPA staff: 

________________________________________________________________

3. If you are unable to reach a member of staff (for example, if you are calling out of hours) 
call the Police on 999 and ask for Mountain Rescue.

4. Provide BBNPA or the Police/Mountain Rescue with the details of the lone worker (the 
information contained in the template in this document).

5. Ensure BBNPA or the Police/Mountain Rescue have your (the buddy) contact details. 

6. Inform BBNPA or the Police/Mountain Rescue if the lone worker returns safely after you 
have raised the alarm.

7. If you have been unable to contact a BBNPA staff member (if you have called out of hours) 
please try to alert them of the situation when possible.

If you have any questions regarding the lone working guidance, please contact
 Amanda.brake@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Page 232

mailto:Amanda.brake@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Landscape & Biodiversity Champion Report to NPA, 26 November 2021

I attended the following external meetings on behalf of BBNPA, and at the invitation 
of Welsh Government on behalf of Wales National Parks (ERAMMP Stakeholder 
Working Group):

River Wye SAC Nutrient Management Board on 27 September, when we received 
a presentation from DCWW which confirmed source apportionment of excess 
Phosphate load in the Upper Wye.

ERAMMP Stakeholder Working Group on 13 October, was a helpful discussion to 
start the process refreshing the indicators to be used for reporting of Glastir agri-
environment scheme outcomes by Welsh Government's Environment and Rural 
Affairs Monitoring & Modelling Programme (ERAMMP).

The overall aim of ERAMMP is to deliver a programme of monitoring and modelling 
which collects data across the Welsh landscape and links any changes to their 
impacts on a wide range of benefits including their economic consequences. The 
programme is a key source of data for future editions of the State of Natural 
Resources Report (SoNaRR). The programme also undertakes modelling for the 
design and evaluation of programmes delivering WG's post-Brexit Natural 
Resources Policy.

Beaufort Estate Carbon Afforestation & Peatland Restoration Scheme meeting 
with CEO and Paul Sinnadurai on 15 October. CEO will bring forward a report on this 
proposal for the full Authority to consider early in 2022.

James Marsden
Landscape & Biodiversity Champion
12 November 2021

Page 233

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Report on  Powys - Public Service Board  Scrutiny Committee 1.11.2021

Background

I attended the Board following my nomination at the AGM to represent BBNPA.  The Board 
is convened to scrutinise the implementation of the Public Service Board implementation of 
the collaborative plan for the 12 Well being Steps. Each Step has a lead identified - BBNPA 
are lead for Step 2 - 'establish a simple and effective performance framework to monitor 
progress in delivering the well being steps and achieving the vision'.

I sought input in advance of the meeting from colleagues (both Members and Officers) to 
ensure I had a clear understanding of our position on the agenda. 

Summary

The Scrutiny Committee found themselves unable to fulfil its main function due to lack of 
meaningful information on both specific items and in general.  We therefore unanimously 
scored the plan at 'red'.

Detail

The Scrutiny Committee reviewed Step 3 in some detail.  

The objective of this step is to 'work with and influence others to improve our transport 
infrastructure, our existing transport links and develop a sustainable and integrated 
approach for planning and delivery'.  A decision had been made to narrow the focus of the 
work to map the EV charging points across Powys. The Committee felt this lacked ambition 
and that there was a need to re-energise the work and seek at a minimum inputs that 
bought together examples of current practice from partners including cycling and walking 
and shuttle bus and park and ride.  The Step was scored as 'amber'.

The second agenda item was to review the Q2 Highlight Report for the overall programme.  

Not all Steps were included as not all lead partners had provided an update.  There were 
common issues across all the items with an absence of performance measures, milestones 
and even where there was detail of activity it was almost exclusively that of Powys CC rather 
than from all partners.  The Committee saw a real missed opportunity to capture work that 
was happening, for example in skills, education and training.

The Committee were unclear on Steps 9 and 10 (Market research and infrastructure to 
support active enjoyment of the environment and adventure tourism and developing a 
strong brand to promote and attract inward investment)  as to their responsibilities given 
the activities had been rolled into the Mid Wales Growth Deal.  We understood that the 
Growth Deal had separate scrutiny processes and therefore asked 'should they be at this 
Committee?'.

Page 235



Whilst there were a mix of progress ratings from green to red and individual projects were 
scored amber at a programme level the absence of detail and the missing updates led the 
Committee conclude they were unable to scrutinise as they would have wished and 
therefore to score it at 'red'.

Liz Davis
Deputy Chair, Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Page 236


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	EGM Minutes - Oct2021
	ASC Minutes - Jul2021

	7 Approval of 2020/21 Audited Statement of Accounts
	Enc. 1 for Approval of 2020/21 Audited Statement of Accounts
	Enc. 2 for Approval of 2020/21 Audited Statement of Accounts
	Enc. 3 for Approval of 2020/21 Audited Statement of Accounts
	Enc. 4 for Approval of 2020/21 Audited Statement of Accounts

	8 IRPW Draft Report for 2022-23
	9 Changes to Committee Membership
	Enc. 1  Committee Membership Nov 21

	10 Brecon Town Plan Approval
	Brecon Town Plan - SPG Final Nov 2021.docx

	11 Volunteer Policy
	12 Member Reports
	Report from Deputy Chair on PSB Scrutiny Committee Nov 21


